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AWE is an Australian energy 
company focused on upstream 
oil and gas and related energy 
opportunities. The company has 
built a substantial portfolio of 
exploration, development and 
production assets in Australia, 
New Zealand, the USA and 
Indonesia that is now providing 
strong production and cash 
flow, leading to a period of 
significant growth. 

Established in 1997, the 
company employs more than 
120 people and has its head 
office in Sydney and regional 
offices in Perth, New Plymouth 
and Jakarta. Based on its strong 
technical and commercial 
foundations, AWE will 
continue to pursue exploration 
and development growth 
opportunities, primarily in 
Australasia and Asia. 

AWE has built a diverse and valuable portfolio of 
exploration, development and production assets by 
leveraging the company’s skills base to deliver  
strong commercial outcomes. Over recent years, the  
company has looked beyond Australia and New 
Zealand to secure assets in the USA and Indonesia,  
the latter representing the first stage of AWE’s  
planned expansion into the wider Asian market.

At the same time, AWE has successfully focused 
on increasing the balance of liquids in its production, 
reserves and resources portfolios to take advantage of  
a stronger global oil market. Similarly, the majority  
of the company’s gas assets are positioned near 
markets with long-term price appreciation potential, 
including oil-linked pricing mechanisms.

With a solid production and development platform 
already established, and the recent doubling of 2P 
Reserves to more than 110 MMBOE, AWE now plans 
to double its production output from 5 MMBOE to 10 
MMBOE per annum within the next three to five years.  

AWE will continue to pursue growth through 
focused exploration, development of its substantial 
reserves and resources, and further acquisitions. 
This activity is balanced by disciplined financial 
management and the company’s proven ability to 
identify opportunities where it can add or create value.

Attracting the right people is a fundamental part 
of this approach, and AWE’s talented exploration, 
geoscience, engineering and project teams are 
complemented by strong financial and commercial 
teams. Together they evaluate opportunities as quickly 
and efficiently as possible, looking for value others 
have missed, with the ultimate aim of enhancing 
shareholder returns and achieving long term 
outperformance.

Strategic
Vision
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20
5.0 MMBOE

a n n U a l  
p r O D U C t I O n 

Oil and gas production up 6% year-
on-year to 5.0 million barrels of oil 
equivalent, split between liquids,  

42%, and gas, 58%

$301m 
a n n U a l  S a l e S  

r e v e n U e 
Strong sales revenue generated  
EBITDAX of $185 million and  
Statutory NPAT of $20 million

206.6 MMBOE
2 p  r e S e r v e S  +  
2 C  r e S O U r C e S 

2P Reserves doubled in  
the six months to 30 June 2013  

to 110.4 MMBOE, weighted 
 towards liquids

2013 HiGHliGHtS
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2013
US$188m 
f r O m  S a l e  

O f  5 0 %  
I n t e r e S t  I n  a a l 

Sale of 50% interest in the  
Ande Ande Lumut oil project 

subsequent to year end confirmed 
success in Indonesia

$130m 
O p e r at I n G  C a S H 

f l O w  B e f O r e  
e X p l O r at I O n 

Strong operating cash flow  
from operations in Australia,  

New Zealand and the USA

$37m 
n e t  D e B t  

at  Y e a r  e n D 
Low gearing, cash of $41 million and 

undrawn facilities of $222 million 
reflect significant financial capacity



The 2012–13 financial year has proved to 
be a watershed in many respects. With-
out doubt the doubling of the company's 
2P Reserves to more than 110 MMBOE in 
the second half of the financial year was 
a highlight, and represents more than 20 
years of production at current rates.  

We have succeeded in moving our 
Asian strategy to the next level with 
particularly good progress made on the 
Ande Ande Lumut (AAL) oil project in 
the Northwest Natuna PSC, offshore In-
donesia. The sale of a 50% interest in this 
PSC to Santos Limited for US$188 mil-
lion, subsequent to financial year end, 
was an excellent result for the company 
and reflects the ability of our technical, 
financial and project teams to add value 
to asset acquisitions.

Our shale gas assets in the Sugarloaf 
AMI in south west Texas, USA, increased 
production substantially over the previ-
ous year. In Australia, our tight gas and 
shale gas exploration and appraisal pro-
gram in the Perth Basin also achieved 
positive results and we are now pursuing 
the opportunity to develop the Senecio 
tight gas discovery.

a year of transformation
From tHe CHairman

BruCe pHillipS
Chairman 
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StronG operational and  
FinanCial perFormanCe
Our operational and financial results 
were particularly pleasing. We achieved 
production of 5.0 MMBOE and sales 
revenue of $301 million for the year, ex-
ceeding our target range of $270 million 
to $300 million despite our primary gas 
production asset, BassGas, being on-
line for only nine months. Statutory net 
profit after tax was $20 million, a strong 
turnaround from the previous year’s loss 
of $66.5 million.  

AWE’s renewed focus on health and 
safety is delivering positive results with 
a decrease in frequency of recordable in-
cidents from 11.4 down to 4.0 per million 
hours worked in the past year. Although 
this is better than the Australian industry 
average, the Board and management be-
lieve this is still too high and have applied 
additional resources to training and en-
gagement with our workforce, including 
our contractors. 

In line with our commitment to the en-
vironment and the community, AWE con-
tinued to engage with local 
communities where we op-
erate assets. The company’s 
performance was good, with 
no reportable environmental 
incidents in the 2012–13 fi-
nancial year. Community ex-
pectations for a cleaner, more 
environmentally conscious 
industry have increased and 
AWE is committed to meet-
ing these expectations. In 
the onshore Perth Basin, 
where we are exploring 
for natural gas in tight 
sands and shale, we ac-
tively engage with local 
communities and we fully 
disclose our environmen-
tal plans, including the 
composition of hydraulic 
stimulation fluids.  The company is also 
committed to ensuring that any future 
drilling activity protects important wa-
ter aquifers and takes place more than 
2km from townships.

BuSineSS environment
In recent years, the Australian regula-
tory and taxation environment has seen 
considerable change, resulting in sig-
nificant uncertainty for the domestic 
industry. The high costs associated with 
Australian projects are well document-
ed, contributing to project delays and 
budget overruns across the industry. In 
contrast, AWE’s recent investment in  
Indonesia was made in a regulatory  
regime where PSC terms have not  
materially changed in more than two dec-
ades and labour and fabrication costs are 
comparatively low. In Australia, our clear 
hope is for a regulatory environment that 
delivers certainty with internationally  
competitive productivity. 

AWE’s core strategy of growth through 
acquisition and value creation in explo-
ration, appraisal and development pro-
jects remains critical and takes place in 
the context of our strategic shift towards 
Asia. Demand in energy markets is still 
trending upwards, particularly in AWE’s 
core areas where key Asian economies 

continue to grow 
strongly and open up 
new opportunities. 

The shale gas phe-
nomenon in the USA 
is also having a pro-
found effect through-
out the energy in-
dustry. This includes 
the recent trend of a 
significant number of 
North American com-
panies selling their 
Asian interests to con-
centrate on funding 
domestic shale pro-
jects, providing fur-
ther opportunities for 
companies like AWE.

 

Board renewal
Your Board has welcomed two new mem-
bers in Ray Betros and Karen Penrose 
over the past 18 months as we continue to 
reshape the business to deliver long term 

outperformance. We believe this will 
come as we complete the evolution from 
a conventional oil and gas company to a 
more diversified energy company, with a 
continued emphasis on the strong finan-
cial and commercial discipline that has 
been a key part of our recent successes. 

I would like to also acknowledge the 
extremely valuable contribution made by 
retiring director Andy Hogendijk. Andy 
has been an independent non-executive 
director of AWE since October 2007 and 
was Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee and a member of the People 
Committee. His experience in finance, 
treasury, accounting, taxation and cor-
porate governance has been of great 
benefit to the company. Andy will retire 
as a director of AWE with effect from the 
conclusion of the company’s 2013 Annual 
General Meeting.

lookinG aHead
Whilst our share price does not yet re-
flect it, the past year was a good one 
for your company. We look to the com-
ing year with a refreshed exploration 
portfolio and the expectation of further 
strong operational and financial perfor-
mance. Our major development projects 
(AAL, Sugarloaf and BassGas) continue 
to gather momentum as does the tight 
gas and shale gas exploration program 
in the Perth Basin, where we are work-
ing hard to unlock value. 

We are committed to generating 
shareholder value and we are focused on 
reducing the gap between the share price 
and the net asset value of the company.  
We will do this by continuing to engage 
with the investment markets, emphasis-
ing the depth and breadth of our capa-
bilities, our valuable portfolio of quality  
assets, stable long term cash flows, and 
our financial strength.

We are well on the way to transform-
ing the company, and early initiatives are 
beginning to deliver on their promise. As 
these initiatives gather momentum, your 
Board looks forward to improved share-
holder returns. 

the 2012–13 
financial  
year has  

proved to be  
a watershed  

in many  
respects
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GeoGrapHiC Footprint

Operational overview

ande ande lumut oil projeCt

indoneSia

AWE has a 100% interest in, and is the 
operator of, the Northwest Natuna 
PSC that contains the AAL oil field in 
the Northwest Natuna Sea, offshore 
Indonesia. This PSC, together with the 
nearby Anambas PSC that contains a 
small gas discovery, was acquired by 
AWE in early 2012. In August 2013,  
AWE announced the sale of a 50% 
interest in the Northwest Natuna PSC, 
including operatorship, to Santos 
Limited. Together, AWE and Santos 
will develop the AAL field utilising 33 
long reach horizontal wells drilled from 
a wellhead platform producing to an 
adjacent spread-moored FPSO vessel.

eaSt java Sea exploration

indoneSia 

AWE holds interests in various 
Indonesian exploration PSCs located 
in the East Java Sea including Bulu, 
East Muriah, Terumbu, Titan and North 
Madura. The Bulu PSC contains the 
Lengo gas field discovery. The company 
is also evaluating the potential of 
onshore unconventional gas resources.

SuGarloaF ami 

uSa

AWE has a 10% working interest  
(~7.5% net revenue interest) in the 
Marathon Oil operated Sugarloaf AMI, 
within the Sugarkane area in south west 
Texas, where the Eagle Ford shale is the 
primary focus for unconventional gas and 
oil. The AMI covers a number of leases 
totalling approximately 24,000 acres. 
The AMI is in an area where the Eagle 
Ford produces liquids-rich gas via long 
horizontal wells that are stimulated by 
multiple hydraulic fracture treatments.

CliFF Head oil projeCt 

weStern auStralia 

AWE has a 57.5% interest in the Roc Oil 
operated Cliff Head oil project in the  
Perth Basin offshore Western Australia.  
Oil from the Cliff Head field is produced 
via an unmanned offshore wellhead 
platform connected by pipeline to 
an onshore processing plant in the 
Arrowsmith locality. Crude oil is trucked 
from Arrowsmith for sale to BP at the 
Kwinana refinery. 

Yemen exploration projeCt 

AWE has a 19.25% non-operated interest 
in an exploration block in Yemen. The 
company experienced some drilling 
success in early 2011, but all activity has 
been postponed due to the political 
situation in Yemen and surrounding areas.
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tui oil projeCt

new Zealand 

AWE has a 42.5% interest in, and is  
the operator of, the Tui oil project in the 
Taranaki Basin offshore the west coast 
of the North Island of New Zealand. 
Oil is produced from the Tui, Amokura 
and Pateke oil fields, via subsea wells 
connected to the FPSO vessel, the 
‘Umuroa’. AWE plans to commence 
exploration drilling at the nearby Oi 
prospect and development drilling at 
Pateke in late 2013.

onSHore pertH BaSin 

weStern auStralia 

AWE’s onshore Perth Basin production 
assets, located approximately 360km 
north of Perth in Western Australia, 
include varying AWE and Origin Energy 
operated fields and associated facilities 
with AWE interests ranging from 33% 
to 100%. Gas produced in the basin is 
processed at either the AWE operated 
Dongara or the Origin Energy operated 
Beharra Springs gas plants. Gas is sold 
via the APA operated Parmelia Pipeline 
and condensate is trucked to the BP 
Kwinana refinery. The Perth Basin 
acreage includes multiple shale gas 
and tight gas opportunities that the 
company is currently appraising with a 
view to commercialisation. AWE is also 
evaluating the potential of geothermal 
energy in the region through a joint 
venture with Green Rock Energy.

BaSSGaS projeCt

taSmania

AWE has a 46.25% interest in the Origin 
Energy operated BassGas project that 
produces from the Yolla field located 
near the centre of Bass Strait in the 
Bass Basin in Tasmanian waters. Gas 
and associated liquid production from 
the Yolla field is conveyed from a 
wellhead platform via a pipeline to a 
gas processing facility at Lang Lang 
in Victoria. AWE also holds a 44.75% 
interest in the Origin Energy operated 
T/18P Bass Basin permit that includes 
the Trefoil gas discovery and other 
contingent and prospective resources.

CaSino GaS projeCt 

viCtoria 

AWE holds a 25% interest in the Santos 
operated Casino gas project in the Otway 
Basin in Victorian waters. Gas from the 
Casino, Henry and Netherby gas fields is 
produced via subsea wells connected by 
pipeline to the Energy Australia operated 
gas processing facility at Iona in Victoria. 
The Otway Basin permits also contain 
several exploration and appraisal targets, 
including Blackwatch.

awe limited annual report 2013 7



AWE delivered a strong financial and op-
erational performance in 2012–13 that 
has set the company up for a period of sig-
nificant growth over the coming years. We 
have met or exceeded the challenging ob-
jectives we set ourselves – we doubled 2P 
Reserves, added substantial value through 
the Ande Ande Lumut (AAL) oil project de-
velopment, achieved exploration success 
in the Perth Basin and Indonesia, recorded 
a 6% increase in production and generated 
revenue in excess of $300 million – and fur-
ther strengthened the financial, technical 
and operating base of the company.

Our strategic shift towards Asia, to 
take advantage of growing markets, lower 
industry costs and a wider range of op-
portunities, has clearly benefited the com-
pany, most recently through the sale of a 
50% interest in the AAL oil project for  
US$188 million, subsequent to year end.

maximiSinG returnS  
From produCtion aSSetS
Total oil and gas production increased by 
6% to 5.0 MMBOE largely due to a substan-
tial increase in production at Sugarloaf and 
the BassGas project coming back online in 
the second quarter of the financial year. 

Production from the Sugarloaf AMI, 
a liquids-rich Eagle Ford shale play in 
Texas, USA, was up 273% over the previ-
ous financial year. AWE has a 10% working 

interest in Sugarloaf, which translates to 
approximately 7.5% after royalties. At the 
end of August 2013 there were 101 produc-
ing wells (gross) with a further 12 in vari-
ous stages of completion. Another 35–40 
wells are anticipated to be drilled in 2014.

BassGas made a solid nine month con-
tribution from October 2012 once the Mid 
Life Enhancement (MLE) stage 1 con-
struction activities ceased. Following the 
successful workovers of the Yolla-3 and 
Yolla-4 wells in mid-2013, BassGas pro-
duced at rates in excess of  
60 TJ/day which is near  
plant capacity.

As expected, the Tui 
and Cliff Head oil projects 
performed well and output 
from the Casino gas pro-
ject was up 4%. Production 
from the onshore Perth 
Basin assets was primarily 
sourced from the Beharra 
Springs gas project.

Our portfolio of pro-
duction assets continues 
to provide excellent operating cash flow. 
AWE is able to fund the majority of on-
going development and exploration, as 
well as support growth initiatives, from 
operating cash flow which is an im-
portant point of differentiation for the  
company. AWE also has $222 million in 
undrawn debt, and proceeds from the 
AAL sale will provide an additional level 
of funding and financial flexibility.

SiGniFiCant GrowtH in reServeS 
and reSourCeS
Two of the more important achievements 
of the year were the significant increases in 
2P Reserves in the AAL oil project and Sug-
arloaf AMI, which were confirmed by inde-
pendent reviews. AWE’s total 2P Reserves 
more than doubled in the second half of 
the financial year to 110 MMBOE and com-
bined 2P Reserves and 2C Resources now 
total more than 206 MMBOE. To put this 
in perspective, 110 MMBOE represents 
more than two decades of production at 
current rates, providing an excellent plat-
form from which to grow production and 
revenue over coming years.  

In the 2013–14 year we will continue to 
evaluate the potential of a number of as-
sets. These include the G-Sand reservoir 
in the AAL oil project; the Lengo gas dis-
covery in the Bulu PSC; oil exploration 
and drilling opportunities within the Tui 
permit area; tighter well spacing and the 
Austin Chalk play at Sugarloaf; onshore 
Perth Basin tight gas and shale gas assets; 
the Trefoil gas and condensate discovery 
in the Bass Basin; and the La Bella gas 
discovery in the Otway Basin.

development and exploration 
Gain momentum
AWE is entering a significant growth 
phase and we welcome the opportunity 
to convert our undeveloped 2P Reserves 
and 2C Contingent Resources into pro-
duction and cash flow. In 2012–13 we in-
vested $177 million in development and 
exploration projects and we are budget-
ing between $210 million and $230 mil-
lion for 2013–14.  

Our three to five year objective is to 
double current production levels and we 
aim to achieve that by delivering develop-
ment projects in each of our geographical 
areas of operation:
•  Development drilling at Sugarloaf, USA, 

will continue for a number of years as 
new wells are drilled on tighter 60 or 40 
acre spacing. There is also the potential 
to develop the Austin Chalk and Pears-
all shale plays in the future.

•  In Australia, stage 2 of the BassGas MLE  
is planned for 2014 and involves the drill-
ing of two development wells. This will 
strengthen production and provide well 
redundancy that will underpin production 
from the Yolla field. The final stage of the 
MLE, the installation of gas compression 

a positive outlook
manaGinG direCtor’S review

two of the more important 
achievements of the year were 
the significant increases in 2p 

reserves in the aal oil project 
and Sugarloaf amI
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and condensate pumping modules, will oc-
cur after development drilling and, when 
completed, will provide valuable infrastruc-
ture for future development opportunities 
such as the Trefoil discovery.

•  The successful sale of a 50% interest in 
the AAL oil project in Indonesia to an 
experienced operator, Santos, is another 
positive step in the development of this 
major asset. The Final Investment Deci-
sion (FID) for the project is expected in 
the first half of 2014, with first oil in 2016.

•  In New Zealand, the Pateke-4H well is 
expected to spud in January 2014, sub-
ject to weather and rig scheduling. This 
well is targeting undeveloped resources 
within the Pateke field in the Tui area.

We will continue our disciplined ap-
proach to exploration over the coming 
12 months with a planned $50 million 
exploration and appraisal program. The 
main focus will be natural gas from tight 
sands and shale in the onshore Perth Ba-
sin, where we experienced considerable 
testing success in 2012-13. In addition, 
we will spud the Oi oil exploration well in 
the Tui area in December 2013, subject to 
weather and rig scheduling, and we plan 
to acquire 3D seismic over the La Bella 
gas discovery in the Otway Basin.

BuildinG a Great team

One of the major strengths of AWE’s 
business is our people. Our team 
has been successful in identify-
ing opportunities, creating growth 

potential and adding value to the com-
pany’s assets. We have experienced and 
motivated people with strong technical 
and commercial skills who have demon-
strated the ability to innovate and deliver 
excellent results.  

We believe in developing our people. 
We recruit graduates and experienced 
professionals and, as we grow in Asia, 
there will be exciting opportunities to 
develop geoscience, engineering and fi-
nance careers. Our workplace is diversi-
fied and we continue to recruit talented 
women to take on key positions in a tra-
ditionally male dominated industry.

BruCe Clement
Managing Director 
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I am pleased to report that the safety 
initiatives we introduced last year, 
including the adoption of group-wide 
standards and the recruitment of a 
senior management resource, have 
produced successful outcomes. A sig-
nificant effort from the top down, 
particularly with our contractor work 
force, has paid off and the TRIFR is 
now 4.0 incidents per million hours 
worked and below the Australian in-
dustry average. Everyone from the 
Board down is committed to safety 
and we will strive to reduce the TRI-
FR even further. We want people to go 
home safely each night. We take the 
view that every accident is a prevent-
able one. We are not there yet, but our 
safety record continues to improve.

manaGinG direCtor’S review

total recordable incident Frequency rate (triFr)

  Total Recordable Incident Frequency Rate (TRIFR)   
  Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)
 Target TRIFR

2008

12

10

8

6

4

2

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

 1 Offloading the Kan Tan IV Drill Rig, New Zealand (courtesy OMV)
 2 Sugarloaf AMI, USA (courtesy Marathon Oil)
 3 Cliff Head, offshore Western Australia

1

3
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a poSitive outlook
The outlook for the coming year is in-
creasingly positive. Our base operating 
business is strong and will continue to de-
liver production, revenue 
and cash flow. Progress-
ing AAL to FID in the first 
half of 2014 will be a focus 
for us, in conjunction with 
the smooth transfer of op-
eratorship to Santos. We 
will undertake a significant 
drilling program across our 
acreage in the Perth Ba-
sin. The BassGas MLE will 
move through FID to de-
velopment drilling in cal-
endar year 2014. Gas pro-
jects at Lengo and Senecio 
will move to early stages of 
planned development.   

Our strategy of broad-
ening the company's ho-
rizons into Asia is having 
multiple positive impacts. The obvious 
ones will be financial: a strong result from 
the AAL sell down and a doubling of 

AWE’s reserves point to future prosperity. 
Additionally we are adding to our operat-
ing and commercial skills by working in 
new regulatory environments, strength-

ening our geoscience capa-
bilities in conventional and 
unconventional energy, 
meeting and solving dif-
ficult operating challenges 
and, most importantly, we 
are leveraging those skills 
into other projects within 
the business.

Our future is exciting. 
We have the cash flow and 
the balance sheet to fund 
our planned activities. 
We have doubled 2P Re-
serves and we have a qual-
ity  portfolio of assets and 
opportunities. We have 
experienced and capable 
people who know how to 
innovate and add value 

and, together, we have re-established 
AWE as a strong company that is deliver-
ing results.  

FY 2012-13 Sales revenue  
by Product

 48% Oil    
 21% Condensate 
 5% LPG
 26% Gas

FY 2012-13 Sales revenue  
by Geography

 54% Australia    
 28% New Zealand 
 18% USA

FY 2012-13 annual production  
by Geography

 73% Australia    
 14% New Zealand 
 13% USA

Our base 
operating  
business  
is strong  
and will  

continue to  
deliver 

production, 
revenue and  

cash f low

2
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roduction was up 6% to 5.0 
MMBOE, resulting in sales rev-
enue of $301 million. This was 
achieved on an average real-

ised oil price of $107 per barrel. Operat-
ing costs were steady at $23 per BOE and 
the company generated strong EBITDAX 
of $185 million. Statutory net profit af-
ter tax was $20 million and there were 
no significant one-off items. Underlying 
profit after tax was $17.1 million, up 16% 
on the previous year.

AWE’s net operating cash flow was  
$118 million ($130 million before explora-
tion costs). The underlying cash flows in 
the business are strong and reliable and 
are forecast to grow with production. This 
provides assurance that investment in ex-
isting assets, as well as in the company’s 
growth program, can be funded while 
maintaining a low-geared balance sheet.  

Capital expenditure was $143 million in 
2012–13, largely allocated to the BassGas 
and Sugarloaf field developments. Ex-
penditure on the AAL oil project develop-
ment during the year was approximately 
$15 million. Significant capital expendi-
ture for this project is not expected until 
2014–15.

Exploration expenditure for the year 
totalled $34 million, down from initial 
forecasts following the deferral of wells 
in the Perth Basin and in Indonesia. 
The exploration budget for the 2013–14 
year remains at $50 million and will be  

focused on the Perth Basin, Indonesia 
and New Zealand.

FundinG GrowtH opportunitieS
With strong cash flow able to fund the ma-
jority of AWE’s projected development 
and exploration needs, the company is in 
the enviable position of having low gearing 
and undrawn debt facilities of $222 mil-
lion at financial year end. This position will  
further improve when the sale of a 50%  
interest in the AAL oil project completes 
during the 2013–14 financial year. AWE’s 
debt facility matures in May 2015 and it is  
anticipated that the company will complete  
a refinancing well in advance of this date.

FoCuSed on riSk manaGement
AWE has a disciplined approach to finan-
cial performance assessment and risk 
management across the organisation, 
with regular monitoring and review of 
strategic, operational and financial risks.

Each year, a rigorous process is under-
taken for budgeting the year ahead and 
assessing long term financial forecasts 
and performance. Key asset and business 
budget targets are established that are 
monitored, measured and reviewed each 
quarter by the executive team.  This en-
courages a culture of accountability and 
responsibility to achieve results through-
out the organisation.

FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14

Oil
LPG

Sales Revenue for period ending 30 June
A$ Million

Condensate
Gas

Forecast

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

305 298 301
290-320

FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14

Oil
LPG

Production for period ending 30 June
MMBOE

Condensate
Gas

Forecast

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

6.1

4.7
5.0

5-5.5

focused  
and disciplined

awe’s disciplined approach to financial 
management has delivered a solid financial 
result and a sound balance sheet that will 
underpin investment growth initiatives over the 
medium term. In 2012–13, the company met 
or exceeded its key financial targets and is well 
positioned to take advantage of the substantial 
growth opportunities awe has generated.

FinanCial manaGement

 Financial and Commercial analysis
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As AWE grows and evolves as an interna-
tionally focused organisation, consider-
able time has been invested in the devel-
opment of risk management strategies 
by the Board and executive team. This 
includes reviewing the adequacy and ef-
fectiveness of internal controls across 
the organisation to ensure that appropri-
ate controls are in place. The company 
has an established treasury risk manage-
ment policy and the Group's exposures 
to financial risks are measured regularly.  
Exposure to financial risks, such as oil 
prices, interest rates, foreign exchange 

rates and credit risk, and the manage-
ment of those risks are reviewed by the 
Audit and Governance Committee. 

GrowtH ForeCaSt
AWE’s commitment to fiscal discipline, 
portfolio management and performance 
management against financial targets 
has delivered good results in 2012–13, 
and another strong performance is fore-
cast for the year ahead. The company 
estimates improved production of be-
tween 5.0 MMBOE and 5.5 MMBOE and 

sales revenue between $290 million and  
$320 million. Capital expenditure is ex-
pected to be between $160 million and 
$180 million and exploration is budgeted 
at $50 million. 

With strong cash flow, significant 
borrowing capacity and the proceeds 
from the sale of 50% of AAL anticipated 
in 2013–14, AWE has built an excellent 
foundation for the planned period of 
growth ahead. The company is well posi-
tioned to double production within three 
to five years and to deliver substantial re-
turns to shareholders. 
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AWE has assembled an impressive pipe-
line of growth projects in Australia, New 
Zealand, the USA and Indonesia. As well 
as a planned increase in total produc-
tion, these projects will help rebalance 
the company’s production portfolio 
from 42% liquids in 2013 to an estimated  
64% liquids in 2017. This will allow AWE 
to take advantage of a stronger global oil 
market while remaining leveraged to gas 
markets with the potential for pricing 
growth.

AWE’s robust balance sheet, strong cash 
flow and significant debt capacity provide 
the company with an excellent financial 
base from which to progress the current 
portfolio of development and exploration 
projects, as well as new opportunities.

major developmentS  
Gain momentum
The AAL oil project in Indonesia has been 
a major success for AWE on a number of 
levels and is a great example of how the 
company has applied its technical and 
commercial talents to create value. 

Following extensive geoscience and 
engineering work, AWE increased the 
estimated recoverable oil from AAL’s K-
Sand reservoir from 76 million barrels to 
101 million barrels, and reclassified it from 
resources to reserves. This added almost 
50 million barrels to the company’s 2P Re-
serves. AWE’s teams in Sydney and Jakar-
ta worked hard over an 18 month period to 
optimise the Plan of Development (POD) 
and reduce the number of wells from 43 
to 33 longer reach horizontal wells. The 
project team in Jakarta has also made 
considerable progress on engineering and 
government approvals for the project.

Subsequent to financial year end, AWE 
completed a successful sale process and 
announced that Santos would purchase 
a 50% interest in the Northwest Natuna 
PSC, including AAL, for US$188 million 
and will also assume operatorship, subject 
to sale completion and Indonesian regula-
tory approval. The sale will generate an es-
timated unaudited $60 million profit after 
tax. FID for the project is planned for the 
first half of calendar year 2014, with first 
oil anticipated in 2016.

In the USA, a total of 55 wells (gross) 
were drilled, completed and brought into 
production at Sugarloaf during the finan-
cial year. Two of these wells are targeting 
the Austin Chalk formation, which lies 
above the Eagle Ford shale, and other 
wells have been drilled on tighter 60 and 
40 acre spacing. The operator, Marathon 

Investing for growth
development and exploration

Oil, is expected to release updated test 
results for these activities before the end 
of the 2013 calendar year and the results 
will be important for determining further 
potential to upgrade 2P Reserves and 2C 
Resources.

In south east Australia, the BassGas 
joint venture completed a review of the 
sequencing and timing for the next two 
stages of the MLE project, comprising 
the drilling and tie-in of two development 
wells and the installation of gas compres-
sion and condensate pumping modules 
on the Yolla platform. The joint venture 
agreed to prioritise the development drill-
ing phase of work and reached FID ap-
proval in September 2013, subject to con-
tracting a suitable rig. Drilling is planned 
for the 2014 calendar year with the objec-
tive of providing additional production 
capacity and well redundancy, underpin-
ning production and cash flow into the 
next decade.

In New Zealand, preparations for drill-
ing the Pateke-4H development well, lo-
cated within the Tui area oil project, are 
in the final stages. Pateke-4H will target 
a mapped northern extension of the cur-
rently producing Pateke field and AWE 
estimates that it could increase field re-
covery by 2.3 million barrels (gross). The 
well is expected to spud in January 2014, 
subject to weather and rig scheduling.

1

2
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Testing of a number of shale and tight gas 
horizons at Arrowsmith-2 is likely to con-
tinue for the remainder of the 2013 calen-
dar year. The operator, Norwest Energy, 
has provided an independent evaluation of 
the unconventional Prospective Resource 
potential for the permit area which con-
cluded that the Best Estimate (P50) gross 
unconventional Prospective Resources 
(unrisked) was 450 MMBOE, including 
2.6 TCF of gas. Once testing and evaluation 
are complete, AWE will assess the resource 
potential of its acreage and consider future 
plans, including the pos-
sibility of bringing in new 
partners.

In 2014, AWE antici-
pates drilling two to four 
wells onshore in the Perth 
Basin targeting natural gas 
formations in tight sands 
and shale rocks. A vertical 
appraisal well is planned at 
Senecio, with a coring and 
logging program to confirm 
reservoir quality and struc-
ture. The Drover-1 explora-
tion well is being planned 
for EP455 and will target a 
number of shale formations 
as well as tight gas sands. 
The timing of both wells will 
be dependent on gaining 
regulatory and environmental approvals.

AWE has also created a joint venture 
with Green Rock Energy to drill up to two 
geothermal test wells in the north Perth 
Basin, subject to Green Rock securing 
government funding and approvals. These 
wells will test the geothermal potential of 
the area and will also provide AWE with 
valuable data on natural gas prospects. If 
successful, the company will have a ground 
floor investment opportunity in a geother-
mal project.

In the Otway Basin, AWE will be gath-
ering 3D seismic over the La Bella gas dis-

covery following farming-in to the permit 
in September 2013. The company and its 
joint venture partners in the VIC/P44 per-
mit have engaged with regulators to deter-
mine how the Blackwatch gas field, which 
is covered by State and Federal exploration 
permits, can be developed to ensure that 
recovery of resources from both permits 
can be optimised.

Offshore New Zealand, the Oi explora-
tion well is expected to spud in December 
2013, subject to weather and rig schedul-
ing. The Oi prospect is located 12km to the 

north east of the Tui field 
and represents a Prospec-
tive Resource of 11 million 
barrels of recoverable oil 
(gross, unrisked P50 esti-
mate). AWE has elected to 
participate in the Oi explo-
ration well at reduced eq-
uity of 25% with the option 
to increase participation to 
42.5% in any development 
of Oi by paying a promote 
on drilling costs.

In Indonesia, the suc-
cessful drilling and testing 
of the Lengo-2 appraisal 
well in the Bulu PSC, off-
shore East Java, achieved 
gas flow rates of 4.5 million 
scf/d for the first Drill Stem 

Test and 21.2 million scf/d for the second.
Work is currently under way to evaluate 
options for the potential commercial de-
velopment of the field.

AWE also completed a joint study sub-
mission to secure onshore Indonesian 
shale gas opportunities in Central Suma-
tra, which was subsequently assessed and 
approved by the regulator. The award of 
any PSC will be subject to the regulator fi-
nalising rules and regulations concerning 
production sharing and acreage manage-
ment for shale gas resource projects. 

exploration SuCCeSS in  
auStralia and indoneSia
AWE’s exploration and appraisal activity in 
2012–13 was largely focused on testing nat-
ural gas discoveries in Australia and Indo-
nesia and preparing for an oil exploration 
well offshore New Zealand. The company is 
pursuing a number of opportunities within 
its existing exploration portfolio that are 
close to existing infrastructure where AWE 
can add value at low cost.

The onshore Perth Basin in Western 
Australia is a good example. Significant in-
frastructure has been developed there over 
time to exploit conventional oil and gas 
resources. AWE holds the largest acreage 
position in the basin and is actively testing 
and evaluating natural gas prospects from 
tight sands and shale which, if commercial, 
could be tied-in to existing processing fa-
cilities and pipelines at relatively low cost.

Three wells were hydraulically fracture 
stimulated in July 2012: Senecio-2 (L1/
L2), Arrowsmith-2 (EP413) and Woodada 
Deep-1 (L4/L5). In total, eight zones were 
successfully fracture stimulated and hy-
drocarbons were observed from all zones 
during well flow back and clean up. 

AWE has recently finalised a develop-
ment feasibility study for the Senecio tight 
gas discovery and is currently reviewing 
possible development options. A staged 
development approach is likely which will 
enable AWE to better assess the total reser-
voir potential and optimise the field-wide 
development plan. 

Offshore 
new Zealand, 

the Oi 
exploration 

well is 
expected 
to spud in 
December 

2013

3

4

 1 Exploration and appraisal
 2 BassGas Yolla platform, Bass Strait (courtesy Origin Energy)
 3 Arrowsmith-2, onshore Perth Basin, Western Australia
 4 Drilling supplies at New Plymouth, New Zealand
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ande ande lumut oil projeCt

At the start of 2011, AWE’s 
presence in Asia comprised a 

handful of Indonesian exploration 
permits. But as the year drew to a 

close, an opportunity emerged that 
would take the company’s Asian 
growth strategy to the next level. 

UnlOCkInG 

HIDDen 
valUe
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T
he jewel in the crown was the Ande 
Ande Lumut (AAL) oil discovery in 
the Northwest Natuna PSC, then a 
76 million barrel heavy oil reser-
voir, but the winning bidder would 
need to have some serious techni-
cal, development and operational 
capabilities to deliver the project 
and a strong enough balance sheet 
to make an all cash bid. 

A heavy oil discovery, the AAL oil project came with 
an approved Plan of Development (POD) utilising 
a wellhead platform with more than 40 production 
wells and a leased Floating Production, Storage and 
Offloading (FPSO) vessel. Producing and handling 
the heavy oil and potential oil/water emulsions, the 
need for sand screening in the wells and the antici-
pated high levels of water production had slowed 
earlier plans to develop the field and deterred many 
potential buyers.

But where others saw only challenges, AWE’s 
experts could clearly see technical solutions and a 
significant value creation opportunity. To win the 
bidding process and acquire the asset, AWE had to 
think and act fast.

AWE’s Managing Director, Bruce Clement, said: 
“We came late to the sale process but we have very 
strong and talented engineering and geoscience 
people who were able to apply good science and 
sound engineering to the opportunity. The techni-
cal and commercial teams came up with a value for 
AAL well in excess of what we would eventually pay 
for the asset.

“We knew that if we bought it, we could do a lot more 
with AAL. We knew we could add significant value,” 
he said.

a verY CompellinG StorY
Facing a short, two week deadline to evaluate the 
data and make a decision to bid, AWE needed to ad-
dress key reservoir and facilities’ issues and move 
quickly to make an offer. The company’s technical 
and commercial teams swung into action to assess 
the data and value the asset. 

Chief Financial Officer, Ayten Saridas, explained 
that despite the short time frame, the company had 
one big advantage over other potential bidders.

“Fortuitously for AWE, we already had an explo-
ration team in Indonesia and a motivated technical 
team in Sydney. Our engineers and geoscientists 

when members of awe’s geoscience and engineering 
teams walked into the Genting Oil & Gas data room, 
just before Christmas 2011, the sale process for the 
northwest natuna and anambas production Sharing 
Contracts (pSCs) had already been under way for 
several weeks. 

 1 Sub-surface appraisal
 2 Preparing for drilling at Tui, New Zealand
 3 Depth map of AAL reservoir
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spent an intensive period evaluating the 
data and completing thorough due dili-
gence on the asset. They had to be efficient 
and get to the core issues quickly – and 
they came back with a very positive view 
on AAL.

“We then pulled together a working 
group that included the financial and 
commercial teams plus the engineers and 
geoscientists, and created a board recom-
mendation within about a week. It was a 
very compelling story both technically 
and financially,” she said.

“We knew the history of this asset and 
that it had been on and off the market a 
number of times in the past. Many compa-
nies had gone into the data room and seen 
this asset before. It was seen as a chal-
lenging project and most had shied away 
from it. They probably saw only problems 
whereas we could also see the solutions, 
largely based on the experience gained 
from other projects in our portfolio such 
as Tui and Cliff Head,” Saridas said.

She added, “It was right in the ‘sweet 
spot’ for AWE in terms of the technical 
skills we bring to the table and it was just 
the sort of challenge that our team was 
able to resolve. 

“We had very little time to pull the fi-
nal offer together and to review it with our 
Board.  There were quite a few late nights 
and weekends worked by the whole team 
leading up to Christmas 2011.”

a StronG neGotiatinG Hand 
By the end of December 2011, AWE had 
submitted an offer to buy both the North-
west Natuna and Anambas PSCs, knowing 
it had an excellent understanding of the 
potential value of the PSCs when it came 
to the negotiation phase.

“AWE was in a very strong position to 
buy this asset,” said Saridas.

“We had a seller who was keen to dis-
pose of the asset quickly for strategic 

reasons and a compelling part of our of-
fer was that it was not conditional on 
financing. There were two PSCs and we 
committed to completing the deal in a 
very short period.

“We had substantial cash on the bal-
ance sheet, which gave us the firepower 
to pursue growth through acquisition. 
The company was in a very sound posi-
tion financially and we had no problems 
about our ability to finance this acquisi-
tion as well as the future development. 
As a result, we were able to negotiate  
the sale and purchase agreement within 
two weeks.”

She continued, “In the end we paid a 
price for the asset that represented a sub-
stantial discount to the value we believed 
we could extract from it.”

CloSinG tHe deal
The sale of 100% of the Northwest Natuna 
and Anambas PSCs to AWE, along with 
operatorship, was announced in Janu-
ary 2012 and completed in February the 
same year. AWE acquired the assets from 
Genting for US$39 million and assumed 
US$100 million in debt which was imme-
diately paid down.

“We knew there would be challenges 
inherent in developing this asset, but they 
were all solvable. As soon as we acquired 
the asset our team set about addressing 
those issues,” Clement said. 

“From the outset, our strategy was to 
sell down up to 50% of the Northwest Na-
tuna PSC, including AAL. Projects of this 
size are rarely undertaken with 100% eq-
uity. We wanted a partner in the project 
to provide technical and operational sup-
port and input, and to share funding for 
the future development costs. Realisti-
cally, a 50% exposure was about right for 
a company of our size.”

GeoSCienCe 
The science of interpreting 
petroleum industry seismic 
survey data is one of the bigger 
mysteries in the art of making 
new oil and gas discoveries.

But AWE has particular 
expertise in this area and has 
repeatedly shown that top 
quality geoscience work can 
generate massive value and 
reduce development risk.

Manager of Exploration 
Assets and Geoscience, Andy 
Furniss, said that lessons 
learned from a detailed 
reinterpretation of the seismic 
data over AWE’s Tui oil field 
in New Zealand helped the 
geoscience team understand 
how new value could be created 
at the AAL asset.

“The AAL structure has 
many similarities to Tui. The 
seismic imaging of AAL and 
Tui are virtually identical in 
many respects.

“We realised we needed  
to reprocess the seismic data 
and depth imaging over AAL 
using modern computer 
technology. New technology 
allowed us to better image the 
reservoir and be much more 
confident about the volume  
of oil in place,” he said.

Having mapped the AAL  
field more closely and in 
greater detail, the geoscience 
team participated in a 
major rework of the well 
development plan. 

“The end result, confirmed 
by independent evaluation, was 
a 33% increase in recoverable 
oil to 101 million barrels.

“Our work has also 
identified a new prospect to the 
south west of AAL which could 
be quite valuable, and there 
are still a lot of geoscience 
projects under way to identify 
the ‘sweet spots’ in the AAL 
reservoir,” added Furniss.

"We knew that if we bought it, we 
could do a lot more with AAL. We knew 

we could add significant value. "

 1 Sub-surface appraisal
 2 Preparing for drilling at Tui, New Zealand
 3 Depth map of AAL reservoir
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addinG value  
tHrouGH innovation
Clement said, “We had identified an early 
stage development project with signifi-
cant upside potential and we immedi-
ately set about improving it, initially fo-
cusing on a detailed understanding and 
evaluation of the reservoir. Over a 12 
month period we reprocessed and rein-
terpreted 3D seismic, re-evaluated well 
logs, cores and test results and built a 
new reservoir simulation model.  

“Our engineering and project team 
used this work as the basis for improv-
ing the reservoir development plan by 
optimising well placement and designing 
fewer wells with longer horizontal com-
pletions to improve oil recovery from 
the field. Well completion and artificial 
lift designs were enhanced, using proven 
sand screening and electric submersible 
pump technology.

“In addition, clever, innovative solu-
tions have been delivered for handling 
oil/water emulsions and produced wa-
ter on the FPSO, again applying proven 
industry technology and our experience 
from involvement in other similar pro-
jects,” Clement said.

The end result of 18 months of work was 
an improved reservoir and facilities devel-
opment plan, yielding increased oil recov-
ery and greater production capacity, and 
the removal of key project risks that had 
caused others to avoid the opportunity.

reServeS GrowtH
AWE’s optimised development plan  
had increased oil recovery from AAL’s 
K-Sand reservoir in the original POD by 
33%, from 76 million barrels to 101 mil-
lion barrels.  In addition, following the 
independent review and certification by 
Perth based RPS Energy Services, AWE 
reclassified AAL contingent resources 
to reserves, with AWE booking 50 mil-
lion barrels as 2P Reserves, reflecting its 
100% equity entitlement under the PSC. 

AWE also estimated a further 35 mil-
lion barrels of gross recoverable oil in the 
underlying G-Sand reservoir and added 
15 million barrels to its 2C Contingent 
Resources. A formal plan of development 
will need to be prepared and submitted for 
normal regulatory approvals before these 
additional Contingent Resources can be 
upgraded and reclassified as 2P Reserves.

By mid 2013, AWE had added signifi-
cant value to the asset, but the next chal-
lenge was to find a partner and crystallise 
the value through a strategic sell down.

enGineerinG
A number of engineering 
challenges confronted AWE 
as it considered acquiring the 
AAL oil project in late 2011.

Three major areas for 
improving the proposed 
AAL field development were 
identified, leveraging off 
AWE’s experience in projects 
such as the Tui oil field in New 
Zealand and the Cliff Head 
oil project offshore Western 
Australia.

General Manager 
Engineering, Ian Palmer, said: 
“We were able to pinpoint 
three key areas where we 
could develop the field in 
a more cost effective and 
productive way.

“The first was by drilling 
fewer, but longer reaching 
horizontal wells in the overall 
development plan to give 
us much more reservoir 
contact.”

That meant more oil 
bearing rock could be reached 
with each well, increasing 
overall production per well 
and potentially increasing the 
initial production rate and 
total recovery.

“The second area was 
how to deal with oil/water 
emulsions, which tend to be 
formed when producing heavy 
oil of the type in the AAL 
reservoir,” said Palmer.

“We quickly identified 
electrostatic separation as a 
proven industry technology 
that we could apply. 
Subsequently, extensive 
tests by an independent 
laboratory in Europe proved 
this technology would be very 
effective in producing the oil.

“The third area was 
to simplify the wellhead 
platform design. Learning 
from our experience with the 
Cliff Head project, we were 
able to simplify the platform 
by using more modern 
designs and equipment and 
substantially reduced the 
cost,” he said.

a compelling part of our offer  
was that it was not  

conditional on financing

ande ande lumut oil projeCt continued
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welCominG a new partner 
In August 2013, almost 20 months after 
acquiring 100% of the AAL oil project 
and after a two month sale process, AWE 
announced it would sell a 50% interest 
in the Northwest Natuna PSC, includ-
ing the AAL oil project, to a subsidiary of 
Santos Limited for total consideration of 
US$188 million. Conditional to the sale 
was the transfer of operatorship to San-
tos, subject to financial completion and 
Indonesian regulatory approval.

The sale of a half share in the AAL oil pro-
ject has substantially strengthened AWE’s 
financial position and reduced its funding 
commitments for the project.  AWE will 
receive US$100 million in cash payable on 
completion and a US$88 million cost re-
coverable capital expenditure carry for the 
development phase of the project. 

Both AWE and Santos are working to-
gether to transition operatorship of the 
project and reach a Final Investment De-
cision (FID) for the development of AAL 
in the first half of 2014, with first oil esti-
mated to be produced in 2016.

Clement believes that there is a lot more 
value still to be generated from the AAL 
project by developing the field and produc-
ing the oil.

“The sale process delivered a great 
strategic and financial outcome for AWE 
that reflects more than 18 months of hard 
work, leading edge geoscience and smart, 
innovative engineering. 

“Our project team in Jakarta has done 
an excellent job with the asset. There is 
still further potential upside in the AAL K-
Sand and G-Sand reservoirs and a number 
of very interesting prospects elsewhere in 
the PSC, so this has been a real win-win for 
both AWE and Santos,” said Clement.

 
a StrateGiC SuCCeSS
Clement said that the successful sale high-
lights AWE’s value creation strategy and its 
ability to leverage its core strengths to deliver 
positive commercial outcomes. 

“AWE has established a strong reputation 
for acquiring assets with significant upside 
potential, initially with Tui and Cliff Head, and 
more recently Sugarloaf and AAL,” he said.

“Like Tui, the AAL oil project promises a 
dramatic production and revenue impact 
that will allow AWE to double its total 
production output within three to five 
years. It’s all part of our disciplined and 
methodical approach towards looking at 
opportunities and growing the business,” 
said Clement.

“Strategically, we wanted to grow the 
business outside our existing core areas 
of Australia and New Zealand. The AAL 
asset was a perfect fit in our portfolio, as 
we had a number of mature production 
assets and some exploration assets but 
very little in the early stages of develop-
ment.  We also had good in-country op-
erating experience in Indonesia. While 
adding 50 million barrels of 2P Reserves, 
the acquisition also improved our bal-
ance of oil and gas reserves and resourc-
es,” he added.

Using the success of the AAL transac-
tion as a blueprint, AWE’s technical and 
commercial teams are now looking for 
new growth opportunities where they 
can again leverage the company’s core 
strengths to create significant value. 

 1 Reservoir Engineering
 2 FPSO vessel ‘Umuroa’, offshore New Zealand

2
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s an energy compa-
ny, AWE’s business 
is built around 
identifying, com-
mercialising and 
producing oil and 
gas and related 

energy resources to meet this demand. 
The modern world also demands that 
energy be produced in an environmen-
tally friendly and socially acceptable way 
– something that AWE has focused on 
since its inception in 1997.

AWE has always recognised that being 
a responsible corporate citizen is funda-
mental to the long-term success of the 
company. From the Board down, a strong 
emphasis is placed on developing and op-
erating a sustainable business that goes 
beyond regulatory compliance. Sustain-
ability is about the long term: keeping 
people healthy and safe, respecting the 
environment and meeting the needs and 
expectations of the broader community.

As a company, AWE has chosen to 
interact openly, transparently and in 
good faith with its partners, employees, 
stakeholders and the local communities 
where it operates. The values that steer 
the company are written into the policies 
of the business and reflected in its opera-
tional objectives and accountabilities.

AWE’s upstream oil and gas activities 
grew during the 2012–13 financial year, 
with increased activity in Western Aus-
tralia, New Zealand and Indonesia. This 
has presented the company with opportu-
nities to grow and strengthen the business 

the world today is increasingly energy 
dependent. without sufficient or affordable 
energy to meet the needs of modern society, 
the things people take for granted in the 
developed world such as health, jobs and 
lifestyle would be seriously impacted.

SuStainaBilitY

part of the community

through the recruitment and training of 
employees, adding new skills and experi-
ence to the company. AWE will continue 
to be a strong supporter of professional 
development and ongoing education, and 
remains committed to developing career 
opportunities for all employees.

The health and safety of AWE’s work-
force, including contractors, is of funda-
mental importance to the ongoing suc-
cess and sustainability of the business. 
The company has focused considerable 
resources on improving its health and 
safety performance and the number of 
recordable incidents in the past year has 
fallen substantially, placing the company 
below the long term Australian oil and 
gas industry average. AWE’s TRIFR im-
proved significantly during the year to 
4.0 incidents per million hours worked, 
down from 11.4 in the previous year. In 
2013–14, AWE will be focused on three 
key areas: developing an integrated 
group-wide Health, Safety and Environ-
ment (HSE) management system, im-
proving contractor management and en-
suring effective hazard identification and 
risk management.

Engaging with local communities is 
an essential part of the company’s op-
erations that is growing in importance. 
Senior management and technical spe-
cialists, including the Managing Direc-
tor, participate in community meetings, 
briefings for interest groups, council 
meetings and one-on-one meetings with 
landowners. The company also partici-
pates in formal and informal sponsor-

ship of community groups, focusing on 
projects with an emphasis on youth and 
education, health, environment and 
community development.

Environmental management remains 
a very high priority for the company, in 
line with its objective of minimising the 
environmental impact of its business ac-
tivities. AWE’s operating record over the 
2012–13 financial year was good, with 
no reportable incidents in any of its op-
erations. The company is committed to 
maintaining this performance where it 
operates production or development as-
sets, or is undertaking exploration or ap-
praisal activities. AWE’s environmental 
performance is reported annually under 
the Commonwealth’s National Green-
house and Energy Reporting System 
(NGERS) framework and voluntarily 
through the not-for-profit Carbon Dis-
closure Project (CDP).

AWE is committed to ensuring that 
all business practices are managed in a 
fair, transparent and ethical manner and 
in compliance with anti-corruption and 
bribery laws across all operations. Dur-
ing the year, the company updated its 
business conduct policies which are now 
being rolled out to all employees across 
the business. These policies provide clear 
guidelines on standards of business prac-
tice and behaviour, and meeting these 
standards is a shared goal of all employees.

For a more comprehensive review of 
AWE’s sustainability performance, please 
refer to AWE’s 2013 Sustainability Report 
at www.awexplore.com 
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minimise the impact  
of our business activities  

on the environment 

Build a team that  
is engaged, motivated  

and rewarded by  
working with awe

Operate a healthy  
and safe workplace  

with a goal to  
achieve zero harm  

to people

AWE’s  
sustAinAbility  
principlEs ArE  

simplE And clEAr

Deliver superior,  
sustainable returns  

for shareholders

1.

2.

Benefit the local  
communities in which  

we operate

3.

5.

4.

 1 Community sponsorship, Dongara, Western Australia
 2 Water Safety Program, Taranaki, New Zealand
 3 Water monitoring, onshore Perth Basin, Western Australia

1

2

3 awe limited annual report 2013 23



1) Otway basin: revisions to the 1P and 2P reserves are primarily  
due to addition of undeveloped reserves related to a future gas 
compression project.
2) 100% of AWE unconventional reserves are attributed to the Sugarloaf 
Area of Mutual Interest (AMI) project with wells completed in the Eagle 
Ford Shale. 
3) Sugarloaf AMI: revisions and reclassifications impacting the 1P and 2P 

reserves are a consequence of drilling and completion of new wells and 
performance trends of the existing wells. 
4) Previously the recoverable oil volume associated with the Ande Ande 
Lumut field in the NW Natuna PSC was booked as Contingent Resource. 
As per Company’s 20 May 2013 ASX announcement, AWE revised and 
re-categorised AAL K-sand economically recoverable volumes  
as reserves. 

5) Deterministic method of reserve estimation was applied for all assets.
6) Note that the aggregated 1P volumes may be a very conservative 
estimate due to the portfolio effects of the arithmetic summation applied.
7) Numbers may not add due to rounding.
8) Independent reserves and contingent resource reviews were carried out 
for the assets with material changes: Sugarloaf AMI, Ande Ande Lumut, 
Henry field (Otway basin), as well as Cliff Head (Offshore Perth basin).

reServeS and reSourCeS

Geographical Area Reserves Reconciliation (MMBOE)

Proved (1P) Reserves Proved Plus Probable (2P) Reserves

Evaluation Date  
30 June 2012

Revision &  
Reclassification

Extensions  
& Discoveries

Acquisitions  
& Divestments

Production Evaluation Date  
30 June 2013

Evaluation Date  
30 June 2012

Revision & 
Reclassification

Extensions  
& Discoveries

Acquisitions  
& Divestments

Production Evaluation Date 
30 June 2013

New Zealand

Taranaki Basin 1.8 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.7 1.4 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 2.5
South East Australia

Bass Basin 14.6 3.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 16.4 28.3 0.8 0.0 0.0 1.2 27.9
Otway Basin 5.9 3.8 0.0 0.0 1.4 8.3 9.3 3.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 10.9
Western Australia

Offshore Perth Basin 1.5 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.6 1.6 3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 2.7
Onshore Perth Basin 1.2 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5 1.3 2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 1.9
United States of America

Sugarloaf AMI 5.9 -1.4 0.0 0.0 0.7 3.8 9.7 5.7 0.0 0.0 0.7 14.8
Indonesia

Northwest Natuna 0.0 35.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.4 0.0 49.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 49.7
AWE Aggregated 30.8 42.3 0.0 0.0 5.0 68.2 56.1 59.3 0.0 0.0 5.0 110.4

Geographical Area Proved (1P) Reserves at Evaluation Date 30 June 2013

Developed Undeveloped Total

Sales Gas 
(PJ)

LPG  
(K tonnes)

Condensate 
(million bbls)

Oil  
(million bbls)

All Products 
(MMBOE)

Sales Gas 
(PJ)

LPG  
(K tonnes)

Condensate 
(million bbls)

Oil  
(million bbls)

All Products 
(MMBOE)

Sales Gas 
(PJ)

LPG  
(K tonnes)

Condensate 
(million bbls)

Oil  
(million bbls)

All Products 
(MMBOE)

New Zealand

Taranaki Basin 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 1.4
South East Australia

Bass Basin 14.0 38.4 0.5 0.1 3.4 53.9 179.8 2.0 0.0 13.0 67.9 218.1 2.4 0.1 16.4
Otway Basin 24.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.1 24.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.1 49.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.3
Western Australia

Offshore Perth Basin 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 1.6
Onshore Perth Basin 7.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3
United States of America

Sugarloaf AMI 2.7 28.4 0.9 0.0 1.7 4.1 42.3 0.9 0.0 2.1 6.9 70.7 1.8 0.0 3.8
Indonesia

Northwest Natuna 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.4 35.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.4 35.4
AWE Aggregated 49.1 66.8 1.4 3.1 13.5 82.7 222.0 2.9 35.4 54.7 131.8 288.8 4.3 38.5 68.2

Geographical Area Proved Plus Probable (2P) Reserves at Evaluation Date 30 June 2013

Developed Undeveloped Total

Sales Gas 
(PJ)

LPG  
(K tonnes)

Condensate 
(million bbls)

Oil  
(million bbls)

All Products 
(MMBOE)

Sales Gas 
(PJ)

LPG  
(K tonnes)

Condensate 
(million bbls)

Oil  
(million bbls)

All Products 
(MMBOE)

Sales Gas 
(PJ)

LPG  
(K tonnes)

Condensate 
(million bbls)

Oil  
(million bbls)

All Products 
(MMBOE)

New Zealand

Taranaki Basin 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.5 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.5 2.5
South East Australia

Bass Basin 18.2 46.4 0.6 0.1 4.3 98.1 329.4 3.5 0.0 23.7 116.3 375.8 4.1 0.1 27.9
Otway Basin 30.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.1 34.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.8 65.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 10.9
Western Australia

Offshore Perth Basin 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.7 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.7 2.7
Onshore Perth Basin 11.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9
United States of America

Sugarloaf AMI 3.3 33.8 1.0 0.0 2.0 26.3 268.3 5.4 0.0 12.9 29.5 302.1 6.4 0.0 14.8
Indonesia

Northwest Natuna 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 49.7 49.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 49.7 49.7
AWE Aggregated 63.2 80.1 1.6 5.3 18.4 159.3 597.8 8.9 49.7 92.1 222.5 677.9 10.5 54.9 110.4
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1) Contingent resources reported above are un-risked and there is no 
certainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of 
the contingent resources evaluated herein;
2) Otway basin 2C contingent resources as at 30 June 2013 associated 
with Blackwatch and Martha assets are reduced compared to that of 
previous year as a result of further technical and economic analysis;

3) As per the Company’s 3 April 2013 ASX announcement, changes in 
the Sugarloaf AMI 2C contingent resources are due to re-categorisation 
of the Eagle Ford resources as reserves, which is offset by a positive 
revision from the addition of Austin Chalk resources following the 
drilling of three Austin Chalk pilot wells; 

4) As per the Company’s 20 May 2013 ASX announcement, changes in 
the AAL 2C contingent resources are due to re-categorisation of K-sand 
volumes and addition of G-sand volumes;
5) Numbers may not add due to rounding;
6) Deterministic method was used for all assets.

Conversion Table

Energy Value
1,000 standard cubic feet of sales gas yields about
1.1 gigajoules of heat
1 petajoule (PJ) = 1,000,000 gigajoules (GJ)
1 gigajoule = 947,817 British Thermal Units (BTU)

Volume
1 cubic metre = 1 kilolitre = 35.3 cubic feet = 6.29 barrels
1 megalitre = 1,000 cubic metres

Barrel of Oil Equivalents (BOE)
Sales Gas – 6PJ = 1 BOE
LPG – 1 tonne = 11.6 BOE 
Oil – 1 barrel = 1 BOE
Condensate – 1 barrel = 1 BOE

Decimal Number Prefixes 
kilo = thousand = 103 
mega = million = 106

giga = 1,000 million = 109

tera = million million = 1012

peta = 1,000 million million = 1015

206.6

110.4

50 100 150 200 250

2P Reserves – Gas Ande Ande Lumut, Indonesia Australia & New Zealand – Liquids

Australia – Gas Anambas & Lengo, Indonesia Sugarloaf, USA

2P Reserves – Liquids

2P

2P+2C

AWE 2P Reserves and 2C Resources at 30 June 2013 (MMBOE)

Geographical Area 2C Contingent Resources

All Products  
(MMBOE)  

30 June 2012

Revisions  
(MMBOE)

Transfers to 
Petroleum Reserves 

(MMBOE)

Extensions  
& Discoveries  

(MMBOE)

Acquisitions  
& Divestments  

(MMBOE)

All Products  
(MMBOE)  

30 June 2013

Sales Gas (PJ)  
30 June 2013

LPG (K tonnes)  
30 June 2013

Condensate  
(million bbls)  

30 June 2013

Oil (million bbls)  
30 June 2013

New Zealand

Taranaki Basin 1.4 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7
South East Australia

Bass Basin 37.3 -1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 36.0 131.8 286.5 6.4 4.3
Otway Basin 4.8 -3.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.8 10.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
Western Australia

Offshore Perth Basin 1.2 0.2 -0.8 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6
Onshore Perth Basin 8.2 0.0 -1.1 0.0 0.0 7.1 40.3 0.0 0.3 0.0
United States of America

Sugarloaf AMI 6.3 1.2 -2.5 0.0 0.0 5.0 7.8 80.1 2.8 0.0
Indonesia

Northwest Natuna 43.0 14.8 -43.0 0.0 0.0 14.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 14.8
Other Indonesia 30.9 -1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 29.1 138.7 0.0 6.0 0.0
AWE Aggregated 133.0 10.6 -47.4 0.0 0.0 96.2 329.6 366.6 15.6 21.4

Reserves and Contingent Resources

The AWE reserves and contingent resource report as at 30 June 2013 was prepared in accordance with the SPE/AAPG/WPC/SPEE 
Petroleum Resources Management System guidelines of November 2011. The report is based on and fairly represents information and 
supporting documentation prepared by and under the supervision of two qualified petroleum reserves and resource evaluators: Ian Palmer 
(AWE General Manager Development) and Neil Tupper (AWE General Manager, Exploration and Geoscience). Mr Palmer, a member of 
SPE, holds a Bachelor Degree in Engineering and has 32 years’ experience in the practice of Petroleum Engineering. Mr Tupper, a member 
of SPE, holds MSc in Sedimentology and its Applications and BSc (Hons) in Geology. Mr Tupper has over 30 years of industry experience 
with specific expertise in strategic planning, portfolio analysis, prospect evaluation, technical due diligence and peer review, reserves and 
resource assessment, unitisation and business development. Both qualified petroleum reserves and resource evaluators have consented in 
writing to the inclusion of this information in the form and context in which it appears.
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The directors present their report of the consolidated 
entity (“AWE”), being the Company and its controlled entities, 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 and the auditor’s report thereon.

direCtorS

The directors of the Company at any time during the year or since 
the end of the financial year are:

non-executive directors

Bruce j. phillips Chairman
Bruce F.w. Clement Managing Director
david i. mcevoy Non-executive Director
andy j. Hogendijk Non-executive Director
kenneth G. williams Non-executive Director
vijoleta Braach-maksvytis Non-executive Director
raymond j. Betros  Non-executive Director 

(appointed 22 November 2012)
nicholas n. jukes  Non-executive Director (resigned 

22 November 2012)
Full directors’ profiles are set out on page 33 of the annual report.

operatinG and FinanCial review

The directors of AWE Limited present the Operating and Financial 
Review of the consolidated entity, prepared in accordance with 
section 299A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the year ended 
30 June 2013. The information provided in this review forms part 
of the Directors' Report and provides information to assist users 
assess the operations, financial position and business strategies 
of AWE.
1. performance overview

The following table provides an overview of production and the 
financial performance of AWE as detailed in the Financial Report.

 30 June 30 June
 2013 2012 Variance
 MMBOE1 MMBOE %

Production

Gas 2.88 2.58 11
LPG production 0.25 0.14 79
Condensate production 0.54 0.28 93
Oil 1.30 1.69 (23)
total production 4.97 4.69 6

Financial performance $million $million %

Sales revenue 300.5 298.4 1
Production costs  
and royalties (115.8) (109.7) 6
Field EBITDAX2,3 184.7 188.7 (2)
Exploration and  
evaluation expense (9.7) (36.5) (73)
Amortisation (105.0) (80.5) 32
Net financing expense (9.4) (4.3) 119
Impairment – (138.2) –
Other income/(expense) (9.2) 7.7 >100
Statutory net profit  

before tax 51.4 (63.1) >100
Tax expense (31.4) (3.4) >100
Statutory net profit  

after tax (npat) 20.0 (66.5) >100

To assist users reconcile underlying performance, the following 
table provides a reconciliation of NPAT and the impact of non-
recurring items.
Reconciliation of Underlying NPAT $million

Statutory npat 20.0
Less non-recurring items (after tax):
Settlement of receivable previously written off (0.9)
Payment received in connection with  
2012 AAL acquisition (0.6)
VAT receivable previously written off (1.3)
Proceeds from asset sale (0.1)
underlying npat3 17.1
1 – MMBOE refers to million barrels of oil equivalent.
2 –  Sales revenue less production costs and royalties. Refer note 10 for information 

by segment.
3 –  AWE’s Financial Report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The underlying (non-
IFRS) profit is unaudited but is derived from the audited accounts by removing 
the impact of non-recurring items from the reported (IFRS) audited profit. 
AWE believes the non-IFRS profit reflects a more meaningful measure of the 
consolidated entity’s underlying performance.

direCtorS’ report

1.1 Operating highlights

The Company achieved a strong operating performance across the 
portfolio of assets, with production and sales revenue meeting or 
exceeding AWE’s market guidance, substantial progress made on 
key development and exploration projects, significantly improved 
HSE performance, and increasing focus on community and 
stakeholder engagement on our operated assets. Key highlights for 
the year included:
• AWE’s production was up 6% on the prior year to 5.0 MMBOE. 

Gas and condensate production increased 11% and 93% 
respectively, partly offset by 23% lower oil production.

• The Company’s 2P Reserves were increased by over 100% from 
December 2012 to 110.4 MMBOE at year end, with 50 million 
barrels of oil booked as 2P Reserves for the Ande Ande Lumut oil 
field development in Indonesia and 6 MMBOE added to Sugarloaf 
2P Reserves in the USA.

• The Company’s 2P Reserves of 110.4 MMBOE at year end 
represents over 20 years of production at current rates, with a 
further 96.2 MMBOE held as 2C Contingent Resources.

• Sales revenue for the period remained strong at $301 million, 
slightly above AWE’s market guidance range and marginally 
higher than the prior period.

• Good progress was made on the Ande Ande Lumut oil field 
development project during the year. A number of major 
milestones were achieved, including regulatory approval for 
AWE’s optimised reservoir development plan and contracting 
plans for the wellhead platform and FPSO. The improved 
development plan has increased the estimated gross recoverable 
oil for the K-Sand development to 101 million barrels of oil, 
representing a 25 million barrel increase, or 33%, over the 
original plan of development. In addition, a further 35 million 
barrels of gross recoverable oil was added as contingent resources 
in the deeper G-Sand.

• Subsequent to year end the Company announced the sale of a 
50% interest in the Northwest Natuna PSC that includes the 
Ande Ande Lumut oil field development to Santos Limited 
including transfer of operatorship of the development for 
USD188 million.

• The Lengo-2 appraisal well, offshore Indonesia, was successfully 
drilled and tested during the period, achieving a gas flow rate of 
21.2 million scf/d. Work is under way to evaluate the potential 
commercial development of the gas field.
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After adjusting for non-recurring items of $2.9 million, the 
underlying profit for the period was $17.1 million compared to an 
underlying profit of $14.8 million in 2012.

In accordance with AWE’s successful efforts accounting policy, 
$9.7 million of exploration and evaluation costs were expensed 
in 2013 (2012: $36.5 million). Exploration and evaluation costs 
expensed during the year included costs for Onshore Perth Basin 
seismic studies ($2.3 million) and costs relating to Indonesian 
PSCs ($2.3 million).

The taxation expense for the year totals $31.4 million. As a 
producer of oil and gas in Australian and in New Zealand offshore 
waters, the consolidated entity is subject to profit based royalty 
related taxes in addition to income tax, in the form of Petroleum 
Resource Rent Tax (“PRRT”) in Australia, including the extension 
of PRRT to onshore projects effective from 1 July 2012, and New 
Zealand’s Accounting Profits Royalty (“APR”). Taxation expense 
includes the tax effect of PRRT and APR.

Net cash from operating activities decreased marginally 
from $123.9 million in 2012 to $118.2 million during 2013. Lower 
cash payments of $12.0 million were made for exploration and 
evaluation expenditure included within operating cash flows 
compared to $24.6 million in the prior year. This was offset by 
higher tax payments of $28 million compared to $17.7 million in 
the prior year, which relates to higher New Zealand income tax 
($9.1 million), APR ($16 million) and PRRT paid during the period 
($2.3 million). Tax payments in New Zealand predominantly relate 
to prior year tax assessments.
1.3 Summary of financial position

AWE’s financial position is strong with cash of $41 million, net debt 
of $37 million and undrawn facilities of $222 million at the end of 
the period. This compares to a net cash balance of $27 million and 
undrawn facilities of $284 million at 30 June 2012.

2. production and development operations

2.1 South East Australia

bassgas project (T/L1, Bass Basin, offshore southern Australia, 
AWE share 46.25%)
The BassGas project recommenced production in October 2012 
following a nine month shutdown for the completion of stage 1A 
of the BassGas MLE project, which included the installation of the 
accommodation module on the Yolla platform. During the nine 
month period of production from the Yolla field in 2012–13, the 
project achieved gross gas production of 11.2 PJ, 379,000 barrels of 
condensate and 23,600 tonnes of LPG. AWE’s share of production 
was approximately 5.2 PJ of gas, 175,000 barrels of associated 
condensate and 10,900 tonnes of LPG.

Following the successful completion of workovers at Yolla-3 
and Yolla-4 in the second half of the financial year, the combined 
gross daily rate has been increased to more than 60 TJ/d, nearing 
the maximum plant throughput capacity of 67 TJ/d.

The BassGas joint venture completed a review of the 
sequencing and timing for the next two phases of the MLE project 
comprising the drilling and tie-in of two development wells and the 
deferred installation of gas compression and condensate pumping 
modules at the Yolla platform. The joint venture agreed to 
prioritise the development drilling phase of work and FID approval 
for the two development wells is scheduled for the first quarter of 
financial year 2013–14.

• Three unconventional gas wells in the Perth Basin were 
hydraulically stimulated in July/August of 2013. Testing was 
successfully completed on the Senecio-2 well, with testing 
planned to continue to late 2013 at Arrowsmith-2. AWE is 
evaluating options for commercial development of the Senecio 
tight gas discovery.

• The Sugarloaf shale gas development continued strongly, with a 
further 55 wells drilled and completed during the year. Annual 
production was increased by 273% over the prior year and 2P 
Reserves from the Eagle Ford shale increased to 14.8 MMBOE at 
year end. Development wells have been drilled to test tighter well 
spacing in the Eagle Ford shale (40 acre versus 60 acre) and the 
commercial production potential of the overlying Austin Chalk, 
with initial results expected in late 2013.

• On the BassGas project, the joint venture has decided to proceed 
with drilling two additional development wells in 2014, to be 
followed by the installation of gas compression. The Yolla field 
returned to production in October 2012 following the installation 
of the accommodation module. Successful workovers of Yolla-3 
and Yolla-4 wells have resulted in gas sales increasing to over 60 
TJ/d since late July 2013.

• In New Zealand, plans are well advanced to drill the Pateke-4H 
development well and the Oi exploration well during 2013–14.

• The Mid West Geothermal Project joint venture proposal, in 
which AWE is partnering with geothermal company Green 
Rock Energy, underwent the Commonwealth Government’s 
Australian Renewable Energy Agency (ARENA) due diligence 
during the period. An announcement regarding funding for the 
Joint Venture project is expected in the first quarter of financial 
year 2014.

• AWE’s safety performance improved significantly during 2012–
13, with lost time injury and total recordable case frequency 
rates reduced by over 65% compared to the prior year, and our 
operations recorded no reportable hydrocarbon spills.

• Community and stakeholder engagement continues to be an 
important focus for AWE. The Company has been active in 
meeting and engaging with landowners, local communities and 
governments in our operated assets to ensure we provide open 
and transparent communication.

1.2 Financial performance

The consolidated entity reported a net profit after tax of $20.0 
million for the year (2012: net loss of $66.5 million).

Total oil and gas production of 5.0 MMBOE was 6% higher 
than the prior year and reflects the recommencement of gas 
production from the Yolla platform in October 2012 and a 
significant increase in gas and condensate production at Sugarloaf, 
partly offset by natural decline in production from Tui and 
Cliff Head.

AWE recorded sales revenue for 2013 of $301 million (2012: 
$298 million), marginally higher than the prior year. The average 
realised oil price for the period was 4% lower at $107 per barrel, 
compared to $112 per barrel in the prior year.

Operating costs were marginally higher at $115.8 million 
for the year (2012: $109.7 million) reflecting higher production 
volumes and increased workover and maintenance activity at 
BassGas and Casino. Average operating costs per BOE (sold) were 
in line with the prior year at $22.99, compared to $22.89 in 2012. 
Field EBITDAX of $184.7 million was marginally lower compared 
to the prior year (2012: $188.7 million).
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2.4 United States of America

sugarloaf ami (Texas, USA, AWE share 10%, net ~7.5% after 
landowner royalties)
Production continued to accelerate at the Sugarloaf AMI shale 
gas project during the year, with production increasing by 273% 
over the prior year. AWE’s share of production was approximately 
352,000 barrels of condensate, 1 PJ of gas and 11,200 tonnes of 
LPG, net of landowner royalties.

A total of 55 wells were drilled, completed and brought on 
production during the year, and at the end of the period, 91 wells 
were producing, with a further 15 wells being drilled and/or 
completed. Two development wells being completed at year end 
are targeting the Austin Chalk, which lies above the Eagle Ford 
shale. AWE has booked net 2C Contingent Resources of 5.1 million 
BOE for the Austin Chalk which reflects only part of the Company’s 
estimate of the potential of this zone.

An independent reserves review was completed by DeGolyer 
and MacNaughton during the year, resulting in an increase in 
AWE’s booked 2P Reserves to 14.8 MMBOE at 30 June 2013. The 
independent review is based on the future development potential 
of the Eagle Ford shale with wells drilled on an approximately 
60-acre spacing, reflecting current drilling activity, together with 
production data from the start of the development. Development 
wells have been drilled in Sugarloaf on 40 acre spacing to target 
increased recovery from the Eagle Ford shale, and the Operator is 
expected to release updated test results for 60-acre and 40-acre 
well spacing before the end of the calendar year. These results 
will be important for determining further potential to upgrade 2P 
Reserves based on tighter well spacing in the Eagle Ford shale.
2.5 Indonesia

aal development project (Northwest Natuna PSC, offshore 
Indonesia, AWE share 100%)
Good progress was made on the AAL oil field development project 
during the period with front end engineering and design (“FEED”) 
on the wellhead platform and tender pre-qualification for the 
FPSO in progress at year end. The final investment decision for 
the project is planned for the first half of 2014 after the design 
competition has been completed and tenders have been received 
for the FPSO contract.

Following an independent review and certification by RPS 
Energy Services, the Company increased its estimate of gross 
recoverable oil for the AAL K-Sand reservoir by 33% to 101 
million barrels, and reclassified the K-Sand to Reserves, booking 
Net 2P Reserves for the AAL K-Sand of 50 million barrels of oil, 
representing AWE’s entitlement under the terms of the PSC.

In addition, 35 million barrels of gross recoverable oil in 
the underlying G-Sand reservoir were classified as Gross 2C 
Contingent Resources, providing AWE with 15 million barrels of 
Net 2C Contingent Resources as the Company’s entitlement under 
the terms of the PSC.

A number of important project milestones were achieved 
during the year. Regulatory approval was received for AWE’s 
optimised reservoir development plan, which involves drilling 
33 longer reach horizontal wells into the K-Sand reservoir where 
initial production rates could potentially exceed 25,000 bopd. 
Approval was also obtained for the FPSO Tender Plan and FEED 
contract for the well head platform.

casino gas project (Otway Basin, offshore southern Australia, 
AWE share 25%)
The Casino gas project, including the Casino, Henry and Netherby 
gas fields, continued its strong production performance during the 
year, with production 4% higher than the prior year. The project 
produced approximately 33.7 PJ of gross gas and 24,300 barrels of 
condensate. AWE’s share of production for the year was 8.4 PJ of 
gas with approximately 6,000 barrels of associated condensate.

A subsea maintenance campaign and scheduled plant 
maintenance were successfully completed during the period.
2.2 Western Australia

cliff head (WA 31 L, Perth Basin, offshore Western Australia, 
AWE share 57.5%)
The Cliff Head oil project contributed gross production of 
1.0 million barrels of oil. AWE’s net share of production was 
approximately 0.6 million barrels for the year.

The conversion of the CH-9 well to a water injection well was 
completed during the period and the collection and analysis of field 
performance data is ongoing. The injection process is designed to 
increase production rates by sweeping oil in the reservoir towards 
the producing wells. The Cliff Head joint venture is reviewing 
further opportunities to optimise field performance.
onshore perth basin (AWE share 33% to 100%)
The Onshore Perth Basin operations contributed 0.5 MMBOE 
to AWE’s gas and oil production for the year, with AWE’s share 
totalling 2.6 PJ of natural gas, with approximately 12,800 barrels 
of oil and 5,500 barrels of condensate.

AWE operates the Hovea oil facilities and the Dongara 
and Corybas gas fields in the region. AWE also has equity in the 
Jingemia oil and Beharra Springs/Redback gas fields, operated by 
Origin Energy.

Increased gas production was achieved at the Beharra Springs 
field, contributing to an increase of 17% in gas production, which 
offset lower oil production and sales due to shut-in of the Jingemia 
plant from December 2012. The Hovea facility remained shut-in 
with oil production suspended during the 2013 financial year. 
The Hovea and Jingemia fields are expected to remain in care and 
maintenance while the prospectivity of the area and potential 
future commercial production from the fields is evaluated.
2.3 New Zealand

tui (PMP 38158, offshore Taranaki Basin, New Zealand, 
AWE share 42.5%)
In New Zealand, the Tui Area oil project recorded gross oil 
production of 1.67 million barrels (AWE share 0.71 million barrels), 
down 24% on the corresponding period due to natural field decline.

The Pateke-4H development well is scheduled to be drilled in 
the first half of the 2013–14 financial year, subject to the release of 
the drill rig following prior commitments. Pateke-4H will target a 
mapped northern extension of the currently producing Pateke field 
which AWE estimates could increase field recovery by 2.3 million 
barrels gross.
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3.3 New Zealand

taranaki basin
In permit PMP38158 (AWE share 42.5%, Operator), preparations 
are well advanced for the drilling of the Oi exploration well. The 
Oi prospect is located 12 km to the north east of the Tui field 
and represents a Prospective Resource of 11 million barrels of 
recoverable oil (gross, unrisked P50 estimate). AWE has elected to 
participate in the Oi exploration well at reduced equity of 25% with 
the option to increase participation to 42.5% in any development 
of Oi by paying a promote on drilling costs. AWE is the Operator of 
the well and the spud date is scheduled for early November 2013, 
subject to the timing of rig arrival.
3.4 Indonesia

east java basin
The Lengo-2 appraisal well in the Bulu PSC (AWE share 42.5%) 
was successfully drilled and tested during the year, achieving test 
gas flow rates of 21.2 million scf/d. The joint venture is evaluating 
the results from Lengo-2 and work is under way to consider the 
potential commercial development of the Lengo gas discovery.

In the Titan PSC (AWE 40%, paying 50% and Operator), 
additional seismic data over the northern section of the PSC area 
was sourced and acquired during the period. The acquisition of 
more comprehensive 2D seismic data is being considered to fully 
evaluate an existing gas discovery, Cempaka-1, within the PSC area. 
This data will be reviewed to assess possible future development.

The farm-out of the North Madura PSC (AWE 50%, Operator) 
and the Terembu PSC (AWE 100%, Operator) are also in progress, 
with AWE assessing interest from qualified parties. 
natuna sea
In the Anambas PSC (AWE share 100%, Operator), technical and 
evaluation work was carried out during the period to identify 
potential development options for the Anambas gas discovery. 
Planning and preparation for the farm-out of the block is in 
progress, with the intention of introducing a partner prior to the 
drilling of an appraisal well on the Anambas field.

AWE completed and submitted a Joint Study for a shale gas 
opportunity located in the Central Sumatra Basin in Indonesia 
and the submission was subsequently assessed and approved 
by the regulator. The award of a PSC is subject to the regulator 
finalising regulations concerning production sharing for shale 
gas resource projects.

The wells drilled during the year are summarised as follows:
Well name Location 

AWE share Comments

lengo-2 East Java (Indonesia) 
42.5% Successful well, ongoing evaluation
55 wells in Sugarloaf ami Eagle Ford shale (USA)
10.0%  91 wells in production at year end;  

15 wells being drilled and/or 
completed

3. exploration operations

3.1 South East Australia

bass basin (T/18P, AWE share 44.75%)
Interpretation of the Chappell 3D seismic survey was completed 
during the period, which is a key step in evaluating the Trefoil 
gas/condensate discovery. Several new leads and prospects were 
also identified for further evaluation. Development concept 
studies are in progress for the Trefoil field to identify potential 
commercialisation options. Reviews of the Rockhopper and White 
Ibis fields were also completed during the period.
otway basin (VIC/P44, AWE share 25%)
A 3D seismic merge and reprocessing project commenced during 
the period and is expected to be completed during 2013–14. The 
reprocessing of the seismic is expected to deliver an improved 
seismic image to better define the exploration prospects and infill 
drilling opportunities in the permit.

The joint venture is reviewing the economic potential of the 
Blackwatch and Pecten East gas discoveries. The Joint Venture has 
engaged with regulators to determine how the Blackwatch gas field, 
which is covered by State and Federal exploration permits, can 
be developed so that the recovery of resources from both permits 
is optimised.
3.2 Western Australia

onshore perth basin
AWE’s unconventional gas exploration and testing program made 
significant progress during the period following the hydraulic 
fracture stimulation of Senecio-2, Arrowsmith-2 and Woodada 
Deep-1 wells in July 2012. In total, eight zones were successfully 
fracture stimulated and hydrocarbons were flowed back from all 
zones during well flow back and clean-up, with gas flow rates of 
up to 0.16 mscf/d and oil flow rate of 180 bopd achieved for the 
Kockatea shale and 0.78 mscf/d from the High Cliff sandstone.

In production licence L1/L2 (AWE 50%, Operator), following 
successful production testing of Senecio-2, a development 
feasibility study was completed for the Senecio field during the 
period and AWE is assessing possible development options for this 
tight gas field.

In exploration permit EP413 (AWE 44.25%), testing at the 
Arrowsmith-2 well was carried out during the period, primarily 
targeting the Kockatea shale. Further testing is planned during 
the remainder of 2013, following the recompletion of the well with 
smaller diameter tubing string to aid well clean up and flow back 
testing. This testing will initially focus on the High Cliff sandstones 
followed by the Irwin River Coal Measures and Carynginia 
shale formation. Seismic modelling has also been completed 
in preparation for the planned Arrowsmith 3D seismic survey 
in 2013–14.

During the reporting period, an independent evaluation 
of the unconventional Prospective Resource potential for 
EP413 was undertaken by DeGolyer & MacNaughton. The 
independent evaluation concluded that the Best Estimate (P50) 
for gross unconventional Prospective Resources (unrisked) was 
450 MMBOE including 2.6 TCF of gas.

In exploration permit EP455 (AWE 81.5%, paying 100% and 
Operator), AWE plans to drill the Drover-1 exploration well in 
2013–14, targeting unconventional shale and tight gas sands in the 
block. Preparations for the well are in progress, with a groundwater 
study completed during the period and progress made on the 
environmental approvals.
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4. Business strategy and opportunities

4.1 Business strategy

AWE’s goal is to be a leading energy company in Australia, with a 
sustainable business providing superior returns to shareholders.

The Company aims to deliver this objective by implementing 
a clear strategy of:
• Optimising performance of our core assets;
• Maximising new growth opportunities within our 

existing business;
• Leveraging the technical and commercial skills and experience 

of the AWE team; and
• Identifying and pursuing selective acquisitions.
AWE is committed to this aim while preserving our goals of zero 
harm to our people, minimising our impact on the environment, 
supporting the communities in which we operate and building a 
motivated and engaged team.
4.2 Opportunities

AWE will pursue key opportunities in connection with the 
optimisation of future production performance from the existing 
portfolio of assets and opportunities arising from the Company’s 
extensive portfolio of exploration assets.

Key projects and opportunities being pursued during the 
2013–14 financial year include:
• The AAL development in Indonesia, where it is planned to 

progress the project through several important milestones 
including completion of the FPSO design competition and 
subsequently FID in the second half of 2013–14.

• The BassGas MLE project is expected to obtain FID approval 
for two development wells in the first quarter of 2013–14 with 
drilling expected to be carried out during 2014.

• In New Zealand, the drilling of the Pateke-4H development 
well and the Oi exploration well are planned for the first half 
of 2013–14.

• Further development in Sugarloaf through the ongoing drilling 
program, which is expected to continue to increase production, 
and has the potential to upgrade 2P Reserves with tighter 
well spacing in the Eagle Ford shale and development of 2C 
Contingent Resources in the Austin Chalk.

• Progress of the potential development of the Senecio tight 
gas field and complete further testing of the Arrowsmith and 
Woodada Deep shale gas wells in the Onshore Perth Basin.

• In Indonesia, further review of the potential commercial 
development of the offshore Lengo gas field and other 
exploration assets including the Anambas gas discovery.

AWE will continue to progress the review of a range of other 
exploration and new business opportunities in conventional and 
unconventional oil and gas and new energy areas, with a particular 
focus on appraisal and pre-development type assets where AWE 
possesses the core skills to add significant value.

4.3 Material business risks

The following material business risks impact AWE’s ordinary 
operations and are monitored and managed on an ongoing basis:
• Commodity price risk, which directly impacts AWE through the 

realised price received from the sale of hydrocarbons – gas, crude 
oil, condensate and LPG – with the exception of Australian gas 
sales which are made under long-term contracts where the price 
is denominated in Australian dollars.

• Reserves and production risks, where future performance of 
individual assets may not meet current estimates and forecasts.

• Implementation of development and operating projects, 
including meeting schedule and budget, which could be 
subject to changes in future industry and economic conditions. 
For example, project delivery risk in respect of the BassGas 
MLE project.

• Sovereign risk relating to the expected fiscal, tax and regulatory 
environment in jurisdictions that AWE does business.

• Health, Safety and Environmental risks which are recognised by 
AWE as being of critical importance in ensuring AWE continues 
to build and operate a sustainable business and which remain a 
key priority for the Company.

• Community engagement, particularly in relation to onshore oil 
and gas exploration, development and production activities.
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direCtorS' QualiFiCationS and experienCe

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

name experience

Bruce j. phillips
BSc (Hons) Geol

Independent Non-executive Director  
and Chairman
Member of the People Committee

Bruce Phillips is a petroleum explorationist who has more than 30 years of technical, 
financial and managerial experience in the upstream energy sector of the oil and 
gas industry. He has broad domestic and international exploration and production 
experience throughout Australia, South East Asia, Africa and South America. 
Bruce is an active member of PESA and the Australian Society of Exploration 
Geophysicists.

Bruce is currently a non-executive director of AGL Energy Limited and non-
executive Chairman of Platinum Capital Limited. He was formerly a non-executive 
director of Sunshine Gas Limited. Bruce was founder and Managing Director of 
AWE. He retired as Managing Director on 31 August 2007 and was appointed as 
a non-executive director on 19 November 2009 and non-executive Chairman on 
18 November 2010.

Bruce F.w. Clement
B eng (Hons), BSc (mathematics), mBa

Managing Director

Bruce Clement is an engineer with over 30 years extensive experience in Australian 
and international oil and gas businesses in senior technical, financial and managerial 
roles with Esso Australia, Ampolex, AIDC, and Roc Oil.

Bruce’s career has included leadership roles in major appraisal, development and 
production projects in Australia and in Asia as well as key executive roles in financial 
and commercial management. Bruce was appointed Managing Director of AWE on 1 
February 2011.

david i. mcevoy
BSc (physics), Grad dip (Geophysics)

Independent Non-executive Director
Chairman of the Sustainability Committee
Member of the Audit and Governance Committee

David McEvoy has a petroleum geoscience background with almost 40 years’ 
experience in international exploration and development. He has held several 
senior executive positions in affiliates of ExxonMobil, most recently Vice President, 
Business Development in ExxonMobil Exploration Company from 1997 to 2002.

David is currently a non-executive director of Woodside Petroleum Ltd, and was 
formerly a non-executive director of Po Valley Energy Limited and ACER Energy 
Limited (formerly Innamincka Petroleum Ltd). David was appointed a non-
executive director of AWE on 22 June 2006.

andy j. Hogendijk
aauQ, FCpa, FaiCd

Independent Non-executive Director
Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee
Member of the People Committee

Andy Hogendijk has had an extensive senior financial management career with 
Suncorp Metway, Commonwealth Bank and the John Fairfax Group and roles with 
Shell Company of Australia and Australian Paper Manufacturers.

Andy is a fellow of both CPA Australia and the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and is a non-executive director of Magellan Flagship Fund Limited. He 
was formerly Chairman of Gloucester Coal Limited and a non-executive director 
of Aditya Birla Minerals Limited. He was appointed as a non-executive director 
of AWE on 4 October 2007.

kenneth G. williams
Bec (Hons)

Independent Non-executive Director
Chairman of the People Committee
Member of the Audit and Governance Committee

Ken Williams has over 20 years' operational experience in corporate finance with an 
emphasis on treasury and financial risk management as well as diverse experience 
in mergers, acquisitions, divestments and corporate reconstructions. During his 
executive career he has worked for significant Australian enterprises including 
Renison Goldfields, Qantas, Normandy Mining and Newmont Australia.

Ken has an Honours degree in Economics and a Masters of Applied Finance and is 
a member of the Australian institute of Company Directors. Ken is a non-executive 
director of Havilah Resources NL, non-executive director of Curnamona Energy 
Limited and a non-executive director of Geothermal Resources Limited (the latter 
two companies now delisted from ASX). He was appointed as a non-executive 
director of AWE on 26 August 2009.
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name experience

dr vijoleta Braach-maksvytis
BSc phd maiCd

Independent Non-executive Director
Member of the People Committee
Member of the Sustainability Committee

Dr Vijoleta Braach-Maksvytis is an innovation strategist with more than 20 years’ 
experience in organisational change, formation of cross-sectoral and global 
partnerships, the commercialisation of technology, and intellectual property 
strategy. Previous roles include Head of the Office of the Chief Scientist of Australia, 
Senior Executive and Director Global Development for CSIRO, and most recently, 
Deputy Vice Chancellor Innovation and Development at the University of 
Melbourne, and she is currently an advisor in the area of social innovation.

Dr Vijoleta Braach-Maksvytis is a member of the Australian Federal Government’s 
Green Car Innovation Fund Committee, on the advisory board of the Intellectual 
Property Research Institute of Australia, and is also a member of other public 
interest boards. She is currently a non-executive director of Orbital Corporation 
Limited. Vijoleta was appointed a non-executive director of AWE on 7 October 2010.

raymond j. Betros
Beng Chemical, Grad dip process plant engineering

Independent Non-executive Director
Member of the Sustainability Committee

Mr Betros is a highly experienced senior executive specialising in international 
business and project development and technical management. His expertise in 
forming and leading multi-disciplinary teams to undertake large scale ventures 
involving complex interrelated activities is internationally recognised.

Mr Betros has held various senior executive positions at BHP/BHP Billiton 
(1993–2004), BG Group (2004–2008) and most recently Santos (2008–2011) where 
he held the position of Executive Vice-President Technical until his retirement 
from executive duties. He was appointed as a non-executive director of AWE on 
22 November 2012.

nicholas n. jukes
Beng (Civil), Fieaust

Resigned as Independent Non-executive  
Director on 22 November 2012

Nick Jukes is a civil engineer with 30 years’ experience in the engineering, 
construction and mining sectors and was formerly a senior executive with Thiess 
Pty Ltd.

He is a fellow of the Institute of Engineers Australia. During his career with 
Thiess Pty Ltd and BHP Billiton Limited, he was actively involved in the planning, 
development, construction and operations of major coal and metalliferous projects 
throughout Australia and South East Asia. He is currently Managing Director 
of Sedgman Limited and was formerly a non-executive director of Australasian 
Resources Limited.

No directors of the Company either resigned or were appointed since the end of the financial year.
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CompanY SeCretarY

Mr Neville Kelly was appointed to the position of Company 
Secretary in October 1999. Mr Kelly (BCom, Merit, CPA) is an 
accountant with 30 years' commercial experience including 
over 27 years in the upstream sector of the Australian oil and gas 
industry, including 12 years’ experience with Bridge Oil Limited. 
Neville was also the Chief Financial Officer of AWE until 31 October 
2011 and joined the Company on its public listing in 1997.

remuneration report

The Remuneration Report set out on pages 38 to 48 forms part of 
the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

Corporate GovernanCe Statement

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are 
included in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages 
49 to 56.

dividendS

Dividends paid or declared by the Company to members since the end of the previous financial year were:

 Cents Total amount   Date of 

 per share $’000 Franking payment

Declared and paid during the 2013 financial year – – – –
Declared and paid during the 2012 financial year  
– special dividend 5.0 26,094 Franked 20 January 2012
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direCtorS’ report

eventS SuBSeQuent to BalanCe date

On 22 August 2013, the Company announced that it had signed 
a sale and purchase agreement to sell a 50% interest in the 
Northwest Natuna PSC, which includes the Ande Ande Lumut oil 
project, to a subsidiary of Santos Limited for a total consideration 
of USD188 million (AUD209 million at the date of the 
announcement). The consideration comprises USD100 million in 
cash payable on completion of the sale and a USD88 million capital 
expenditure carry. As a condition of the sale, AWE will also transfer 
operatorship of the Northwest Natuna PSC to Santos effective on 
completion. The sale is subject to Indonesian regulatory approval 
of the transfer of a 50% interest in the PSC and operatorship from 
AWE to Santos. The Company’s interest in the PSC is disclosed 
within oil and gas assets as at 30 June 2013 (refer to Note 15).

The Company previously acquired its 100% interest in the 
Northwest Natuna PSC as part of its acquisition of two companies 
that held 100% interest in both the Northwest Natuna PSC 
and Anambas PSC for USD39 million and also assumed and 
refinanced approximately USD100 million in loans owed by the 
companies acquired.

In the opinion of the directors, no other matter or circumstance 
has arisen since 30 June 2012 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect:
(a) the consolidated entity’s operations in future 

financial years, or
(b) the results of those operations in future financial years, or
(c) the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future 

financial years.

direCtorS’ intereStS

The relevant interest of each director in the share capital of the 
Company, as notified by the directors to the Australian Securities 
Exchange (“ASX”) in accordance with section 205G(1) of the 
Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows:

Director Fully paid ordinary shares

B.J. Phillips 2,900,914
B.F.W. Clement 30,000
D.I. McEvoy 30,000
A.J. Hogendijk 10,000
K.G. Williams 20,000
V. Braach-Maksvytis –
R.J. Betros 20,000
N.N. Jukes –

No directors’ interests are subject to margin loans. Further details 
of directors’ interests in share capital are set out in note 31 to the 
financial statements, Related Party Disclosures.

direCtorS’ meetinGS

The number of meetings, including meetings of committees of directors and the number of meetings attended by each director of the 
Company during the financial year were:

  Audit and Governance People Sustainability 
 Directors’ Committee Committee Committee 
 meetings meetings meetings meetings

Director Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended

B.J. Phillips 10 10 – – 4 4 – –
B.F.W. Clement 10 10 – – – – – –
D.I. McEvoy 10 9 7 7 – – 4 4
A.J. Hogendijk 10 10 7 7 4 4 – –
K.G. Williams 10 10 7 7 4 4 – –
N.N. Jukes3 4 2 – – – – 2 1
V. Braach-Maksvytis 10 10 – – 4 4 4 4
R.J. Betros2 6 3 – – – – 2 1
1 – Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the director held office, or was a member of the committee during the year.
2 – Appointed on 22 November 2012.
3 – Resigned on 22 November 2012.
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indemniFiCation and inSuranCe oF oFFiCerS

Under the Company’s Constitution, and to the extent permitted 
by law, every person who is, or has been, a director or officer of the 
Company is indemnified against:
1. a liability incurred by that person, in his or her capacity as 

a director or secretary, to another person (other than the 
Company or a related body corporate of the Company) provided 
that the liability does not arise out of conduct involving a lack of 
good faith; and

2. a liability for costs and expenses incurred by that person:
 (i)  in defending any proceedings in which judgement is 

given in that person’s favour, or in which that person is 
acquitted, or

 (ii)  in connection with an application in relation to any 
proceedings in which the Court grants relief to that person 
under the Corporations Act.

During the financial year, the Company paid premiums based on 
normal commercial terms and conditions to insure all directors, 
officers and employees of the Company against the costs and 
expenses in defending claims brought against the individual while 
performing services for the consolidated entity. The premium 
paid has not been disclosed as it is subject to the confidentiality 
provisions of the insurance policy.

The Company has entered into Indemnity Deeds to 
indemnify directors and certain executives of the Company 
against all liabilities incurred in the course of or arising out of their 
employment with the Company and its controlled entities, except 
where the liability results wholly or in part from serious and wilful 
misconduct by the executive or director.

audit and non-audit ServiCeS

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, Ernst 
& Young, and its related practices for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the year are set out below.

 2013 2012 
ernst & Young $ $

Audit services – auditor of the Company
Audit and review of financial reports 410,915 242,200

Taxation services
Taxation compliance services 87,653 95,000

Other services
Due diligence procedures related  
to asset acquisition – 62,160

Other advisory and assurance services 222,372 –
total remuneration of ernst & Young 720,940 399,360
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During the year Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor has 
performed certain other services in addition to their statutory 
duties. The Board has considered the non-audit services provided 
during the year by the auditors and in accordance with written 
advice provided by resolution of the Audit and Governance 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit 
services during the year by the auditor is compatible with the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
for the following reasons:
• All non–audit services do not impact the integrity and objectivity 

of the auditor; and
• The non-audit services do not undermine the general principles 

relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve 
reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, in a management 
or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an 
advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

auditor’S independenCe deClaration under SeCtion 

307C oF tHe CorporationS aCt 2001

The auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 37 
and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the year ended 
30 June 2013.

roundinG oFF

The Company is of a kind referred to in Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission (“ASIC”) Class Order 98/100 dated 
10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in 
the Financial Report and the Directors’ Report have been rounded 
off to the nearest one thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

B.j. pHillipS B.F.w. Clement

Chairman Managing Director
Dated at Sydney this 27th day of August 2013
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auditor’S independenCe deClaration to tHe direCtorS oF awe limited

In relation to our audit of the Financial Report of AWE Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of 
professional conduct.

ernst & Young

trent van veen

Partner

Dated at Sydney
this 27th day of August 2013
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june 2013 remuneration report

keY pointS

total Shareholder return (tSr) • TSR for the financial year of –7%
Fixed remuneration • Fixed remuneration of Managing Director increased by 4%
Short term incentive (Sti) •  STI payment to Managing Director set at 35% of maximum allowable

•  STI payment to senior executives averaged 40% of maximum allowable
long term incentive (lti) •  Changes implemented to Share Rights Plan to decrease the number of rights to be granted 

and to increase the hurdle rates for future vesting of rights
vesting of rights  

– 3 year cycle to june 2013
•  Managing Director: 50% of Relative TSR rights and nil Absolute TSR rights1

•  Senior executives: Retention rights only; nil Relative TSR rights and nil Absolute TSR rights
non-executive directors • Increased fees of 5% (with no increases granted in the previous financial year)

 ContentS
1. Introduction
2. Remuneration governance framework
3. Executive remuneration arrangements
3.1 Principles and strategy
3.2 Fixed remuneration
3.3 Short term incentives
3.4 Long term incentive plans
3.5 Other benefits
4. Service agreements
5. June 2013 executive remuneration outcomes
5.1 Remuneration tables
5.2  Analysis of short term performance benefits included in 

remuneration
5.3  Analysis of long term performance benefits  

included in remuneration
5.4  Analysis of movement in long term  

performance benefits
6. Non-executive director remuneration

aBBreviationS uSed in tHiS report:

aSx Australian Securities Exchange Limited
awe AWE Limited or the Company
HSe Health safety and environment
kmp Key management personnel
kpi Key performance indicator
lti Long term incentive
md Managing Director
ned Non-executive Director
plan Share rights plan
rights Share rights
Sti Short term incentive
tSr Total shareholder return
vwap Volume weighted average price

1 – Retention rights are not granted to the Managing Director.

1. introduCtion

The directors of AWE Limited (“AWE” or the “Company”) present the Remuneration Report prepared in accordance with section 300A 
of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2013.

The information provided in this report forms part of the Directors Report and outlines the remuneration arrangements of the 
consolidated entity in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (“the Act”) and its regulations. This 
information has been audited as required by section 308 (3C) of the Act.

This report details remuneration information pertaining to directors and senior executives who are the ‘Key Management Personnel’ 
(“KMP”) of the consolidated entity. KMP are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the AWE.

The following non-executive directors (“NEDs”) and senior executives have been identified as KMP for the purpose of this report:

non-executive directors

Bruce J. Phillips Chairman
David I. McEvoy Non-executive Director
Andy J. Hogendijk Non-executive Director
Kenneth G. Williams Non-executive Director
Vijoleta Braach-Maksvytis Non-executive Director
Raymond J. Betros Non-executive Director Appointed 22 November 2012
Nick N. Jukes Non-executive Director Resigned 22 November 2012
Senior executives

Bruce F.W. Clement Managing Director
Dennis Washer Chief Operating Officer/General Manager, New Zealand
Ayten Saridas Chief Financial Officer Appointed 31 October 2011
Neil P. Tupper General Manager, Exploration and Geoscience Appointed 20 May 2013
Michael Drew Group General Counsel/General Manager Commercial Appointed 1 May 2013
Neville F. Kelly Company Secretary/General Manager Corporate
David R.N. Gaudoin Vice President, Exploration and Exploitation, Indonesia Mr Gaudoin’s employment will cease 

on 1 November 2013
Dates of appointment or resignation are noted in the above tables if this appointment or resignation occurred within the previous two 
financial years.
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Should the Company receive advice from external consultants 
to assist in making decisions on the amount or structure of the 
remuneration of one or more KMP:
• the consultant is to be appointed by the People Committee 

or NEDs;
• advice received from the consultant must be provided directly to 

the People Committee or NEDs;
• fees paid to the consultant must be disclosed; and
• the consultant must declare their independence.
No remuneration consultants have been appointed in the current 
financial year.

3. exeCutive remuneration arranGementS

3.1 principles and strategy

Objectives

The key objectives of AWE’s remuneration practices are to:
• Align the interests of senior executives, staff and shareholders;
• Attract and retain suitably qualified senior executives 

and staff; and
• Motivate senior executives and staff to achieve 

superior performance.
Mix of remuneration

To achieve these objectives remuneration packages consist of:
• Fixed remuneration;
• Short term performance benefits; and
• Long term performance benefits.
The remuneration structures are designed to align the interests of 
shareholders with remuneration outcomes by taking into account:
• The performance of the consolidated entity including:

–  the growth in total returns to shareholders;
–  the consolidated entity’s financial results;
–  delivery of base business (that is, “business as usual”);
–  the results of exploration, development and 

production activities;
–  business growth;
–  delivery of strategic objectives;
–  adherence to health, safety and environment policies and 

targets; and
–  compliance with regulatory regimes.

• The capability and experience of senior executives;
• The ability of senior executives to control the performance of 

their relevant area of responsibility; and
• Current economic and industry circumstances.
The Company has been monitoring the progress of proposed 
legislative changes relating to the claw back of performance based 
remuneration which are designed to deal with situations where a 
material misstatement may have occurred in a Company’s financial 
statements in the three prior financial years which may result 
in senior executives being overpaid. The Company intends to 
implement appropriate changes to its remuneration arrangements 
for senior executives once the legislation is enacted. As presently 
advised and on the currently proposed form of the legislation, 
the Company believes there is nothing in its existing executive 
services agreements and remuneration arrangements that would 
be an impediment to implementing appropriate arrangements on 
a prospective basis once the legislation is enacted.

2. remuneration GovernanCe Framework

The People Committee is responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policies and 
employment practices applicable to directors, senior executives 
and other employees.

The role and responsibilities of the People Committee is 
documented in a charter approved by the Board and is reviewed 
at least annually. A copy of this charter is available on the 
Company’s website.

The People Committee must comprise at least two non-
executive directors, the majority of whom shall be independent. No 
executive can be a member of the Committee. For the whole of the 
financial year the People Committee comprised Kenneth Williams 
(Chairman), Bruce Phillips, Andy Hogendijk and Vijoleta Braach-
Maksvytis, all of whom are non-executive directors of AWE and are 
considered to be independent.
role

The role of the People Committee as defined in the charter is to 
ensure that the remuneration policies and employment practices 
of AWE:
• are consistent with the Company’s goals and objectives;
• deliver outcomes in line with strategic business goals;
• recognise the scale and complexity of the Company’s 

business activities;
• encourage directors and senior executives to deliver short term 

objectives and to pursue the long term growth and success of the 
Company within an appropriate control framework;

• deliver a level and composition of remuneration that is 
appropriate and fair to a broad range of stakeholders;

• define the relationship of remuneration to corporate and 
individual performance; and

• attract and retain talented and effective directors and staff so as 
to encourage enhanced performance of the Company.

The People Committee also evaluates the appropriateness of 
remuneration packages given trends in comparable companies, the 
need to drive a performance-based culture and the objectives of the 
Company’s remuneration strategy.
responsibilities

The responsibilities of the People Committee as defined in the 
charter are to review and make recommendations to the Board or 
its related committees on:
• policies for employment and remuneration of all AWE staff;
• recruitment, retention and termination policies and procedures 

for senior executives;
• the remuneration package of the Managing Director;
• the remuneration packages of senior executives in consultation 

with the Managing Director;
• performance schemes including short term and long 

term incentives;
• superannuation arrangements;
• the remuneration framework for non-executive directors, within 

the limit approved by shareholders;
• management succession planning;
• procedures necessary to ensure compliance with industrial 

relations law;
• the appointment of external remuneration consultants 

and evaluation of advice from remuneration consultants in 
accordance with the Act;

• the diversity disclosure plan and the Company’s progress in 
achieving measurable diversity objectives;

• the annual Statutory Remuneration Report;
• people related disclosures in the annual Sustainability 

Report; and
• other matters as requested by the Board.

june 2013 remuneration report
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Changes to remuneration structures

As noted in the Company’s 2012 Remuneration Report and as part 
of the continual review of remuneration structures, the Company 
implemented a number of refinements to the operation of the long 
term Share Rights Plan (“Plan”) in the June 2013 financial year. 
Changes were made to the Plan to reduce the amount of share 
rights (“rights”) that can be issued by:
• The maximum number of rights that can be granted is fixed. 

However, the actual number of rights that are granted (which 
will be less than or equal to this maximum) is determined by 
the Board;

• Basing the number of rights that are granted on Company and 
individual performance in the previous financial year; and

• Reducing the participation scales for the Managing Director and 
senior executives.

Further, the vesting criteria applying to rights have been 
tightened by:
• Increasing the hurdle rates applying to absolute performance 

measures;
• Increasing the hurdle rates applying to relative performance 

measures; and
• Decreasing the retention component for senior executives.
Also, the Company has determined that a more appropriate 
comparator group for relative performance measurement is peer 
companies in the ASX Energy 300 Index.

Further details on the operation of the Plan are described in 
section 3.4.

With the Company’s expanding Indonesian operations it should 
be noted that expatriate personnel are entitled to assignment 
benefits in addition to fixed remuneration and performance related 
benefits. These expatriate benefits are provided to compensate 
for additional living costs and circumstances particular to the 
assignment location and are in line with market practice and 
market conditions in that location. The Company considers that 
these costs should be recognised as an investment in the continued 
success of these projects and long term value creation.
Market comparatives

In order to attract and retain suitably qualified senior executives 
and technical professionals and to ensure that salary packages are 
reasonable and competitive but not excessive, fixed remuneration 

levels and at risk remuneration structures in the form of short 
term incentive benefits and long term incentive benefits are 
benchmarked against independently provided data on Australian 
upstream oil and gas companies. The current market for such 
senior executives and technical professionals in the upstream oil 
and gas industry is very tight and competitive and the Company’s 
remuneration framework is structured accordingly.

To ensure that long term incentive structures are 
appropriately aligned to the long term interests of shareholders, 
the vesting of share rights (“rights”) are conditional on 
performance conditions which are tied to the three year total 
shareholder return of the Company and to the three year total 
shareholder returns of comparator ASX listed energy companies.

Company performance

The following table identifies the consolidated entity’s performance in respect of the current financial year and the previous four 
financial years:

 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Profit/(loss) ($ million) 20.0 (66.50) (117.6) (28.93) 88.58
30 June share price ($) 1.24 1.34 1.28 1.78 2.57
Change in share price ($) (0.10) 0.06 (0.50) (0.79) (1.59)
Total shareholder return (%) (7) 9 (28) (31) (35)
AWE performance relative to ASX 200 Energy Index (%) (15) 30 (35) (27) (11)
AWE performance relative to ASX 200 Index (%) (30) 21 (35) (40) (15)
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3.2 Fixed remuneration

Fixed remuneration consists of base salary calculated on a total 
cost basis, including fringe benefits tax and superannuation 
contributions (or equivalent).

Remuneration levels are reviewed at least annually by the 
People Committee through a process that considers independent 
externally provided remuneration data and also taking into 
account the overall performance of the consolidated entity to 
ensure that remuneration is appropriate and competitive in the 
market place.

For details of fixed remuneration paid to senior executives and 
directors refer to sections 5 and 6.
3.3 Short term incentives

Short term performance benefits are awarded in the form of cash 
bonuses. These benefits are “at risk” and are paid for performance 
during the financial year and are designed to reward senior 
executives for meeting or exceeding Company and individual Key 
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”).
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Managing Director KPIs

Each year, the Board sets corporate KPIs for the Managing 
Director which are based on overall corporate performance targets.
june 2013 and june 2014 Financial years
For both the June 2013 and June 2014 financial years the corporate 
KPIs for the Managing Director are based on a balanced scorecard 
approach with the board believing that the attainment of these 
measures will result in meaningful shareholder returns both in the 
short term and long term. These performance measures were:
• Delivery of work program and budget (45%) – includes specific 

targets with respect to delivery of production targets, capital 
expenditure and exploration programs, operating expenditure 
targets, administration costs targets, reserves replacement, team 
performance, HSE performance, community, regulatory and 
environment.

• Strategy, portfolio balancing and regeneration (35%) – includes 
specific targets with respect to individual assets and also includes 
targets with respect to expanding and restructuring the asset 
base of the Company.

• Board discretion (20%) – includes an allowance to cover the 
potential and inevitable changing circumstances during the 
financial year.

On an assessment of actual performance under these measures 
for the financial year the Board has determined that a total of 35% 
of maximum KPI will be awarded to the Managing Director. For 
further details refer to section 5.2.

Given the continuing changing circumstances of both the 
Company and the upstream oil and gas industry in general, the 
Board is of the view that these KPI performance measures will 
inevitably be required to respond to such circumstances and 
accordingly may vary from year to year. The Board believes that the 
attainment of these measures will result in meaningful shareholder 
returns both in the short term and long term.
Senior Executives' KPIs

Corporate KPIs for senior executives are based on the same 
corporate KPIs as the Managing Director. In addition, the 
Managing Director sets individual KPIs for the senior executives. 
These KPIs take into account individual and departmental 
performance over which the senior executive has responsibility. 
The Board believes that the attainment of these individual 
and departmental KPIs is essential in delivering overall 
corporate objectives.

The structure of these short term incentive (“STI”) benefits as 
a percentage of fixed remuneration is as follows:

 Managing  Senior 
 Director1 Executives2 

 % %

Target – meets performance  
objectives 25 20
Stretch – exceeds performance  
objectives 25 20
 50 40
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The maximum STI is only payable if both the Company and 
individual performance are at the highest level and exceed 
expectation or in exceptional circumstances of outstanding 
individual performance where the Board may award up to 100% of 
that individual’s short term performance benefit even though some 
KPIs have not been achieved. This special circumstance is designed 
to reward and retain outstanding employees in times where 
outstanding individual results have been achieved even though 
some KPI targets have not been achieved due to circumstances 
beyond the control of the individual senior executive.
3.4 long term incentive plans
Long term incentive (“LTI”) “at risk” performance benefits are 
awarded in the form of share rights with vesting conditions tied 
to retention, absolute Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) and 
relative TSR.

The rationale for the choice of these criteria includes:
• to align employees with commonly shared goals related to 

producing high returns for shareholders over the medium to 
long term;

• to encourage and assist employees to become shareholders of 
AWE themselves;

• to provide a long term component of remuneration to enable 
AWE to compete effectively for the calibre of talent required for 
the Company to be successful; and

• to help retain talented personnel, minimise employee turnover 
and stabilise the workforce.

The Company no longer issues employee share options as a method 
of rewarding long term performance and no employee share 
options have been issued since June 2009. There are however 
residual unexercised employee share options on issue, all of which 
have an expiry date of no later than June 2014.
Share Rights Plan
The Company introduced a Share Rights Plan in June 2010 for the 
award of long term performance benefits. The Plan is designed to 
generate performance-based awards that may be converted, at the 
Board’s discretion, into AWE shares or cash.

The key elements of the Plan include:
• Rights are granted each year; the number of rights granted 

is determined by the employee’s level in the Company, fixed 
remuneration at the time of grant and taking into account both 
the Company and employee’s performance in the previous 
financial year.

• There are three tranches of rights with separate vesting criteria:
– Retention1;
– Absolute TSR; and
– Relative TSR.

• The vesting period is for three years, the rights will lapse after 
three years and there will be no retesting.

• Rights granted in any particular financial year are tested for 
vesting over the three year period commencing 1 July of the 
grant year.

1 –  Retention rights are not granted to the Managing Director.

The Plan defines TSR as “The percentage change over a period 
in shareholder value due to share price movement and dividends 
assuming dividends are reinvested into AWE shares.

Early vesting of rights is not permitted other than at the 
time of change in control of the Company where the extent of 
any vesting is to be determined at the discretion of the Board. On 
termination of employment, rights are forfeited unless and to the 
extent determined by the Board. The Board has discretion whether 
or not to make a determination and reserves the right to exercise 
that discretion having regard to the circumstances that might arise 
from time to time.

1 –  100% of Managing Director KPIs are based on achieving corporate performance 
measures.

2 –  50% of senior executive KPIs are based on the same corporate KPIs as the 
Managing Director and 50% are subject to individual and departmental KPIs over 
which the individual senior executive has responsibility.
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The maximum number of rights that can be granted as a percentage of fixed remuneration at the time of grant and converted to a number 
of rights using the 30 day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the AWE share price as at 30 June of the grant year are as follows:

 Rights granted from the  Rights granted up to the

 June 2013 Financial Year June 2012 Financial Year

 Maximum number of rights available  Absolute number of rights available 

 as a percentage of Fixed Remuneration1 as a percentage of Fixed Remuneration

  Absolute Relative    Absolute Relative

 Retention TSR TSR   Retention TSR TSR

 vesting vesting vesting   vesting vesting vesting

 condition condition condition Total1 condition condition condition Total1 

 % % % % % % % %

Managing Director NA 50 50 100 NA 75 75 150
Senior Executives 15 30 30 75 20 30 30 80

The above table represents the maximum number of rights that can vest three years subsequent to grant, but only if all vesting conditions 
are satisfied to 100% (and then only if the maximum number of initial rights were granted based on past Company and individual 
performance).

Vested rights will entitle the senior executive to an amount which will vary with the AWE share price at the time of vesting. The 
Board may decide in its absolute discretion the form of payment (cash or issue of shares) to satisfy these vested rights.
retention grants
• Number of rights calculated using the 30-day VWAP of the AWE share price as at 30 June of grant year.
• Vest after three years if the employee remains employed by AWE.
No rights vested in prior years due to the initial three year vesting period not having been reached.
absolute tsr grants
• Number of rights calculated using the 30-day VWAP of the AWE share price in June of grant year.
• Vest after three years according to the Company’s Absolute TSR for that three year period.
• The vesting scales to apply for Absolute TSR grants are as follows:

Rights granted from the June 2013 Financial Year1 Rights granted up to the June 2012 Financial Year

AWE TSR % of rights to vest AWE TSR % of rights to vest

<8% pa compound – <6% pa compound –
8% pa compound 25% 6% pa compound 25%
>8% and <10% pa compound Pro rata >6% and <9% pa compound Pro rata
10% pa compound 50% 9% pa compound 50%
>10% and <12% pa compound Pro rata >9% and <12% pa compound Pro rata
12% pa compound 100% 12% pa compound 100%

 
relative tsr grants
• Number of rights calculated using the 30-day VWAP of AWE share price in June of grant year.
• Vest after three years according to the Company’s TSR relative to comparable companies in ASX Energy 300 Index in grant year as per 

the table below (companies no longer in the index are excluded).
• The vesting scales to apply for Relative TSR grants are as follows:

Rights granted from the June 2013 Financial Year1 Rights granted up to the June 2012 Financial Year

AWE TSR relative to TSR of 

companies in S&P/ASX Energy 

Index at date of grant % of rights to vest

AWE TSR relative to TSR of 

companies in S&P/ASX Energy 

Index at date of grant % of rights to vest

<50% – <50% –
50% 25% 50% 50%
>50% and <90% Pro rata >50% and <75% Pro rata
90% and above 100% 75% and above 100%

For an analysis of rights granted, vested and forfeited in the June 2013 financial year, refer to section 5.3.

1 –  Maximum total number of rights to be granted from June 2013 financial year decreased from previous years and number of rights granted is now a maximum number based on 
past Company and individual performance.

1 – Performance hurdles increased.

june 2013 remuneration report

1 – Performance hurdles increased.
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Employee Share Option Plan (closed during 2009)

Employee share options were previously granted to senior 
executives and the number granted was based on the relative level 
of the individual senior executive in the consolidated entity and 
generally had a vesting period of three years and a total term of 
five years.

No employee share options have been granted since June 
2009 and no further employee share options will be issued. 
All outstanding share options have an exercise end date no later 
than June 2014.

No employee share options vested or were exercised in 
respect of the June 2013 financial year and certain employee 
share options lapsed.

The vesting of all employee share options is subject to 
the satisfaction of relative performance conditions. Relative 
performance criteria used to determine the ability of senior 

executives to exercise employee share options is measured by 
comparing the consolidated entity’s TSR over a rolling three-
year period against both the ASX 200 Energy Index and the ASX 
200 Index. Accordingly, senior executives will only be rewarded 
in circumstances where the Company’s share price exceeds 
the relative performance criteria. Retesting of this relative 
performance measure is allowed every 12 months until expiry of 
the employee share option.

For an analysis of employee share options granted, vested and 
forfeited in the June 2013 financial year, refer to section 5.3.
3.5 other benefits

The personal needs of directors and senior executives may be taken 
into account when determining the appropriate remuneration 
mix and the Company allows salary sacrifice arrangements to the 
extent that it complies with all applicable laws, and there is no net 
cost to the Company doing so.

4. ServiCe aGreementS

managing director – Bruce Clement

On 1 February 2011, Mr Bruce Clement commenced as Managing Director and at the time of his formal appointment, the details of the 
service agreement entered into with Mr Clement were disclosed and are summarised as follows:

terms of contract Contract commenced 1 February 2011 and continues until terminated under the termination provisions of the 
contract.

remuneration Remuneration is made up of the following components:
•  Fixed Remuneration for financial year 2013 was $865,280 per annum inclusive of salary, superannuation and 

fringe benefits tax which is reviewed annually effective 1 July;
•  At risk short term performance benefits which are summarised in section 3.3 and can represent up to 50% of 

base salary for the year; and
•  At risk long term performance benefits which are granted on an annual basis in the form of rights under the 

Company’s Cash Share Rights Plan. The Board has determined that all awards of rights to Mr Clement are 
subject to approval of shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting. Details of rights currently held 
by Mr Clement are at section 5.4.

termination The service agreement contract may be terminated in the following circumstances:
•  Voluntary termination by the Company or Mr Bruce Clement on six months’ notice. On termination by the 

Company, a termination payment of six months of then base salary is payable in addition to any payment in lieu 
of notice. On termination by Mr Clement, no such termination payment will be made. Pro-rated short term 
benefits will be paid according to the achievement of KPIs to the date on which notice is given. Any granted but 
unvested rights at the date on which notice is given will be forfeited;

•  Termination by the Company on three months’ notice in the event of illness or injury. Pro-rated short term 
benefits will be paid according to the achievement of KPIs to the date on which notice is given. Any granted but 
unvested rights at the date on which notice is given will be forfeited; or

•  Termination by the Company for cause and without notice. Any short term benefits or rights that have not 
vested at the date on which notice is given will be forfeited.

Senior executives

The key terms and conditions of service agreements for all other senior executives (excluding the Managing Director) are summarised 
as follows:

remuneration Executive Service Contracts standardise the executive’s entitlement to:
•  Fixed remuneration;
• Short term performance benefits;
•  Long term performance benefits; and
•  Any other benefits that may be provided by the Company.

termination Service agreements may be terminated under the following circumstances:
•  Resignation on three months’ notice by the executive;
•  Termination on three months’ notice by the Company; or
•  Termination without notice by the Company for cause.
In the event of a redundancy or defined change in circumstances the senior executive is entitled to a 12 month 
termination payment (in the case of Neville Kelly this entitlement is two years under certain defined 
circumstances) unless not otherwise permitted by law.

However, for senior executives commencing employment after 1 July 2011 (Ms Saridas, Mr Drew and 
Mr Tupper) this termination payment has been reduced to six months.

term The service contracts have no fixed term.
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5. exeCutive remuneration outComeS

5.1 remuneration tables

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each director of the Company and each of the named senior 
executives are as follows:

Consolidated 
entity Short-term Post employment
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executive directors

B.F.W. 
Clement

2013 846,438 151,424 15,633 1,013,495 18,842 (16,687) – 1,015,650 437,879 1,453,529 41 30
2012 786,412 166,400 8,172 960,984 45,589 20,766 – 1,027,339 327,359 1,354,698 36 24

other key management personnel

D. Washer 2013 516,701 85,671 4,350 606,722 44,248 – – 650,970 158,354 809,324 30 20
2012 488,335 78,302 – 566,637 32,835 – – 599,472 194,345 793,817 34 24

A. Saridas1 2013 419,530 87,200 2,863 509,593 16,470 (3,895) – 522,168 77,138 599,306 27 13
2012 257,628 43,000 – 300,628 11,831 6,550 – 319,009 32,459 351,468 21 9

N. Tupper3 2013 62,005 10,200 149 72,354 3,045 106 – 75,505 – 75,505 14 –
2012 – – – – – – – – – – – –

M. Drew2 2013 59,417 13,200 222 72,839 4,167 121 – 77,127 – 77,127 17 –
2012 – – – – – – – – – – – –

N.F. Kelly 2013 380,948 76,500 12,760 470,208 21,716 11,583 – 503,507 120,843 624,350 32 19
2012 362,432 65,000 8,172 435,604 28,503 9,969 – 474,076 150,109 624,185 34 24

D. Gaudoin 2013 579,720 68,700 292,202 940,622 5,458 (11,781) – 934,299 126,446 1,060,745 18 12
2012 450,667 72,000 10,265 532,932 20,833 10,397 – 564,162 161,348 725,510 32 22

B. Wray4 2013 – – – – – – – – – – – –
2012 261,953 19,939 – 281,892 19,542 (17,895) 383,724 667,263 (8,318) 658,945 2 (1)

total 

executive 

kmp

2013 2,864,759 492,895 328,179 3,685,833 113,946 (20,553) – 3,779,226 920,660 4,699,886 30 17
2012 2,607,427 444,641 26,609 3,078,677 159,133 29,787 383,724 3,651,321 857,302 4,508,623 29 17

notes in relation to the executive director and other key management personnel
1 – Ayten Saridas commenced employment as Chief Financial Officer on 31 October 2011.
2 – Michael Drew commenced employment as Group General Counsel/General Manager Commercial 1 May 2013.
3 – Neil Tupper commenced employment as General Manager, Exploration and Geoscience on 20 May 2013.
4 – Brod Wray ceased employment on 31 January 2012.

notes in relation the remuneration table above.
a –  Salary package includes amounts salary sacrificed.
B –  Amounts included in non-monetary benefits for Dave Gaudoin include costs associated with his Indonesian expatriate assignment – including housing, motor vehicle and 

school fees.
C – Superannuation benefits include the amount required to be contributed by the consolidated entity and does not include amounts salary sacrificed.
d – Other long-term benefits comprise the amount of long service leave accrued and adjustments to underlying assumptions therein in the period.
e –  Amounts classified as termination benefits include salaries paid to senior executives after they ceased to be classified as key management personnel but continued to be 

employed by the consolidated entity.
F –  The Company no longer grants employee share options as a method of rewarding long-term performance and accordingly no employee share options have been issued during 

the June 2012 and 2013 financial years.
   For past grants of employee share options the fair value of options had been calculated at the grant date using a modified binomial option-pricing model. In valuing the options, 

market conditions were taken into account.
     Non-market performance conditions (including continuous employment requirements) are not taken into account in the fair value measurement of the share rights on 

grant date.
   For grants of rights the fair value have been calculated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes Pricing Model and assuming an expected share price volatility of 25% and vesting 

probability of 43.5% for performance related awards.
   The fair value of options and rights has been calculated at the grant date and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The value 

disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the options and rights allocated to this reporting period. The value disclosed does not therefore represent cash received.
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5.2 analysis of short term performance benefits included in remuneration

Award of short term performance benefits

Section 3.3 of this report details the consolidated entity’s approach to the granting and vesting of short term performance benefits.
The award of short term performance benefits in the form of cash bonuses to the Managing Director and senior executives in 

recognition of Company performance and individual performance in the June 2013 financial year together with the vesting profile of these 
bonuses are as follows:

 Included in remuneration1 Vested in year Forfeited in year2

 $ % %

directors

B.F.W. Clement 151,424 35 65
executives

D. Washer 85,671 38 62
A. Saridas 87,200 50 50
N. Tupper3 10,200 43 57
M. Drew4 13,200 53 47
N.F. Kelly 76,500 48 52
D.R.N. Gaudoin 68,700 35 65

5.3 analysis of long term performance benefits included in remuneration

Section 3.4 of this report details the consolidated entity’s approach to the granting and vesting of long term performance benefits.
The value of options and rights are allocated to each reporting period over the period from grant date to vesting date. Accordingly, 

amounts included as remuneration for the financial year represent that amount allocated to the financial year from the grant of options and 
rights both in the current financial year and previous financial years.
Granting of share rights

The number and value of rights granted during the financial year to directors and senior executives is detailed below:

 Granted during the year in respect of June 2012 financial year performance 

 and vesting post 30 June 2013

    Fair value per 

   Total value right granted

 Grant date Number1 $ $

directors

B.F.W. Clement2 22 November 2012 331,474 193,216 0.58
executives

D. Washer 4 December 2012 153,973 109,691 0.71
A. Saridas 4 December 2012 119,522 85,147 0.71
N.F. Kelly 4 December 2012 116,816 83,218 0.71
D.R.N. Gaudoin 4 December 2012 140,886 100,367 0.71

1 –  Amounts included in remuneration represent the amount that vested in the financial year including superannuation payments applicable. No amounts vest in future financial years.
2 – The percentages forfeited are due to that component of base and stretch performance criteria not being met in the financial year.
3 – N. Tupper commenced employment on 20 May 2013.
4 – M. Drew commenced employment on 1 May 2013.

1 – The number of rights granted was 60% of the maximum amount available. The rights which lapsed was 40% of maximum available.
2 – The granting of these rights were approved by shareholders at the 2012 Annual General Meeting.
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Vesting of share rights

The following table describes the actual vesting criteria applying to rights tested for vesting conditions at 30 June 2013 for senior executives 
other than the Managing Director:

Senior executives' rights vesting performance 3 years to June 2013

Retention rights Absolute TSR rights Relative TSR rights

Retention rights vested 
based on the following 
criteria:

No Absolute TSR rights vested based  
on the following criteria:

No Relative TSR rights vested based on the  
following criteria:

Senior executive employed 
by the consolidated entity 
three years subsequent to 
initial grant

Minimum annual compound  
rate required for vesting: 6.0%

Minimum relative performance  
required for vesting: 50th percentile

Actual AWE annual compound  
TSR for the three year period  
to 30 June 2013: (10.2%)

AWE relative performance  
against ASX 300 Energy Index  
comparator group for the three  
year period to 30 June 2013: 38th percentile

The following table describes the actual vesting criteria applying for rights tested for vesting conditions at 30 June 2013 for the 
Managing Director:

Managing Director rights vesting performance October 2010 to June 20131

Retention rights Absolute TSR rights Relative TSR rights

Not applicable No Absolute TSR rights vested based 
the following criteria:

50% of Relative TSR rights vested based on the following 
criteria:

Minimum annual compound  
rate required for vesting: 6.0%

Minimum relative performance  
required for vesting: 50th percentile

Actual AWE annual compound  
TSR for the period from  
29 October 2010 to  
30 June 2013: (5.6%)

AWE relative performance  
against ASX 300 Energy Index  
comparator group for the  
period from 29 October 2010  
to 30 June 2013: 50th percentile

 
On the application of the vesting criteria described above details of 30 June 2013 vesting rights which were tested for vesting conditions 
subsequent to the end of the financial year are as follows:

 30 June 2013 vesting share rights

  Retention rights Absolute TSR rights Relative TSR rights Total rights

directors

B.F.W. Clement On Issue – 460,122 460,123 920,245
 Forfeited – (460,122) (230,062) (690,184)
 Vested – – 230,061 230,061
executives

D. Washer On Issue 47,102 70,652 70,652 188,406
 Forfeited – (70,652) (70,652) (141,304)
 Vested 47,102 – – 47,102
N. F. Kelly On Issue 35,622 53,433 53,433 142,488
 Forfeited – (53,433) (53,433) (106,866)
 Vested 35,622 – – 35,622
D.R.W. Gaudoin On Issue 39,988 59,982 59,982 159,952
 Forfeited – (59,982) (59,982) (119,964)
 Vested 39,988 – – 39,988
total On Issue 122,712 644,189 644,190 1,411,091
 Forfeited – (644,189) (414,129) (1,058,318)
 Vested 122,712 – 230,061 352,773

All the above rights were originally issued in the June 2010 financial year. The Board has determined that vested rights for the Managing 
Director and senior executives will be settled by the issue of AWE shares.

1 –  Approval was received at the Company’s 2011 Annual General Meeting to grant these rights to the Managing Director, and further, approval was received under ASX Listing Rule 
10.14 to issue shares to the Managing Director on the vesting of these rights.

june 2013 remuneration report



awe limited annual report 2013 47

Employee share options

Granting – there were no employee options granted over ordinary shares in AWE during the financial year. In addition, there were no 
shares issued on the exercise of options previously granted as remuneration. No employee share options have been granted since June 
2009 and no further employee share options will be issued.

Vesting – as the consolidated entity’s absolute TSR for the rolling three-year period to 30 June 2013 of – 27% was below the 
performance of both the ASX Energy 200 Index of –4% and the ASX 200 Index of 28% it has been determined that options granted in 
previous financial years and vesting in July 2013 are not capable of exercise. These options will be retested in June 2014.

Details of employee options lapsing during the financial year are detailed below:

  Number lapsed during  

 Grant date year ended 30 June 2013

directors

Nil – –
executives

D. Washer 13 July 2007 150,000
N.F. Kelly 13 July 2007 150,000

All the above options were granted in the June 2008 financial year and no value was attributable to options that lapsed during the 
financial year.

june 2013 remuneration report

5.4 analysis of movements in long term performance benefits

Employee share rights

Details of employee rights granted as remuneration to each director of the Company and each of the named senior executives are 
detailed below:

     Fair value per
   Financial years in right granted4

 Grant date Number2 which rights vest3 $

directors

B.F.W. Clement1 24 November 2011 230,061 5 30 June 2013 0.42
B.F.W. Clement1 24 November 2011 916,030  30 June 2014 0.54
B.F.W. Clement1 22 November 2012 331,474  30 June 2015 0.58
executives

D. Washer 3 December 2010 47,102 5 30 June 2013 0.87
D. Washer 16 September 2011 296,904  30 June 2014 0.60
D. Washer 4 December 2012 153,973  30 June 2015 0.71
A. Saridas 31 October 2011 162,850 5 30 June 2014 0.80
A. Saridas 4 December 2012 119,522 5 30 June 2015 0.71
N.F. Kelly 3 December 2010 35,622 5 30 June 2013 0.87
N.F. Kelly 16 September 2011 229,557  30 June 2014 0.60
N.F. Kelly 4 December 2012 116,813  30 June 2015 0.71
D.R.N. Gaudoin 25 June 2011 39,988 5 30 June 2013 0.62
D.R.N. Gaudoin 16 September 2011 280,917  30 June 2014 0.60
D.R.N. Gaudoin 4 December 2012 140,886  30 June 2015 0.71

Employee share options

Details of unvested employee share options previously granted as remuneration to each director of the Company and each of the named 
senior executives are detailed below:

   Financial years in Fair value per 
 Grant date Number which options vest option granted $

directors

Nil – – – –
executives

D. Washer 15 August 2008 100,000 30/06/20142 0.59
N.F. Kelly 15 August 2008 100,000 30/06/20142 0.59
D.R.N Gaudoin 16 June 2009 200,000 30/06/20141 0.43

The exercise of options is conditional upon satisfaction of relative performance conditions. The fair value per option granted represents 
the modified binomial option-pricing model valuation for options granted and calculated at grant date. 

1 – Grants of rights to Mr Clement have been approved by shareholders at previous Annual General Meetings of the Company.
2 – The vesting of rights is conditional upon satisfaction of vesting conditions as described in section 3.4.
3 – Rights vesting on 30 June 2013 tested for satisfaction of vesting conditions subsequent to the end of the financial year.
4 – The fair value per right granted represents the valuation for rights granted and calculated at grant date.
5 – Satisfied vesting conditions effective 30 June 2013 on the determination of the Board subsequent to the end of the financial year. Refer section 5.3 for further details.

1 – Based on the Company’s relative TSR performance for the 3 year period to 30 June 2013 these options have not vested and will be retested in June 2014.
2 – These options lapsed unexercised subsequent to the end of the financial year.
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6. non-exeCutive direCtor remuneration

Total remuneration for all non-executive directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 2009 Annual General Meeting of the Company, 
is not to exceed $900,000 per annum, inclusive of superannuation. Total remuneration paid to non-executive directors in the financial year 
amounted to $815,328. Fees are set based on review of externally provided remuneration data with reference to fees paid to other non-
executive directors of comparable companies.

Directors’ fees (including superannuation) for the 2013 financial year were as follows:

  Audit People Sustainability 
 Board Committee Committee Committee

Chair $220,500 $23,100 $16,800 $16,800
Member $94,500 $11,550 $8,400 $8,400

Non-executive directors do not receive incentive-based remuneration and do not receive any retirement benefits other than statutory 
entitlements.

Company and consolidated entity Short-term Post-employment

Fees2

Non-
monetary 

benefits Total

Super-
annuation 

benefits3

Termination 
benefits

Total cash 
related Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

non-executive directors
B.J. Phillips 2013 210,000 – 210,000 18,901 – 228,901 228,901

2012 200,000 – 200,000 18,000 – 218,000 218,000
D.I. McEvoy 2013 112,706 – 112,706 10,144 – 122,850 122,850

2012 107,339 – 107,339 9,661 – 117,000 117,000
A.J. Hogendijk 2013 115,596 – 115,596 10,404 – 126,000 126,000

2012 110,092 – 110,092 9,908 – 120,000 120,000
K.G. Williams 2013 112,706 – 112,706 10,144 – 122,850 122,850

2012 107,339 – 107,339 9,661 – 117,000 117,000
N.N. Jukes1 2013 37,277 – 37,277 3,355 – 40,632 40,632

2012 89,908 – 89,908 8,092 – 98,000 98,000
V. Braach-Maksvytis 2013 102,110 – 102,110 9,190 – 111,300 111,300

2012 97,248 – 97,248 8,752 – 106,000 106,000
R.J. Betros1 2013 57,610 – 57,610 5,185 62,795 62,795

2012 – – – – – – –
total 2013 748,005 – 748,005 67,323 – 815,328 815,328

2012 711,926 – 711,926 64,074 – 776,000 776,000
1 – Nick Jukes resigned as a director and Raymond Betros was appointed a director on 22 November 2012.
2 – Fees include amounts salary sacrificed.
3 – Superannuation benefits include the amount required to be contributed by the consolidated entity and does not include amounts salary sacrificed.

june 2013 remuneration report
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The ASX Listing Rules require listed entities to disclose the extent 
to which they have followed the Corporate Governance Principles 
and Recommendations set by the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council during the reporting period. This corporate governance 
statement summarises the corporate governance practices that 
have been formally reviewed and adopted by the AWE Board with 
a view to ensuring continued investor confidence in the operations 
of the Company and endorsing the corporate governance 
principles relevant to a company of AWE’s nature and size. A table 
has been included at the end of this statement detailing the 
Company’s compliance with the recommendations.

The Company’s website at www.awexplore.com contains 
a corporate governance section that includes copies of the 
Company’s corporate governance policies and board committee 
charters mentioned in this statement.

aSx prinCiple 1 – laY Solid FoundationS For 

manaGement and overSiGHt

role of the Board

The responsibilities of the Board are to:
• set the strategic direction for the Company and monitor progress 

of those strategies;
• establish policies appropriate for the Company;
• monitor the performance of the Company, the Board 

and management;
• approve the business plan and annual work programs 

and budgets in line with the approved strategy;
• authorise and monitor major investment and 

strategic commitments;
• review and ratify systems for health, safety and environmental 

management; risk management and internal control; codes of 
conduct and regulatory compliance;

• appoint and monitor performance of the Managing Director;
• report to shareholders, including but not limited to, the financial 

statements of the Company;
• evaluate the performance of the Board and identify and appoint 

new directors to the Board; and
• take responsibility for corporate governance.
Board committees have been established to assist the Board in 
discharging these responsibilities.
delegation to management

Other than matters specifically reserved for the Board, 
responsibility for the operation and administration of the 
Company has been delegated to the Managing Director. This 
responsibility is subject to an approved delegation of authority 
which is reviewed regularly and at least annually.

Internal control processes are designed to allow management 
to operate within the parameters approved by the Board and the 
Managing Director cannot commit the Company to additional 
activities or obligations in excess of these delegated authorities 
without specific approval of the Board.

aSx prinCiple 2 – StruCture tHe Board to add value

Composition of the Board

The names of the directors of the Company in office at the date of 
this statement and information regarding directors’ experience 
and responsibilities are set out in the Directors’ Report.

The Company’s Constitution provides for the Board to 
determine a number of directors that is not less than three and not 
more than 10 directors.

The Board has resolved that it will at all times have a 
majority of non-executive directors, with at least 50% of directors 
considered to be independent, including the Chairman, who shall 
be non-executive.

The preferred combination of skills and experience for the 
Board of AWE include:
• technical disciplines of upstream oil and gas exploration, 

development and production;
• finance, taxation and accounting;
• company strategy and business planning;
• business and corporate development;
• both local and international experience; and
• public company administration.
Chairman of the Board

The Chairman of the Board will be a non-executive director and 
the Chairman will be elected by the directors. The Board considers 
that at the date of this report, the Chairman Mr Bruce Phillips, is 
also independent.
Independent Directors

The Board considers that a director is independent if that director 
complies with the following criteria:
• apart from director’s fees and shareholdings, independent 

directors should not have any business dealings which could 
materially affect their independent judgement;

• must not have been in an executive capacity in the Company in 
the last three years;

• must not have been in an advisory capacity to the Company in the 
last three years;

• must not be a significant customer or supplier for the Company;
• must not be appointed through a special relationship 

with another Board member;
• must not owe allegiance to a particular group of shareholders 

which gives rise to a potential conflict of interest;
• must not hold conflicting cross directorships; and
• must not be a substantial shareholder or a nominee of 

a substantial shareholder (as defined under section 9 
of the Corporations Act).

Corporate GovernanCe Statement
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The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of 
committees of directors) and the number of meetings attended by 
each of the directors of the Company during the financial year are 
set out in the Directors’ Report.
Board performance review
A review of the Board’s own performance and effectiveness is 
conducted annually and commencing in the June 2012 financial 
year the performance of individual directors is also undertaken.

As required by their respective charters the Audit and 
Governance Committee, the Sustainability Committee and the 
People Committee undertake an annual self-assessment. The 
Board and the Board Committees have the discretion for these 
reviews to be conducted independently from time to time.

Performance evaluation of senior executives and staff is 
undertaken at least annually (refer to separate discussion in the 
Remuneration Report).
other areas for Board review
• Reporting to shareholders and the market to ensure trade in the 

Company’s securities takes place in an efficient, competitive and 
informed market;

• succession planning for senior executives and the Board;
• insurance, both corporate and joint venture related 

insurances; and
• approval of external directorships for the Managing Director 

and senior executives and disclosure of external directorships by 
other directors.

Board committees

Audit and Governance Committee
The role of the Audit and Governance Committee is documented in 
a formal charter approved by the Board and is reviewed on at least 
an annual basis.

The Audit and Governance Committee’s primary role is to 
assist the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities in 
respect of the financial affairs and related matters of the Company 
and to advise and make appropriate recommendations to the Board 
in respect of such financial responsibilities.

The objectives of the Audit and Governance Committee are to:
• assist the Board in discharging its responsibility to exercise due 

care, diligence and skill in relation to the Company’s:
–  reporting of financial information to users of financial reports;
– application of accounting policies;
– financial management;
– internal control system;
– corporate and governance risk management;
– taxation risk management;
– business policies and practices;
– protection of the entity’s assets; and
–  compliance with applicable laws, regulations, standards and 

best practice guidelines;

retirement and rotation of directors
Retirement and rotation of directors are governed by the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the Constitution of the Company. Each 
year, one third of directors must retire and offer themselves for 
re-election. Any casual vacancy filled will be subject to shareholder 
vote at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
independent professional advice
Each director has the right to seek independent professional advice 
at the Company’s expense after consultation with the Chairman. 
Once received, the advice is to be made immediately available to all 
Board members.
access to employees
Directors have the right of access to any employee. Any employee 
shall report any breach of corporate governance principles or 
Company policies to the Managing Director who shall remedy 
the breach. If the breach is not rectified to the satisfaction of 
the employee, they shall have the right to report any breach to 
an independent director without further reference to senior 
executives of the Company.
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for directors are 
arranged by the Company at the Company’s expense.
Share ownership
Directors are encouraged to own Company shares. The Company’s 
policy is that directors shall not engage in speculative trading. Also, 
directors must inform the Chairman if any Company securities 
are subject to a margin loan. The Company reserves the right to 
disclose this arrangement to the ASX if the Company believes it is 
appropriate having regard to the Listing Rules.
Board meetings
The frequency of board meetings and the extent of reporting from 
management at board meetings are as follows:
• a minimum of six scheduled meetings are to be held per year;
• other meetings will be held as required;
• meetings can be held where practicable by electronic means;
• information provided to the Board includes all material 

information on exploration, development and production 
operations, budgets, forecasts, cash flows, funding requirements, 
investment and divestment proposals, business development 
activities, investor relations, financial accounts, taxation, 
external audits, internal controls, risk assessments, people and 
health, safety and environmental reports and statistics;

• the Chairman of the appropriate board committee reports to the 
next subsequent board meeting the outcomes of that meeting and 
the minutes of those committee meetings are also tabled.

The Board considers that on application of the above guidelines the status of the independence of directors is as follows:

  Audit and 
  Governance  People Sustainability
 AWE Board Committee Committee Committee

independent directors

Mr B.J. Phillips1 Chairman – Member –
Mr D.I. McEvoy Member Member – Chairman
Mr A.J Hogendijk Member Chairman Member –
Mr K.G. Williams Member Member Chairman –
Dr V. Braach-Maksvytis Member – Member Member
Mr R.J. Betros Member – – Member
executive director

Mr B.F.W Clement Managing Director – – –
1 –  Mr Bruce Phillips was previously Managing Director of the Company up to 31 August 2007, remained as an employee until 31 December 2007 and was appointed a non-executive 

director on 19 November 2009 and non-executive Chairman on 18 November 2010. The Board considers Mr Phillips is independent since it has been in excess of three years since 
Mr Phillips held an executive role with the Company and that there has been significant change in the composition of the senior executive committee of the Company since that time.
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People Committee

The roles and responsibilities of the People Committee are 
documented in a charter approved by the Board and are more fully 
disclosed in the Remuneration Report.

For details in relation to the Company’s Share Rights Plan and 
Share Option Plan, refer to note 20 to the Financial Statements and 
to the Remuneration Report.

For details of remuneration paid to directors and senior 
executives for the financial year and the process for evaluating 
the performance of senior executives, please refer to the 
Remuneration Report. The Remuneration Report is included in 
the Directors’ Report on pages 38 to 48.

The People Committee comprises Mr Ken Williams 
(Chairman), Mr Bruce Phillips, Mr Andy Hogendijk and Dr Vijoleta 
Braach-Maksvytis all of whom are non-executive and are 
considered to be independent at the date of this report.
Sustainability Committee

The role of the Sustainability Committee is documented in a 
charter approved by the Board and is reviewed on at least an 
annual basis.

The Sustainability Committee’s role is to assist the Board in 
meeting its oversight responsibilities in relation to the health, 
safety, sustainability, integrity and community relations aspects of 
the Company’s operations.

The responsibilities of the Sustainability Committee are:
• Corporate responsibility:

–  Monitoring of compliance with and suggested changes to the 
Company’s policies and procedures in respect of responsible 
and ethical business dealings.

• Occupational health and safety (“OHS”)
–  Review of the management of OHS risks and issues; and
–  Monitoring of the Company’s OHS performance and 

compliance with the relevant OHS legislation.
• Sustainability

–  Review of the management of environmental risks and issues;
–  Monitoring of the Company’s environmental reporting 

requirements and processes and compliance with relevant 
legislation; and

–  Review of and recommendation for approval of the annual 
Sustainability Report.

• Operational risk
–  In accordance with the Company’s Risk Policy, review of the 

management of the material operational risk factors associated 
with the Company’s equity/participatory interests in oil and 
gas exploration, development and production projects and 
operations; and

–  In accordance with the Company’s Risk Policy, overseeing the 
appropriateness of risk mitigation measures identified for 
these material operational risks.

The Sustainability Committee will be comprised of not less than 
three non-executive directors, and where possible, the majority of 
members will have significant experience in oil and gas operations.

The members of the Sustainability Committee are Mr David 
McEvoy (Chairman), Dr Vijoleta Braach-Makvytis and Mr 
Raymond Betros.

The number of Sustainability Committee meetings and 
the number of meetings attended by each of the members of 
the Sustainability Committee during the financial year and 
information regarding committee member experience and 
responsibilities are set out in the Directors’ Report.

• improve the credibility and objectivity of the accountability 
process (including financial reporting), especially where the role 
of the Audit and Governance Committee and its membership by 
independent non-executive directors is disclosed to shareholders 
and the public;

• provide a forum for communication between the Board and 
senior financial management;

• improve the efficiency of the Board by delegating tasks to 
the Committee and thus allowing more time for issues to be 
discussed in sufficient depth;

• improve the effectiveness of the external audit functions and to 
be a forum for improving communication between the Board and 
the external auditor;

• satisfy itself as to the independence of the external auditor (each 
reporting period the external auditor provides an independence 
declaration in relation to the audit or review); and

• improve the quality of internal and external reporting of 
financial information.

Under its charter, the Audit and Governance Committee must 
be comprised of at least three independent non-executive Board 
members appointed by the Board. Any director who is not a 
member of the Audit and Governance Committee, may attend 
Audit and Governance Committee meetings but will have no voting 
powers at such meetings. Members will have the appropriate 
skills (including financial literacy) and time to fill their role on 
the Audit and Governance Committee. The majority of members 
will have significant experience with financial and business 
matters. The Managing Director should not be a member of the 
Audit and Governance Committee. The Chairperson of the Board 
of Directors should not be the Chairperson of the Audit and 
Governance Committee.

At the discretion of the Audit and Governance Committee, the 
external auditor and the Managing Director and other executives 
are invited to attend meetings. At least once a year, the Audit and 
Governance Committee meets with the external auditor without 
executives present. The Audit and Governance Committee 
comprises Mr Andy Hogendijk (Chairman), Mr David McEvoy and 
Mr Ken Williams, all of whom are non-executive and considered 
to be independent. Meetings are to be scheduled prior to the 
commencement of each financial year and the charter stipulates 
that meetings are to be held at least three times a year. The number 
of Audit and Governance Committee meetings and number of 
meetings attended by each of the members of the Audit and 
Governance Committee during the financial year and information 
regarding committee member experience and responsibilities are 
set out in the Directors’ Report.

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer 
have declared in writing to the Board that the Company and 
consolidated entity’s financial reports for the year ended 30 June 
2013 present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of 
the Company and consolidated entity’s financial condition and 
operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting 
standards. This representation is made by the Managing Director 
and Chief Financial Officer prior to the directors’ approval of 
the release of both the annual and six-monthly accounts. This 
representation is made after enquiry of, and representation by, 
appropriate levels of management (refer also to Risk Management 
section for declaration made in respect of risk management).
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locations to ensure the Company, and its staff, fully comprehend 
and maximise the benefits of the policy.

Further details on the Company’s business ethics is provided 
in the Company’s 2013 Sustainability Report.
trading in company securities by directors, officers and 

employees

Trading of AWE’s shares is covered by, amongst other things, 
the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. The Board has 
established a Securities Trading Policy that establishes strict 
guidelines as to when a director, officer or an employee can deal in 
Company shares. The policy prohibits trading in the Company’s 
securities during designated blackout periods, particularly around 
quarterly, six monthly and annual results announcements and 
whilst the director, officer or employee is in the possession of price-
sensitive information.

The policy also describes the Company’s policy in respect of 
equity-based remuneration, “hedge contracts”, speculative trading 
and margin lending. This policy is reviewed by the Board on an 
annual basis with any material changes being notified to ASX. 
A revised Securities Trading Policy was adopted during the period.

For details of shares held by directors and officers, please refer 
to the Directors’ Report and note 31 to the financial statements.
diversity

AWE values workforce diversity as it provides a skilled and 
broadly experienced talent pool of people that gives the Company 
a competitive advantage in every country in which it conducts 
business. AWE recognises and values the unique contribution 
people can make due to their individual backgrounds, different skill 
sets, experiences and perspectives. Such value results from a range 
of factors including gender, ethnicity, culture, language, religious 
beliefs, sexual orientation, age and physical ability.

AWE first adopted a Diversity Policy in June 2011. Its aim is to 
continue to develop a diverse and flexible workforce that possesses 
the required competencies and expertise to enable the Company to 
achieve its strategic goals while maintaining a key focus on seeking 
and supporting, where possible, greater gender diversification 
in the workplace.

AWE and the Board continue to focus on their commitment 
to further develop diversity within a merit based culture for all 
employees and management.

aSx prinCiple 3 – promote etHiCal and reSponSiBle 

deCiSion-makinG

Code of Conduct

The goal of establishing AWE as a significant Australian-based 
petroleum exploration and production company is underpinned 
by its core values of honesty, integrity, common sense and 
respect for people. AWE desires to remain a good corporate 
citizen and appropriately balance, protect and preserve all 
stakeholders’ interests.

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct for directors, 
employees and contractors of the Company. The Company’s goal 
of achieving above average wealth creation for our shareholders 
should be enhanced by complying with this Code of Conduct, 
which provides principles with which directors, key executives and 
employees should be familiar and with which they are expected to 
adhere and advocate.

AWE is committed to conducting its business fairly, 
honourably, with integrity and in compliance with the law 
in all jurisdictions where it operates, including applicable 
anti-bribery and corruption legislation. We are committed to 
ensuring that our employees and contractors act ethically and 
professionally and recognise the value in developing and fostering 
a culture of corporate compliance, ethical behaviour and good 
corporate governance.

In meeting this objective AWE has updated and implemented 
a range of policies that provide clear guidance to AWE’s directors, 
employees and contractors on the standards of behaviour that 
is expected at all times when dealing with internal and external 
stakeholders including suppliers, joint venture partners, 
governments officials and regulators. The new policies include 
a Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy, Whistleblower Policy 
and a Procurement Policy and have replaced AWE’s Business 
Conduct Policy.

Given the Company’s expanding international operations, 
during the financial year a thorough review of the Company’s 
processes and procedures in the area of fraud and corruption 
prevention was undertaken and independent training was provided 
to the Board and to management. Further, independent advice was 
sought in the development and implementation of appropriate 
policies and procedures to apply to the Company’s operations.

To implement these policies over the next year, AWE plans 
comprehensive staff training at all of the various operating 
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The following table shows the comparative gender representation of men and women at various levels within AWE year on year as at 
30 June.

Gender representation of AWE’s workforce

No. 

males 

2012

No. 

males 

2013

% 

males 

2012

% 

males 

2013

No.  

females 

2012

No.  

females 

2013

% 

females 

2012

% 

females 

2013

Non-executive 
Directors

5 5 83 83 1 1 17 17

Senior Executives1 4 6 80 86 1 1 20 14
Senior manager/
technical and 
professional

24 42 83 79 5 11 17 21

Technical and 
professional

17 39 61 72 11 15 39 28

Support staff 10 10 30 27 23 27 70 73
Total workforce 60 102 59 65 41 55 41 35

For the purposes of both the above statistics, AWE defines “workforce” as all full-time, part-time and temporary employees and 
independent contractors.

1 –  Includes Managing Director.
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• To recruit and retain people on the basis of their ability and 
performance regardless of factors such as age, cultural, ethnic or 
religious background, gender, nationality, physical ability or race.

• Never to accept any type of unlawful bullying, discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation or vilification anywhere in the 
AWE group.

• While retaining a merit based culture for all staff across 
the organisation, a key focus is to seek and support, where 
possible, greater gender diversification in AWE operations 
and management.

• To support staff in their professional development, with 
work-life balance, and with their career progression within 
the organisation.

• At least annually, to review pay equity to address any anomalies 
and any gender gaps.

• To undertake and monitor diversity initiatives and measure their 
effectiveness at least annually.

• To review the Diversity Policy regularly and update it as required.

• Female staff continue to be represented at all levels within AWE.
• A 55% increase in the overall workforce to 30 June 2013 due 

mainly to the growth of AWE’s Indonesian business.
• Despite a slightly lower female representation across the 

Company, at the Senior Manager/Technical and Professional 
level the actual number of female staff has more than doubled, 
resulting in an increase from 17% to 21%.

• AWE has a culture of supporting work-life balance and amongst 
its female staff at Senior Technical and Professional and 
Technical and Professional levels, 30% of female staff have 
flexible working arrangements for either working from home for 
some of the time, or by working part-time employment.

• AWE also continually reviews pay equity to ensure alignment of 
pay for the same roles irrespective of gender.

In order to assess and measure objectives for achieving 
diversity across the organisation, the Board established the 
following commitments:

The measurable gender diversity objectives set by the Board for 2013 are outlined below together with a report on progress towards 
achieving these objectives.

Objectives for 2013 Initiatives
Progress in achieving 
the objective

Increase the percentage of female 
directorship on the Board over the 
next three years.

Female candidates to be actively considered for any director 
vacancies that may arise.

No further change to 
the composition of the 
AWE Board.
Ongoing.

A medium term goal (3–5 years) is to be 
equal to, or better than, AWE’s peer group 
with respect to its gender diversity mix 
across the organisation.

A comparison on gender split across AWE and its peers (see 
graph below) demonstrates that AWE is currently tracking in 
the top 3 of 14 with 41% of the workforce being female.

Achieved in 2013 
and ongoing.

Increase the number of female senior 
managers within its organisation 
through appropriate succession planning 
and recruitment.

Female staff continue to be represented at all levels within 
the Company.

A female Senior Technical and Professional employee 
was promoted to Senior Manager level after accepting the 
opportunity to relocate to WA and take on a regional role.

Several new Senior Technical and Professional positions 
were filled by women during the last financial year including:
• Human Resources Manager (Sydney)
• Reservoir Engineer (Sydney)
• Procurement Manager (Jakarta)
• Development Relations Manager (Jakarta)
• Senior Geologist (Jakarta)

Achieved in 2013 
and ongoing.

Increase the number of female graduates 
joining the Company in the engineering 
and G & G disciplines.

To raise awareness of the industry AWE is the premier sponsor 
of UNSW Engineering Society and is the silver sponsor of the 
UNSW Geoscience Faculty.

Not achieved.

Support further education opportunities 
for employees, including women, in 
support of their career progression to 
more senior positions.

Active participation in university career and social 
events including sponsorship.

A female employee, who first joined the Company as 
an office co-ordinator before being promoted to Technical 
Assistant in the exploration group, was sponsored to undertake 
a Masters Degree in Geoscience at Macquarie University. She 
completed her Masters passing with Distinction.

An executive leadership course was provided to the female 
employee ahead of being promoted to a regional manager role 
in WA to assist her with transitioning to Senior Manager level 
with AWE.

Achieved and ongoing.

Additional objectives for 2014 Initiatives

Roll out Discrimination, Harassment 
and Bullying Policy that will include 
affirmative action to promote diversity 
and equal opportunity for women within 
the organisation.

Target training for all staff members.
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aSx prinCiple 5 – make timelY and BalanCed diSCloSure

The Board is committed to the promotion of investor confidence in 
the Company by ensuring that trading in the Company’s securities 
takes place in a fully informed and efficient market. The Company 
has in place policies and procedures that are designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements 
and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that 
compliance. This disclosure policy includes processes for the 
identification of matters that may have a material effect on the 
price of the Company’s securities, notifying such matters to the 
ASX on a timely basis and posting these ASX releases immediately 
on the Company’s website.

Briefings with investors and analysts are held regularly 
and processes are in place to ensure that any price sensitive 
information included in such presentations is first made available 
to the market. The Company maintains a summary for internal 
use of issues discussed at briefings with investors and analysts, 
including a record of those present and the time and place of 
the meeting.

The Company has in place a formal Disclosure Policy which 
contains detailed processes for ensuring compliance with ASX 
continuous disclosure and periodic disclosure requirements. This 
policy is reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

aSx prinCiple 6 – reSpeCt tHe riGHtS oF SHareHolderS

Shareholder communications

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders and investors have 
equal access to the Company’s information.

The Company also has a strategy to promote effective 
communication with shareholders and encourage effective 
participation at general meetings through a policy of open 
disclosure to shareholders, regulatory authorities and the broader 
community of all material information with respect to the 
Company’s affairs including, but not limited to:
• conflicts of interest and related party transactions;
• executive remuneration;
• grant of options and share rights;
• external directorships;
• process for performance evaluation of the Board, its committees, 

and senior executives;
• the link between remuneration paid to the Managing Director 

and senior executives and corporate performance; and
• shorter, more comprehensible notices of meetings.
The following information is communicated to shareholders:
• the Annual Report and notices of meetings of shareholders 

including the ability to lodge proxy votes electronically;
• for those shareholders not electing to be mailed a copy of the 

Annual Report, a copy can be viewed on the Company’s website;
• all documents that are released to the ASX are made immediately 

available on the Company’s website and via the website, 
shareholders may elect to receive notification of all ASX releases;

• the Company webcasts key events such as profit results and 
Annual General Meetings;

• all relevant shareholder information is made available on the 
Company’s website including past ASX releases, annual reports, 
quarterly reports, investor presentations and information on the 
Company’s operational activities; and

• all operational information on the Company’s website is updated 
at least quarterly.

Further, all the material policies adopted by the Company are available 
in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website.

It should be noted that diversity refers to other factors beyond 
gender and the Company is proud of its achievements in other 
areas of diversity. The Company’s Diversity Policy includes a 
commitment to recruit and retain people regardless of factors such 
as age, cultural, ethnic or religious background, gender, nationality, 
physical ability or race. Further information on the Company’s 
progress towards achieving an appropriate diversity mix will be 
provided in the Company’s Sustainability Report.

aSx prinCiple 4 – SaFeGuard inteGritY 

in FinanCial reportinG

The Board is committed to ensuring that the Company’s financial 
reports present a true and fair view of the Company’s financial 
position that comply with relevant accounting standards.

It is the responsibility of the Audit and Governance 
Committee to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities for 
financial reporting and to ensure that appropriate internal controls 
are in place. For full details on the roles and responsibilities of 
the Audit and Governance Committee and the processes in place 
for safeguarding the integrity of the financial reporting processes 
please refer to commentary on the Audit and Governance 
Committee in Principle 2 above.

Corporate GovernanCe Statement
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The organisation’s approach to risk management aligns with the 
Australian/New Zealand Standard for Risk Management (AS/NZS 
4360). For more information on how the Company implements 
risk management, please refer to the Risk Policy which can be 
found on AWE’s website. This policy was revised in October 2012.

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer have 
declared in writing to the Board that financial reporting risk 
management and associated compliance and controls have been 
assessed and found to be operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks and such other 
risks as specified by the Board. This representation is made by 
the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer prior to the 
directors’ approval of the release of the annual and half-yearly 
accounts. This representation is made after enquiry of, and 
representation by, appropriate levels of management.
Sustainability and environment

The Board and management are committed to developing and 
building a sustainable business, ensuring that the Company is an 
active and responsible member of the communities in which we 
operate. Employees and contractors are encouraged to personally 
support and implement the sustainability initiatives being pursued 
by the Company and to contribute to identifying opportunities to 
further improve our performance.

The Company’s commitment to sustainability is more fully 
detailed in the 2013 Sustainability Report.
reserves reporting

The Company has formed a Reserves Committee reporting to the 
Managing Director with the role of monitoring:
• The integrity of the reporting of the Company’s oil and gas 

reserves and resources (“reserves”);
• Compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory 

requirements with respect to reserves, especially in respect to 
revised ASX rules effective December 2013;

• The discharge of the Company’s responsibilities with respect to 
annual and interim reviews of the Company’s reserves; and

• The Company’s procedures with respect to the engagement of 
independent reserves evaluators.

aSx prinCiple 8 – remunerate FairlY and reSponSiBlY

The Company is committed to adopting remuneration 
practices that:
• Align the interests of employees and shareholders;
• Attract and retain suitably qualified employees; and
• Motivate employees to achieve superior performance.
It is the responsibility of the People Committee to assist the 
Board in achieving these objectives. For full details on the roles 
and responsibilities of the People Committee and the Company’s 
remuneration practices please refer to the commentary on the 
People Committee in Principle 2 above and to the Company’s 
Remuneration Report.

aSx prinCiple 7 – reCoGniSe and manaGe riSk

risk management

AWE recognises the need to proactively manage the risks and 
opportunities associated with both day-to-day operations of the 
organisation and its longer term strategic objectives. AWE seeks to 
ensure the following through its risk management framework:
• Risks are well understood and managed proactively by those in 

the organisation best able to deal with them.
• Staff are actively involved in risk management activities. Time is 

taken to discuss and explore risk issues with colleagues that may 
not otherwise be addressed as part of day-to-day management.

• Risk reporting provides insight, accountability, and a trigger for 
escalation of significant risk issues.

• Consistent use of language and risk scales across the organisation 
enables prioritisation and comparison of risks arising from 
different functional areas.

• The organisation constantly strives to achieve effective risk 
management practices through adherence to risk management 
standards, while retaining an adaptive approach that evolves to 
meet the needs of the organisation.

While every person in the organisation has responsibility for 
managing risk effectively, there are specific responsibilities 
for providing oversight to ensure that risks are being managed 
appropriately as follows:
• The Board and delegated Board committees are responsible 

for oversight of risk management activities within AWE. On 
an annual basis the Board also undertakes a full review of the 
material business risks facing the organisation.

• The AWE Executive Committee is responsible for reviewing 
summarised risk registers and preparing consolidated risk 
reports of significant risk issues arising for inclusion in papers 
submitted to the Board and relevant Board committees.

• AWE management are responsible for ensuring that each 
functional area they oversee has identified, assessed and are 
proactively managing risks appropriately. Each functional area 
must maintain a live risk register for documenting the results of 
this risk management process.

The Board has identified the following major sources of material 
business risks for the organisation:

Risk category Overseen by Type of impact

Strategic AWE Board Financial 
Reputational

Operational Sustainability Committee Safety
Environmental
Financial
Reputational

Corporate and 
Governance

Audit and Governance 
Committee

Financial
Reputational

External Board oversight but 
generally assumed 
shareholders accept 
these risks

Financial
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aSx Corporate GovernanCe prinCipleS and reCommendationS

The table below identifies the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd Edition) and whether or not the Company 
has complied with the recommendations during the reporting period:

Complied

1.1 Establish the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to senior management and disclose those functions ✓

1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives ✓

1.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 1 ✓

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors ✓

2.2 The chair should be an independent director ✓

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same individual ✓

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee1

2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees and individual directors ✓

2.6 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2
3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:

•  the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity
•  the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders
•  the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices

✓

3.2 Establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose or a summary of that policy which should include requirements for 
the board to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity for the board to assess annually both the 
objectives and progress in achieving them

✓

3.3 Disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the board in accordance 
with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving them

✓

3.4 Disclose in each annual report the proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, in senior executive 
positions and on the board

✓

3.5 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 3 ✓

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee ✓

4.2 Structure the audit committee so that it consists of:
•  only non-executive directors
•  a majority of independent directors
•  an independent chair, who is not chair of the board
•  at least three members

✓

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter ✓

4.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 4 ✓

5.1 Establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies

✓

5.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 5 ✓

6.1 Design a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of that policy

✓

6.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 6 ✓

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and disclose a 
summary of those policies

✓

7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the risk management and internal control system to 
manage the company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being managed effectively. The 
board should disclose that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s management of its 
material business risks

✓

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief 
financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 
is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in 
relation to financial reporting risks

✓

7.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 7 ✓

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee ✓

8.2 The remuneration committee should be structured so that it:
•  consists of a majority of independent directors
•  is chaired by an independent chair
•  has at least three members

✓

8.3 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors and 
senior executives

✓

8.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 8 ✓

1 –  The Board of Directors of the Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board is of the opinion that due to the relatively small size of the Company’s Board and the 
specialised nature of the upstream oil and gas industry it is appropriate that the functions performed by a nomination committee be handled by the full Board.
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These financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of AWE Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial statements are 
presented in the Australian currency.
AWE Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:
Level 16, 40 Mount Street
North Sydney NSW 2060
Australia
A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the review of operations and 
activities in the Directors’ Report on pages 28 to 36, which is not part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 27 August 2013.
We have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely and complete through posting all press releases, financial reports and other 
information are available at our Investors’ Centre on our website: www.awexplore.com
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  30 JUNE 30 JUNE 
  2013 2012 
 NOTE $'000 $'000

Revenue 2 301,774 299,727
COST OF SALES 3 (220,862) (190,232)

Gross profit  80,912 109,495
Other income 4 2,930 18,077
Administration expenses  (10,703) (10,227)
Exploration and evaluation expenses  (9,735) (36,477)
Impairment of oil and gas assets  – (138,151)
Share-based payments 5 (2,553) (1,571)
results from operating activities  60,851 (58,854)
Finance income  912 4,283
Finance costs  (10,332) (8,565)
Net finance costs 6 (9,420) (4,282)
profit before tax  51,431 (63,136)
Income tax (expense)/benefit 7 (14,913) 16,276
Royalty related taxation expense 7 (16,481) (19,636)
profit for the year  20,037 (66,496)
profit attributable to members of the Company  20,037 (66,496)

  Cents Cents

Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents) 8 3.84 (12.74)
Diluted earnings per ordinary share (cents) 8 3.79 (12.74)

The above consolidated income statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

ConSolidated inCome Statement  
for the year ended 30 june 2013
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  30 JUNE 30 JUNE 
  2013 2012 
  $'000 $'000

profit/(loss) for the year  20,037 (66,496)
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations  11,776 5,333
Net change in available-for-sale financial assets to date of sale  – 2,511
Net change in available-for-sale financial assets transferred to profit or loss  – (13,602)
Income tax relating to other comprehensive income  – 873
other comprehensive income/(loss) (net of income tax)  11,776 (4,885)
total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  31,813 (71,381)
total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company  31,813 (71,381)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

ConSolidated Statement oF CompreHenSive inCome  
for the year ended 30 june 2013
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ConSolidated Statement oF FinanCial poSition  
as at 30 june 2013

  30 JUNE  30 JUNE
  2013 2012
 NOTE $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11 41,131 42,759
Trade and other receivables 12 60,769 42,415
Inventory 13 5,227 7,616
total current assets  107,127 92,790
non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 12 4,980 3,197
Exploration and evaluation assets 14 111,034 84,154
Oil and gas assets 15 926,782 847,026
Other property, plant and equipment 16 1,611 1,887
Intangible assets 17 52 133
Deferred tax assets 23 27,974 32,821
total non-current assets  1,072,433 969,218
total assets  1,179,560 1,062,008
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 48,712 60,762
Employee benefits 20 3,957 1,146
Provisions 21 20,169 8,921
Taxation payable 22 18,337 17,746
total current liabilities  91,175 88,575
non-current liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities 19 75,885 12,877
Employee benefits 20 346 536
Provisions 21 123,183 104,998
total non-current liabilities  199,414 118,411
total liabilities  290,589 206,986
net assets  888,971 855,022
equity

Issued capital 24 772,172 772,172
Reserves  22,845 8,933
Retained profits  93,954 73,917
total equity  888,971 855,022

The above consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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ConSolidated Statement oF CaSH FlowS  
for the year ended 30 june 2013

  30 JUNE  30 JUNE
  2013 2012
 NOTE $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts in the course of operations  311,153 310,721
Cash payments in the course of operations  (147,366) (141,419)
Payments for exploration and evaluation expenses  (12,039) (24,576)
Interest received  939 3,688
Borrowing costs paid  (6,502) (6,824)
Income tax received/(paid)  (9,160) (6,903)
Royalty related taxation paid  (18,835) (10,819)
net cash provided by operating activities 28 118,190 123,868
Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of assets inclusive of debt assumed for Northwest Natuna  – (135,157)
Exploration and evaluation assets initially capitalised  (22,947) (8,237)
Oil and gas assets  (151,867) (152,442)
Other plant and equipment and intangibles  (1,080) (515)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets  – 16,930
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  114 91,866
net cash used in investing activities  (175,780) (187,555)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings  85,200 57,722
Repayment of borrowings  (28,926) (42,139)
Dividends paid 24 – (26,094)
(Payments)/release of security deposits  – (4,876)
net cash provided/(used in) by financing activities  56,274 (15,387)
net decrease in cash held  (1,316) (79,074)
Cash at the beginning of the year  42,759 117,168
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the balances of cash  
held in foreign currencies 30 (312) 4,665
Cash at the end of the year 11 41,131 42,759

The above consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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  Equity   
  compen-  Fair  
 Share sation Translation value Retained Total 
 capital reserve reserve reserve earnings equity
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 july 2011 772,172 9,596 (7,567) 10,218 166,507 950,926
loss for the year – – – – (66,496) (66,496)
other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences  
for foreign operations – – 5,333 – – 5,333
Net change in available-for-sale financial assets – – – 2,511 – 2,511
Net change in available-for-sale financial assets  
transferred to profit and loss – – – (12,729) – (12,729)
total other comprehensive income – – 5,333 (10,218) – (4,885)
total comprehensive income for the year – – 5,333 (10,218) (66,496) (71,381)
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions by and distributions to members:
Dividends to equity holders – – – – (26,094) (26,094)
Share Option Plan – 29 – – – 29
Share Rights Plan – 1,542 – – – 1,542

Balance at 30 june 2012 772,172 11,167 (2,234) – 73,917 855,022

profit for the year – – – – 20,037 20,037
other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences  
for foreign operations – – 11,776 – – 11,776
total other comprehensive income – – 11,776 – – 11,776
total comprehensive income for the year – – 11,776 – 20,037 31,813
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions by and distributions to members:
Share Rights Plan – 2,136 – – – 2,136

Balance at 30 june 2013 772,172 13,303 9,542 – 93,954 888,971

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

ConSolidated Statement oF CHanGeS in eQuitY  
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1. Statement oF SiGniFiCant aCCountinG poliCieS

AWE Limited (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in 
Australia. The consolidated financial statements of the Company 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 comprises the 
Company and its controlled entities (together referred to as the 
“consolidated entity”).
(a) Basis of preparation

(i) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (“AASs”) (including Australian 
Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (“AASB”) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated 
financial statements also comply with IFRS and interpretations 
issued but not yet adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.

The accounting policies set out in this note 1 have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements. Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to 
conform with the current year’s presentation.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the directors on 27 August 2013.
(ii) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Australian Dollars, 
which is the Company’s functional currency and the functional 
currency of the majority of controlled entities within the 
consolidated entity.

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, 
issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission 
(“ASIC”), relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial 
statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been 
rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest 
thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.
(iii) Basis of measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis 
except that derivative financial instruments and available for sale 
financial assets are stated at their fair value.
(iv) Uses of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The most significant estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
relate to:

Exploration and evaluation assets

The consolidated entity’s accounting policy for exploration and 
evaluation expenditure is set out at Note 1 (k). The application 
of this policy necessarily requires management to make certain 
estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances, 
in particular, the assessment of whether economic quantities of 
reserves have been found. Any such estimates and assumptions 
may change as new information becomes available. If, after having 
capitalised expenditure under this policy, management concludes 
that the capitalised expenditure is unlikely to be recovered 
by future exploitation or sale, then the relevant capitalised 
amount will be written off to the income statement. Changes in 
assumptions may result in a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of exploration and evaluation assets.
Restoration obligations

The consolidated entity estimates the future removal costs of 
production facilities and wells at the time of installation of the 
assets. In most instances, removal of assets occurs many years 
into the future. This requires judgemental assumptions regarding 
removal date, future environmental legislation, the extent of 
reclamation activities required, the engineering methodology 
for estimating cost, future removal technologies in determining 
the removal cost, and asset specific discount rates to determine 
the present value of these cash flows. The consolidated entity’s 
accounting policy for restoration obligations is set out at Note 1(q).
Reserve estimates

Estimates of recoverable quantities of proven and probable 
reserves reported include assumptions regarding commodity 
prices, exchange rates, discount rates, production and 
transportation costs for future cash flows. It also requires 
interpretation of complex and difficult geological and geophysical 
models in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth 
and quality of reservoirs and their anticipated recoveries. The 
economic, geological and technical factors used to estimate 
reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported 
reserves can impact asset carrying values, the provision for 
restoration and the recognition of deferred tax assets, due to 
changes in expected future cash flows. Reserves are integral to 
the amount of depreciation and amortisation charged to the 
income statement.
Impairment of oil and gas assets

The consolidated entity assesses whether oil and gas assets 
are impaired when preparing its annual and interim financial 
statements. Estimates of the recoverable amount of oil and gas 
assets are made based on the present value of future cash flows.
Income taxes

The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in Australia 
and jurisdictions where it has foreign operations. Significant 
judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision 
for income taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations 
undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity 
estimates its tax liabilities based on the consolidated entity’s 
understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination 
is made.
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(c) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for 
all business combinations, including business combinations 
involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 
comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the consolidated 
entity. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value 
of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value 
of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at 
their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the consolidated entity recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net 
identifiable assets.

The excess of total consideration transferred over the fair 
value of the consolidated entity’s share of the net identifiable 
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less 
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary 
acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, 
the difference is recognised directly in the income statement. 
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the 
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value 
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under 
comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a 
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are 
subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss.
(d) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
end of the reporting period are translated at the foreign exchange 
rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair 
value was determined.
(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including 
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are 
translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling 
at the end of the reporting period. The revenues and expenses of 
foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at rates 
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation 
are recognised directly in a separate component of equity.
(iii) Presentation of foreign exchange gains and losses in the 

income statement

The consolidated entity presents its foreign exchange gains 
and losses within net financing income/expense in the 
income statement.

Share-based payment transactions

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled 
transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity investments at the date on which they are granted.
(b) Basis of consolidation

(i) Controlled entities

Controlled entities are entities controlled by the Company. Control 
exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, 
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential 
voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken 
into account. The financial statements of controlled entities are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of 
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of financial position respectively.
(ii) Jointly controlled operations and assets

The interests of the Company and of the consolidated entity in 
unincorporated joint ventures and jointly controlled assets are 
brought to account by recognising in the financial statements the 
proportionate share of the assets they control, the liabilities and 
expenses they incur, and their share of the income that they earn 
from the sale of goods or services by the joint venture.
(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income 
and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
(iv) Changes in ownership interests

The consolidated entity treats transactions with non-controlling 
interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with 
equity owners of the consolidated entity. A change in ownership 
interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts 
of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their 
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the 
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve 
within equity attributable to owners of AWE Limited.

When the consolidated entity ceases to have control, joint 
control or significant influence, any retained interest in the 
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying 
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial 
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for 
the retained interest as an associate, jointly controlled entity or 
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the consolidated entity had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to the income statement.

If the ownership interest in a jointly-controlled entity or an 
associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is 
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the 
income statement where appropriate.
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(h) inventory

Oil inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is determined on an average basis and includes 
production costs and amortisation of producing oil and gas assets.

Other inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in 
first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring 
the inventories and bringing them to their existing location 
and condition.
(i) investments and other financial assets

(i) Classification

The consolidated entity classifies its financial assets in the 
following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and 
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, 
re-evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as fair value through profit or loss 
if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as such upon 
initial recognition. A financial asset is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 
term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they 
are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as 
current assets.
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for those with 
maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting period which 
are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are 
included in trade and other receivables (note 12) in the statement 
of financial position.
(ii) Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” category are 
presented in profit or loss within other income or other expenses 
in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit 
or loss as part of revenue from continuing operations when the 
consolidated entity’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated 
in a foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are 
analysed between translation differences resulting from changes 
in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the 
carrying amount of the security. The translation differences 
related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit 
or loss, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of other 
monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-
sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.

(e) impairment

The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the consolidated 
entity’s assets, other than inventories (refer note 1(h)) and deferred 
tax assets (refer note 1(t)), are reviewed at the end of the reporting 
period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 
is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount.
Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair 
value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent 
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 
if no impairment loss had been recognised.
(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call 
deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the consolidated entity’s cash management 
are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows.
(g) trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables 
are generally due for settlement between 14 and 30 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off 
by reducing the carrying amount directly. An allowance account 
(provision for impairment of trade receivables) is used when 
there is objective evidence that the consolidated entity will not 
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The 
amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash 
flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the 
effect of discounting is immaterial.

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss within other expenses. When a trade receivable for which an 
impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectable 
in a subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against other expenses in profit or loss.

1. Statement oF SiGniFiCant aCCountinG 

poliCieS (Continued)



66 awe limited annual report 2013

noteS to tHe ConSolidated FinanCial StatementS  
for the year ended 30 june 2013

separately considered as a component, the replacement value 
is used to estimate the carrying amount of the replaced assets 
which is immediately written off. All other maintenance costs are 
expensed as incurred.
(ii) Other plant and equipment

The cost of other plant and equipment is stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Costs include:
(i) the initial estimate at the time of installation and during the 

period of use, when relevant, of the costs of dismantling and 
removing the items, and

(ii) changes in the measurement of existing liabilities recognised 
for these costs resulting from changes in the timing or outflow 
of resources required to settle the obligation or from changes 
in the discount rate.

Other plant and equipment is depreciated using the straight line 
method over its estimated useful life. The depreciation rates used 
for other plant and equipment are in the range 5% to 27% (2012: 
5% to 27%).
(k) exploration and evaluation

Exploration and evaluation costs are accumulated in respect of 
each separate area of interest and are accounted for using the 
successful efforts method of accounting. An area of interest is 
usually represented by an individual oil or gas field.

The cost of acquisition of joint venture interests, successful 
drilling costs and costs incurred in relation to feasibility studies 
and the technical evaluation of a potential development are carried 
forward where right to tenure of the area of interest is current 
and they are expected to be recouped through sale or successful 
development and exploitation of the area of interest, or where the 
assessment to determine the existence of economically recoverable 
reserves for a potential development in an area of interest is not yet 
complete. Exploration licence acquisition is subject to impairment 
testing annually. Where potential impairment is indicated, 
assessment is performed for each area of interest to which the 
exploration and evaluation expenditure is attributed. To the extent 
that capitalised expenditure is not expected to be recovered it is 
charged to the income statement.

All other exploration and evaluation costs, including pre-
licence costs are expensed as incurred.
(l) Capitalised borrowing costs

Borrowing costs relating to oil and gas assets under development 
up to the date of commencement of operations are capitalised 
as a cost of the development. Where funds are borrowed 
specifically for qualifying projects the actual borrowing costs 
incurred are capitalised. Where the projects are funded through 
general borrowings the borrowing costs are capitalised based 
on the weighted average borrowing rate. Other borrowing costs 
are expensed.
(m) intangible assets

The costs of computer software and loan establishment fees are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Amortisation on 
computer software is calculated on a straight-line basis over 2.5 
years. Amortisation on loan establishment fees is calculated on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the loan.
(n) trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial 
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually 
paid within 14 days of recognition.

(i) investments and other financial assets (continued) 

(ii) Subsequent measurement (continued) 

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the 
accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss as gains 
and losses from investment securities.

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments 
is determined are disclosed in note 30.
(iii) Impairment

The consolidated entity assesses at the end of each reporting 
period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-
for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
a security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the 
securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously 
recognised in the income statement – is reclassified from equity 
and recognised in the income statement as a reclassification 
adjustment. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on 
equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not reversed 
through the income statement.

If there is evidence of impairment for any of the consolidated 
entity’s financial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred. The cash flows are 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
The loss is recognised in the income statement.
(j) property, plant and equipment

(i) Oil and gas assets

The cost of oil and gas producing assets and capitalised 
expenditure on oil and gas assets under development are 
accounted for separately and are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Costs include expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the 
item as well as past exploration and evaluation costs. In addition, 
costs include:
(i) the initial estimate at the time of installation and during the 

period of use, when relevant, of the costs of dismantling and 
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located, and

(ii) changes in the measurement of existing liabilities recognised 
for these costs resulting from changes in the timing or outflow 
of resources required to settle the obligation or from changes 
in the discount rate.
When an oil and gas asset commences production, costs 

carried forward will be amortised on a units of production basis 
over the life of the economically recoverable reserves. Changes in 
factors such as estimates of economically recoverable reserves that 
affect amortisation calculations do not give rise to prior financial 
period adjustments and are dealt with on a prospective basis.
Expenditure on major maintenance refits or overhauls comprises 
the cost of replacement assets or parts of assets, inspection costs 
and overhaul costs. Where an asset or part of an asset that was 
separately depreciated and is now written off is replaced and it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated will result, 
the expenditure is capitalised. Where part of the asset was not 
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The total expense in relation to both plans is recognised over the 
vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified 
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, 
the entity revises its estimates of the number of rights and 
options that are expected to vest based on the non-market and 
service related vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the 
revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with 
a corresponding adjustment to equity.
(iv) Superannuation plans

Obligations for contributions to accumulation type 
superannuation plans are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement as incurred.
(q) provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position 
when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
Site restoration

Provisions made for decommissioning, restoration and 
environmental rehabilitation are recognised where there is a 
present obligation as a result of exploration, development or 
production activities having been undertaken, and it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. The estimated future obligations include the 
costs of removing facilities, abandoning wells and restoring the 
affected areas. The provision for future restoration costs is the 
best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the end of each reporting period, based on 
current legal requirements and technology. The ultimate costs are 
uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors 
including changes to relevant legal requirements, the emergence 
of new techniques or experience at other production sites. Future 
restoration costs are reviewed annually and any changes are 
reflected in the present value of the restoration provision at the 
end of the reporting period. The amount of the provision for 
future restoration costs relating to exploration and development 
activities is capitalised as a cost of those activities. If the effect is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money, and where appropriate the 
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of discounting on the 
provision is recognised as a finance cost.
(r) revenue recognition

(i) Sales revenue

Revenue from the sale of oil and gas is recognised in the income 
statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue received during the 
commissioning phase of oil and gas assets is recorded, together 
with the related costs of production, against the capitalised 
carrying value of the asset.

Revenues received under take or pay sales contracts in respect 
of undelivered volumes are accounted for as deferred revenue.
(ii) Other revenues

Other revenues are recognised on an accrual basis and include 
royalty receipts and equipment rental income.

(o) interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair 
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised 
cost with any difference between cost and redemption value 
being recognised in the income statement over the period of the 
borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised 
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the 
fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is 
no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will 
be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as an intangible asset and 
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
(p) employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave

The provisions for employee entitlements to wages, salaries and 
annual leave represents the amount which the consolidated entity 
has a present obligation to pay resulting from employees’ services 
provided up to the end of each reporting period. The provisions 
have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on wage and 
salary rates that the consolidated entity expects to pay and include 
related on-costs.
(ii) Long-term service benefits

Long service leave represents the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made resulting from an employee’s 
services provided to the end of each reporting period. The 
provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage 
and salary rates including related on-costs and expected settlement 
dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates 
attaching to national government securities at balance date which 
most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.
(iii) Share-based payment transactions

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via 
the Employee Share Rights Plan and the legacy Employee Share 
Option Plan. Information relating to these schemes is set out in the 
Remuneration Report as well note 20 of this report.

The fair value of the rights granted is measured using the 
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model, and includes any market 
performance conditions but excludes the impact of any service 
and non-market performance vesting conditions and the impact 
of any non-vesting conditions. The fair value of rights granted is 
recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity or to the extent the share rights are expected to be cash 
settled, with a corresponding increase in liabilities. The Board has 
discretion regarding the settlement of share rights into either AWE 
shares or cash.

The Company no longer issues share options as a method 
of long-term performance remuneration. The fair value of 
options granted was recognised as an employee expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the options 
granted was measured using a modified binomial option pricing 
model, and included any market performance conditions but 
excluded the impact of any service and non-market performance 
vesting conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market and service related vesting conditions are 
included in assumptions about the number of rights and options 
that are expected to vest.
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(ii) Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (“PRRT”) and other 

government royalties

In addition to corporate income taxes, the consolidated financial 
statements also include and disclose certain taxes determined from 
oil and gas production and levied on net income.

Resource rent taxes and government royalties are treated as 
taxation arrangements when they are imposed under Government 
authority and when the calculation of the amount payable falls 
within the definition of “taxable profit” for the purposes of AASB 
112. Current and deferred tax is then provided on the same basis as 
described in (i) above.

Royalty arrangements that do not meet the criteria for 
treatment as a tax are recognised on an accruals basis.

The Australian Government enacted legislation to extend the 
PRRT regime to all onshore oil and gas projects, from 1 July 2012. 
PRRT is applied to onshore and offshore oil and gas projects at a 
rate of 40%. State petroleum royalties will continue to apply to 
projects within state jurisdictions; however these royalties are fully 
creditable against PRRT liabilities. The extended PRRT applies to 
AWE’s Onshore Perth Basin operations.

Disclosures in relation to PRRT for the year ended 30 June 
2013 in the consolidated financial statements are in relation to 
both onshore and offshore oil and gas projects.
(iii) Tax consolidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities 
have formed a tax consolidated group with effect from 1 July 2003 
and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head 
entity within the tax-consolidated group is AWE Limited.

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities 
and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences 
of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised 
in the separate financial statements of the members of the 
tax-consolidated group using a modified stand-alone tax 
allocation methodology.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses of the controlled entities are 
assumed by the head entity in the tax-consolidated group and 
are recognised as amounts payable (receivable) to (from) other 
entities in the tax-consolidated group in conjunction with any tax 
funding arrangements.

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated 
group will be available against which the asset can be utilised. 
Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments 
of the probability of recoverability is recognised by the head 
company only.
(iv) Nature of tax funding and tax sharing arrangements

The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-
consolidated group, has entered into a tax funding arrangement 
which sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax-
consolidated group in respect of tax amounts. The tax funding 
arrangements require payments to/from the head entity equal to 
the current tax liability (asset) assumed by the head entity and any 
tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed by the head entity, resulting 
in the head entity recognising an inter-entity receivable (payable) 
equal in amount to the tax liability (asset) assumed. The inter-
entity receivable (payable) is at call.

(s) leased assets

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the consolidated 
entity, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are 
capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 
charges, are included in other short-term and long-term payables. 
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease 
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, 
plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated 
over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful 
life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that 
the consolidated entity will obtain ownership at the end of the 
lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards 
of ownership are not transferred to the consolidated entity as 
lessee are classified as operating leases and are not recognised on 
the consolidated entity’s statement of financial position. Payments 
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from 
the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease.
(t) taxation

(i) Income tax

Income tax on the income statement comprises current and 
deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for goodwill not deductible for tax 
purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating 
to investments in controlled entities to the extent that they 
will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount 
of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
end of the reporting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of 
dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the 
related dividend.
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Segment results that are reported to the chief operating decision 
maker include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Segment assets include both oil and gas assets, exploration 
assets and other assets, such as cash, receivables and inventory, 
which are directly attributable to the segment.

Unallocated items comprise mainly head office income and 
expenses, foreign exchange gains and losses and corporate assets.
(x) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares, share rights or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, 
share rights or options for the acquisition of a business are not 
included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase 
consideration.

If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, for 
example, as the result of a share buy-back, those instruments are 
deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and the consideration 
paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of 
income taxes) is recognised directly in equity.
(y) dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, 
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion 
of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not 
distributed at the end of the reporting period.
(z) earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.
(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the 
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would 
have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares.

(u) Goods and services tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of goods and services tax (“GST”), except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In 
these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”) is included as a current 
asset or liability in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on 
a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
(v) australian Government’s carbon pricing mechanism

The Australian Government’s Clean Energy Act (CEA) was enacted 
during the 2012 financial year leading to a potential obligation, 
from the 2013 financial year, to acquire and surrender eligible 
emission units in respect of the covered emissions from operated 
and non-operated facilities under AWE’s existing joint venture 
arrangements (or be liable to unit shortfall charges). The net cash 
flows arising from liabilities arising under the CEA have been 
included in operating costs and expected future net cash flows in 
the estimated recoverable amount for assets when assessing their 
carrying values; however the impact on the recoverable amount is 
not material.
(w) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the consolidated entity 
that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses 
that relate to transactions with any of the consolidated entity’s 
other components. An operating segment’s operating results are 
reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess 
its performance, and for which discrete financial information 
is available.
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new accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2013 reporting 
periods. The consolidated entity has not elected to early adopt any pronouncements before their operative date in the current reporting 
period ended 30 June 2013. The consolidated entity’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set 
out below.

title of standard and 

application date1 nature of amendment and impact on awe limited

aaSB 10

Consolidated Financial 

Statements

This standard has an effective 
application date for AWE of 
1 July 2013.

AASB 10 establishes a new control model that applies to all entities. It replaces parts of AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements dealing with the accounting for consolidated financial 
statements and UIG-112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

The new control model broadens the situations when an entity is considered to be controlled by another 
entity and includes new guidance for applying the model to specific situations, including when acting as 
a manager may give control, the impact of potential voting rights and when holding less than a majority 
voting rights may give control.

consequential amendments were also made to this and other standards via aasb 2011-7 and 
aasb 2012-10.

All AWE subsidiaries are 100% owned and thereby controlled by the ultimate holding company, AWE 
Limited. The new requirements thus have nil impact on AWE.

aaSB 11

Joint Arrangements

This standard has an effective 
application date for AWE of 
1 July 2013.

AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures and UIG-113 Jointly-controlled Entities – Non-
monetary Contributions by Ventures.

AASB 11 uses the principle of control in AASB 10 to define joint control, and therefore the determination 
of whether joint control exists may change. In addition it removes the option to account for jointly 
controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, accounting for a joint 
arrangement is dependent on the nature of the rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. 
Joint operations that give the venturers a right to the underlying assets and obligations themselves 
is accounted for by recognising the share of those assets and obligations. Joint ventures that give the 
venturers a right to the net assets is accounted for using the equity method.

consequential amendments were also made to this and other standards via aasb 2011-7, 
aasb 2010-10 and amendments to aasb 128.

All joint arrangements in which AWE has an interest will continue to be accounted for by recognition 
of the appropriate share of the underlying assets and liabilities consistent with the Joint Venture 
Operating Agreements which are in place for each Joint venture in which AWE has an interest.

aaSB 12

Disclosure of Interests 

in Other Entities

This standard has an effective 
application date to AWE of 
1 July 2013.

AASB 12 includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities. New disclosures have been introduced about the judgements made by 
management to determine whether control exists, and to require summarised information about joint 
arrangements, associates, structured entities and subsidiaries with non-controlling interests.

Where appropriate, additional disclosures will be provided in the 2014 annual financial report about 
judgements made in relation to the determination of control. However since AWE currently has an 
ownership interest in all subsidiaries of 100%, control is generally accepted to exist.

aaSB 13

Fair Value Measurement

This standard has an effective 
application date to AWE of 
1 July 2013.

AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. 
AASB 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on 
how to determine fair value when fair value is required or permitted. Application of this definition may 
result in different fair values being determined for the relevant assets.

AASB 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for all assets or liabilities carried at fair value. This 
includes information about the assumptions made and the qualitative impact of those assumptions on 
the fair value determined.

consequential amendments were also made to other standards via aasb 2011-8.

The revised standard is not expected to have a significant impact on fair value assumptions and 
calculations for the consolidated entity.
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title of standard and 

application date1 nature of amendment and impact on awe limited

aaSB 119

Employee Benefits

This standard has an effective 
application date to AWE of 
1 July 2013.

The main change introduced by this standard is to revise the accounting for defined benefit plans. 
The amendment removes the options for accounting for the liability, and requires that the liabilities 
arising from such plans is recognised in full with actuarial gains and losses being recognised in other 
comprehensive income. It also revised the method of calculating the return on plan assets.

The revised standard changes the definition of short-term employee benefits. The distinction between 
short-term and other long-term employee benefits is now based on whether the benefits are expected to 
be settled wholly within 12 months after the reporting date.

consequential amendments were also made to other standards via aasb 2011-10.

The amendments related to defined benefit plans are not relevant to the Company since AWE does not 
have such plans in place.

The amendments related to the definition of short term employee benefits are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated entity.

aaSB 2012 – 2

Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards –

Disclosures – Offsetting 

Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities

This standard is applicable to 
AWE from 1 July 2013.

AASB 2012-2 principally amends AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to require disclosure of 
the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements. This includes rights of set-off associated with the 
entity’s recognised financial assets and liabilities on the entity’s financial position, when the offsetting 
criteria of AASB 132 are not all met.

The revised standard is not expected to have a significant impact since the consolidated entity has not 
set off financial assets and liabilities.

aaSB 2012 – 5

Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards –

Arising from Annual 

Improvements 2009 – 

2011 Cycle

This standard is applicable to 
AWE from 1 July 2013.

AASB 2012-5 makes amendments resulting from the 2009–2011 Annual Improvements Cycle. 
The standard addresses a range of improvements, including the following:
•  Repeat application of AASB 1 is permitted (AASB 1) 
•  Clarification of the comparative information requirements when an entity provides a third balance 

sheet (AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements).

The revised standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated entity.

aaSB 2012 – 9

Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards –

Arising from the 

withdrawal of Australian 

Interpretation 1039

This standard is applicable to 
AWE from 1 July 2013.

AASB 2012-9 amends AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards to evidence the withdrawal of Australian 
Interpretation 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in Australia.

The revised standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated entity.

aaSB 2011-4 

Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards to 

Remove Individual Key 

Management Personnel 

Disclosure Requirements 

[AASB 124]

This standard is applicable 
from 1 July 2013.

This amendment deletes from AASB 124 individual key management personnel (KMP) disclosure 
requirements for disclosing entities that are not companies. It also removes the individual KMP 
disclosure requirements for all disclosing entities in relation to equity holdings, loans and other related 
party transactions.

Since AWE is a public company the reduced disclosures have no impact.

aaSB 1053

Application of tiers of 

Australian Accounting 

Standards

This standard is applicable 
from 1 July 2013.

This standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of 
reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements:

(a) Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards
(b) Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.

Tier 2 comprises the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements of Tier 1 and 
substantially reduced disclosures corresponding to those requirements.

consequential amendments to other standards to implement the regime were introduced by 
aasb 2010-2, 2011-2, 2011-6, 2011-11, 2012-1, 2012-7 and 2012-11.

As a public company, AWE is required to apply Tier 1 requirements in preparing general purpose 
financial statements.
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title of standard and 

application date1 nature of amendment and impact on awe limited

aaSB2012 -3

Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards –

Offsetting Financial Assets 

and Financial Liabilities

This standard is applicable 
from 1 January 2014.

AASB 2012-3 adds application guidance to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation to address 
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including clarifying 
the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement 
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.

It is anticipated that this standard will have nil impact on the Company since it does not offset financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

aaSB 9

Financial Instruments

This standard is applicable 
from 1 January 2015.

AASB 9 includes requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. It was further 
amended by AASB 2010-7 to reflect amendments to the accounting for financial liabilities.

These requirements improve and simplify the approach for classification and measurement of financial 
assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139. The main changes are described below.

(a) Financial assets that are debt instruments will be classified based on

•  the objective of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets;
•  the characteristics of the contractual cash flows.

(b)  Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments 
in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in 
respect of these investments that are a return on investment can be recognised in profit or loss and 
there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the instrument.

(c)  Financial assets can be designated and measured at fair value through profit or loss at initial 
recognition if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognising the gains and 
losses on them, on different bases.

(d)  Where the fair value option is used for financial liabilities the change in fair value is to be accounted 
for as follows:

•  The change attributable to changes in credit risk are presented in other comprehensive income (OCI)
•  The remaining change is presented in profit or loss.

If this approach creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch in the profit or loss, the effect of the 
changes in credit risk are also presented in profit or loss.

Further amendments were made by AASB 2012-6 which amends the mandatory effective date to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. AASB 2012-6 also modifies the relief from 
restating prior periods by amending AASB 7 to require additional disclosures on transition to AASB 9 in 
some circumstances.

consequential amendments were also made to other standards as a result of aasb 9, 
introduced by aasb 2009-11 and superseded by aasb 2010-7 and 2010-10.

The revised standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the classification and measurement 
of financial assets or financial liabilities.
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 2013 2012 
2. revenue $'000 $'000

Sales revenue – oil and gas 300,509 298,354
Other revenue from continuing operations 1,265 1,373
 301,774 299,727

3. CoSt oF SaleS 
Production costs 98,807 101,280
Royalties 15,948 7,942
Amortisation 103,838 79,628
Movement in oil inventory:

Production costs 1,087 472
Amortisation 1,182 910

 220,862 190,232
Made up of:

Production costs (net of movement in oil inventory) 99,894 101,752
Royalties 15,948 7,942
Amortisation (net of movement in oil inventory) 105,020 80,538

 220,862 190,232

4. otHer inCome 
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets – 12,681
Net gain on disposal of part interest in BassGas project – 2,402
Insurance recovery – 2,600
Other income 2,930 394
 2,930 18,077

The disposal of an interest in the BassGas project in 2012 resulted in a net gain (pre-tax) of $2.4 million and loss (post-tax) of $0.1 million.

5. SHare-BaSed paYmentS 
Share-based payments 2,553 1,571
 2,553 1,571

6. net FinanCinG (expenSe)/inCome 
Interest income 912 3,623
Net foreign exchange gain – 660
Finance income 912 4,283
Borrowing costs (7,810) (4,792)
Unwinding of discount – restoration provisions (refer note 21) (2,155) (3,773)
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (367) –
Finance costs (10,332) (8,565)
Net finance expense (9,420) (4,282)
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 2013 2012 
7. taxation expenSe $'000 $'000

recognised in income statement

tax expense comprises:

income tax

Current tax expense (8,215) (12,495)
Adjustments from prior years 2,126 (227)
Tax (expense)/benefit related to movements in deferred tax balances (8,824) 28,998
 (14,913) 16,276
prrt/apr

Current tax expense (19,427) (16,818)
Tax (expense)/benefit related to movements in deferred tax balances 2,946 (9,682)
Tax benefit recognised from introduction of onshore PRRT – 6,864
 (16,481) (19,636)
tax expense reported in the consolidated income statement (31,394) (3,360)

numerical reconciliation between loss before tax and tax (expense)/benefit:

profit/(loss) before tax 51,431 (63,136)
Prima facie taxation (expense)/benefit at 30% (2012: 30%) (15,429) 18,941

(Increase)/decrease in income tax expense due to:
Non-deductible expenses (1,459) (6,302)
Overseas tax losses not recognised as a deferred tax asset (740) (3,708)
Derecognition of tax losses (4,276) –
Foreign exchange and other translation adjustments (562) (717)
PRRT (net of income tax deduction for PRRT)* (6,455) –
APR (net of income tax deduction for APR paid)* (8,750) (11,646)
Deferred PRRT and royalty related tax expense* 2,946 (9,682)
Recognition of onshore PRRT deferred tax asset* – 6,864
Realised loss on available-for-sale financial assets – 2,914
Other 1,205 181
Adjustments for prior years 2,126 (205)

 (31,394) (3,360)

For information in relation to taxation payments made during the financial year refer to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. For 
further information in relation to tax payable and deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to notes 22 and 23.

 *  As a producer of oil and gas in Australian and New Zealand offshore waters, the consolidated entity is subject to, in addition to income tax, additional government imposts in the 
form of PRRT in Australia and APR in New Zealand. PRRT is levied on Australian offshore oil and gas production operations and from 1 July 2012 to onshore operation at a rate of 
40% of project profits after allowing for the recoupment of past deductible project costs and after appropriate compounding of these past costs. Further, subject to the satisfaction 
of certain tests, exploration costs incurred by the consolidated entity in Australia can be transferred to PRRT payable projects thereby having the effect of reducing or deferring 
the actual liability to pay PRRT. Similarly, APR is levied on the Tui production operation in New Zealand at a rate of 20% of project profits after allowing for the recoupment of past 
deductible project costs. These past project costs are not compounded and exploration costs incurred outside of the Tui project cannot be transferred to the Tui project. PRRT and 
APR are deductible for income tax purposes in Australia and New Zealand respectively.
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 2013 2012 
8. earninGS per SHare $'000 $'000

Basic and diluted earnings – from continuing operations 20,037 (66,496)

 2013 2012 
 Number Number

weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator

Issued ordinary shares – opening balance 521,871,941 521,871,941
Effect of shares issued 158,723 –
weighted average number of ordinary shares 522,030,664 521,871,941

weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 522,030,664 521,871,941
Effect of employee rights on issue 7,300,595 8,884,217
weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for effect of dilution 529,331,259 530,756,158

 2013 2012 
 Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations  
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company 3.84 (12.74)

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations  
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company 3.79 (12.74)

 2013 2012 
9. auditor'S remuneration $ $

ernst & Young

Audit services – auditor of the Company
Audit and review of financial reports 410,915 242,200

Taxation services
Taxation compliance services 87,653 95,000

Other services
Due diligence procedures related to asset acquisition – 62,160
Other advisory and assurance services 222,372 –

total remuneration of ernst & Young 720,940 399,360

10. SeGment reportinG

(a) description of segments

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker that are used 
to make strategic decisions. The chief operating decision maker considers the business from both a product and a geographic perspective 
and on this basis has identified six reportable segments. For each reportable segment, the chief operating decision maker reviews internal 
management reports on at least a monthly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the consolidated entity’s 
reportable segments:

South east australia Production and sale of gas, condensate and LPG from the BassGas (T/L1, Bass Basin, offshore southern 
Australia) and Casino gas (VIC/L 24, Otway Basin, offshore southern Australia) projects.

western australia Production and sale of crude oil, gas and condensate from the Cliff Head oil project (WA 31 L, Perth Basin, 
offshore Western Australia) and oil and gas fields in the Perth Basin, onshore, Western Australia.

new Zealand Production and sale of crude oil from the Tui Area oil project (PMP 38158, offshore Taranaki Basin, 
New Zealand).

uSa Production and sale of gas, LNG and condensate from the Sugarloaf AMI (Texas, United States of America).
indonesia The Northwest Natuna PSC development assets acquired during the year ended 30 June 2012 comprising 

the undeveloped Ande Ande Lumut (AAL) oil project.
exploration activities Exploration and evaluation activities within the production licences and exploration permits held by AWE.
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10. SeGment reportinG (Continued)

(b) Segment information provided to the chief operating decision maker for the year ending 30 june

South east 
australia western australia new Zealand uSa indonesia

exploration 
activities total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales revenue 82,781 72,376 79,555 98,397 82,947 110,883 55,226 16,698 – – – – 300,509 298,354
Production 
costs

(41,302) (39,604) (29,532) (35,922) (21,947) (23,419) (7,105) (2,807) – – (8) – (99,894) (101,752)

Royalties (38) (45) (1,112) (572) (967) (1,293) (13,831) (6,032) – – – – (15,948) (7,942)
Segment 
result before 
amortisation 
and 
impairment

41,441 32,727 48,911 61,903 60,033 86,171 34,290 7,859 – – (8) – 184,667 188,660

Exploration 
and evaluation 
expenses

– – – – – – – – – – (9,735) (36,477) (9,735) (36,477)

Amortisation (41,383) (33,927) (19,643) (19,952) (16,903) (21,469) (27,091) (5,190) – – – – (105,020) (80,538)
Impairment – (138,151) – – – – – – – – – – – (138,151)
Reportable 
segment 
profit/(loss)

58 (139,351) 29,268 41,951 43,130 64,702 7,199 2,669 – – (9,743) (36,477) 69,912 (66,506)

Unallocated 
income/
(expenses)
Other 
revenue

1,265 1,373

Other income 2,930 18,077
Administra-
tion expenses

(10,703) (10,227)

Net financing 
income 
expense

(9,420) (4,282)

Share-based 
payments

(2,553) (1,571)

Net (loss)/
profit before 
income tax

51,431 (63,136)

Segment 
assets:

Oil and 
gas assets

478,863 434,178 87,223 101,372 56,915 65,753 147,932 111,435 155,849 134,288 – – 926,782 847,026

Exploration 
assets

– – – – – – – – – – 111,034 84,154 111,034 84,154

Other assets 5,558 18,253 2,178 2,270 7,652 5,940 – – 6,948 – – – 22,336 26,463
484,421 452,431 89,401 103,642 64,567 71,693 147,932 111,435 162,797 134,288 111,034 84,154 1,060,152 957,643

Corporate and 
unallocated 
assets

119,408 104,365

total assets 1,179,560 1,062,008
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 2013 2012 

10. SeGment reportinG (Continued) $'000 $'000

(c) major customers

The consolidated entity had revenues from four external customers that each represents  
greater than 10% of total sales revenue, and when combined represent 75% of total sales  
revenue (2012: four external customers; 87%):

revenues from major customers by segment

New Zealand 82,948 110,884
South East Australia 82,780 72,376
Western Australia 60,787 77,174
 226,515 260,434

11. CaSH and CaSH eQuivalentS

Bank balances 7,780 1,500
Call deposits 22,146 14,237
Cash held by joint ventures (refer note 25) 11,205 27,022
 41,131 42,759

12. trade and otHer reCeivaBleS 
Current

Trade debtors 48,010 31,688
Less: Provision for doubtful debts – –
Net trade debtors 48,010 31,688

Interest receivable 16 43
Joint venture debtors (refer note 25) 8,109 3,212
Other debtors 2,255 6,024
Prepayments 1,439 1,448
Other 940 –
Total other debtors 12,759 10,727
total current trade and other receivables 60,769 42,415

non-current

Other receivables 4,980 3,197

Foreign exchange, commodity price and credit risk

Information about the consolidated entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk, commodity price risk and credit risk in relation to trade 
and other receivables is provided in note 30.

13. inventorY 
Oil (at cost) 1,541 3,703
Spares and consumables (at cost, refer note 25) 3,686 3,913
 5,227 7,616

14. exploration and evaluation aSSetS 

Exploration and evaluation assets 111,034 84,154

reconciliation of movement:

Opening balance 84,154 82,516
Additions (net of amount recovered from joint ventures) 34,420 39,236
Exploration costs incurred and expensed during the year (9,735) (36,477)
Disposals – (1,665)
Foreign exchange translation difference 2,195 544

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 111,034 84,154

The recoverability of the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful development and 
commercial exploitation or sale of the respective area of interest.
impairment

There was nil impairment in respect of exploration and evaluation assets during the year ended 30 June 2013.
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 2013 2012 
15. oil and GaS aSSetS $'000 $'000

Oil and gas assets at cost 1,650,036 1,588,111
Less amortisation and impairment (723,254) (741,085)
 926,782 847,026

reconciliation of movement:

Opening balance 847,026 843,729
Acquired (Northwest Natuna) – 132,731
Additions 142,580 171,531
Disposals – (96,188)
Increase in restoration and abandonment provision 23,090 9,826
Foreign exchange translation difference 17,924 3,176
Amortisation (103,838) (79,628)
Impairment charge – (138,151)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 926,782 847,026
 
impairment

Impairment tests are performed where there is an indication of impairment. Each year the consolidated entity performs an internal 
review of asset values using cash flow projections. These asset values are then used for impairment testing. Individual oil and gas 
producing asset are considered as separate cash-generating units. The asset values are then used to determine a recoverable amount for 
each asset based on the higher of its value in use or fair market value. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is impaired and an impairment loss is charged to the income statement with a corresponding reduction in the carrying value of 
the asset.

The asset valuations are based on a proved and probable (2P) reserve production profile against various estimates and assumptions. 
The key assumptions used in the cash flow projections include the following:
• Oil and gas prices – a combination of contracted gas prices, forward market prices and longer term observable price forecasts,
• Exchange rates – a combination of current spot USD/AUD exchange rate prevailing at 30 June and long term observable forecasts,
• Discount rates – the post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 10%.

No impairment was required during the year ended 30 June 2013. The impairment at 30 June 2012 related to the BassGas project 
and arose due to a reassessment of the costs associated with the Mid-Life Enhancement (MLE) project ($138.2 million pre-tax, $41.4 million 
tax effect).

Asset valuations, based on cash flow projections, use a range of assumptions that are subject to change. Accordingly, losses are 
sensitive to reasonable possible changes in key assumptions. The impairment that would arise from a possible change in key assumptions 
(all other assumptions remaining the same) is shown below:
• A 10% decrease in oil prices would result in impairment of $39 million;
• A 10% decrease in the gas price would result in impairment of $28 million;
• A 10% increase in exchange rate would result in impairment of $32 million; and
• A 1% increase in the post-tax discount rate would result in impairment of $27 million.
disposals

There were no disposals during the year ended 30 June 2013. During the year ended 30 June 2012 AWE completed the sale of an 11.25% 
interest in the BassGas project to Toyota Tsusho, reducing AWE’s interest in the project from 57.5% to 46.25% effective 30 March 2012.

 
 2013 2012 
16. otHer plant and eQuipment $'000 $'000

Other plant and equipment (at cost) 4,925 4,674
Less accumulated depreciation (3,314) (2,787)
 1,611 1,887

reconciliation of the movement in other plant and equipment:

Opening balance 1,887 2,136
Additions 259 373
Depreciation (535) (622)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 1,611 1,887
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 2013 2012 
17. intanGiBle aSSetS $'000 $'000

Intangible assets (at cost) 2,682 3,091
Less accumulated amortisation (2,630) (2,958)
 52 133

reconciliation of the movement in intangible assets:

Computer software
Opening balance 133 354

Additions 2 84
Amortisation (83) (305)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 52 133

18. trade and otHer paYaBleS 
Current

Trade payables 148 129
Joint venture creditors (refer note 25) 30,996 32,175
Net cash interest payments accrued – 1,687
Other payables and accrued expenses 17,568 26,771
 48,712 60,762

19. intereSt-BearinG liaBilitieS 
non-current

Bank loans – unsecured 77,834 15,660
Less loan establishment fees (1,949) (2,783)
 75,885 12,877

The consolidated entity has access to the following lines of credit:

Bank loans – unsecured 300,000 300,000
Facilities utilised at balance date 77,834 15,660
Facilities not utilised at balance date 222,166 284,340
 300,000 300,000

A $300 million multicurrency loan facility is available for general corporate purposes and bears interest at the applicable base rate 
plus a margin. This facility expires in May 2015. At 30 June 2013, $77.8 million (2012, $15.6 million) had been drawn under the terms 
of this facility. 

20. emploYee BeneFitS 

Current

Provision for employee benefits 3,957 1,146
non-current

Provision for employee benefits 346 536

(a) Superannuation plans

The consolidated entity makes contributions to complying accumulation type superannuation  
plans nominated by individual employees. The consolidated entity contributes at least the  
amount required by law. The amount recognised as an expense was $760,600 for the financial  
year ended 30 June 2013 (2012: $1,051,000).
(b) employee benefits expensed

Salaries and wages and other associated personnel costs are allocated to various income  
statement categories based on the function of the expenditure.
Salaries and wages 23,567 19,231
Share-based payments 2,553 1,571
Other associated personnel costs 6,032 6,242
 32,152 27,044
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20. emploYee BeneFitS (Continued)

(c) Share-based payments – Share rights plan

The employee Share Rights Plan is designed to generate performance-based cash awards that may be converted, at the Board’s discretion, 
into AWE shares or cash.

The key elements of the plan include:
• Rights are granted each year and the number of rights granted will be determined by the employee’s level in the Company, fixed 

remuneration at the time of grant and both the Company and employee’s performance in the previous financial year;
• There are three tranches of rights with separate vesting criteria:

• Retention1;
• Absolute TSR2; and
• Relative TSR.

• The vesting period is for three years, the rights will lapse after three years and there will be no retesting.
• Rights granted in any particular financial year are tested for vesting over the three year period commencing 1 July of the grant year.
1 –  Retention rights are not granted to the Managing Director.
2 –  TSR refers to ‘Total Shareholder Return’.

The conditions for the award of rights and the criteria for vesting are:
Retention grants

• Number of rights calculated using the 30-day VWAP of the AWE share price in June of grant year.
• Vest after three years if the employee remains employed by AWE.
Absolute TSR grants

• Number of rights calculated using the 30-day VWAP of the AWE share price in June of grant year.
• Vest after three years according to the Company’s Absolute TSR for that three year period.
• The vesting scales to apply for Absolute TSR grants are as follows:

Rights granted from the June 2013 Financial Year1 Rights granted up to the June 2012 Financial Year

AWE TSR % of rights to vest AWE TSR % of rights to vest

<8% pa compound – <6% pa compound –
8% pa compound 25% 6% pa compound 25%
>8% and <10% pa compound Pro rata >6% and <9% pa compound Pro rata
10% pa compound 50% 9% pa compound 50%
>10% and <12% pa compound Pro rata >9% and <12% pa compound Pro rata
12% pa compound 100% 12% pa compound 100%

Relative TSR grants

• Number of rights calculated using the 30-day VWAP of AWE share price in June of grant year.
• Vest after three years according to the Company’s TSR relative to companies in ASX Energy 300 Index in grant year as per the table 

below (companies no longer in the index are excluded).
• The vesting scales to apply for Relative TSR grants are as follows:

Rights granted from the June 2013 Financial Year1 Rights granted up to the June 2012 Financial Year

AWE TSR relative to TSR of 

companies in S&P/ASX Energy 

Index at date of grant % of rights to vest

AWE TSR relative to TSR of  

companies in S&P/ASX Energy  

Index at date of grant % of rights to vest

<50% – <50% –
50% 25% 50% 50%
>50% and <90% Pro rata >50% and <75% Pro rata
90% and above 100% 75% and above 100%

1 – Performance hurdles increased.

1 – Performance hurdles increased.
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20. emploYee BeneFitS (Continued)

(c) Share-based payments – Share rights plan (continued) 

Relative TSR grants (continued) 

A summary of rights in the consolidated entity and the Company is as follows:

        awe 
       share price
  opening    Closing at date
Grant date vesting date balance Granted vested lapsed balance of issue

as at 30 june 2013

19 Nov 09 30 Jun 12 332,136 – – (332,136) – $2.80
22 Jan 10 30 Jun 12 1,322,800 – (284,379) (1,038,421) – $2.83
31 Mar 10 30 Jun 12 20,770 – (6,271) (14,499) – $2.72
23 Apr 10 30 Jun 12 10,181 – (2,855) (7,326) – $2.58
3 Dec 10 30 Jun 13 1,710,193 – – (1,365,548) 344,645 $1.74
25 Jun 11 30 Jun 13 339,431 – – (257,425) 82,006 $1.21
30 Jun 11 30 Jun 13 920,246 – – (690,184) 230,062 $1.28
16 Sep 11 30 Jun 14 3,149,578 – – (202,467) 2,947,111 $1.04
31 Oct 11 30 Jun 14 162,850 – – – 162,850 $1.39
24 Nov 11 30 Jun 14 916,032 – – – 916,032 $1.25
22 Nov 12 30 Jun 15 – 331,474 – – 331,474 $1.34
4 Dec 12 30 Jun 15 – 2,333,503 – (91,826) 2,241,677 $1.30
28 Jun 13 30 Jun 15 – 44,738 – – 44,738 $1.24
  8,884,217 2,709,715 (293,505) (3,999,832) 7,300,595
as at 30 june 2012

19 Nov 09 30 Jun 12 387,487 – – (55,351) 332,136 $2.80
22 Jan 10 30 Jun 12 1,486,486 – – (163,686) 1,322,800 $2.83
31 Mar 10 30 Jun 12 25,303 – – (4,533) 20,770 $2.72
23 Apr 10 30 Jun 12 11,363 – – (1,182) 10,181 $2.58
3 Dec 10 30 Jun 13 1,895,793 – – (185,600) 1,710,193 $1.74
25 Jun 11 30 Jun 13 402,101 – – (62,670) 339,431 $1.21
30 Jun 11 30 Jun 13 920,246 – – – 920,246 $1.28
16 Sep 11 30 Jun 14 – 3,491,295 – (341,717) 3,149,578 $1.04
31 Oct 11 30 Jun 14 – 162,850 – – 162,850 $1.39
24 Nov 11 30 Jun 14 – 916,032 – – 916,032 $1.25
  5,128,779 4,570,177 – (814,739) 8,884,217

For grants of rights, the fair value has been calculated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes Pricing Model and assuming a vesting 
probability of 43.5% for performance related awards and a 10% staff turnover rate for retention awards.

The fair value of rights has been calculated at the grant date and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant 
date to vesting date. The value disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the rights allocated to this reporting period. The value disclosed 
does not therefore represent cash received.

The share rights outstanding at 30 June 2013 have fair value in the range of $0.45 to $1.74, and a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 1.3 years (2012: 1.3 years).
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20. emploYee BeneFitS (Continued)

(c) Share-based payments – Share rights plan (continued) 

Relative TSR grants (continued) 

The fair value of services rendered in return for share rights granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share rights granted. 
The inputs into the model are shown in the following table:

  weighted     assumed

 Fair value at average expected expected vesting  staff

 measurement date share price volatility dividends probability turnover 

Grant date $ $ % % % %

as at 30 june 2013

4 Dec 12 0.57 to 1.30 1.30 25 0 to 3 43.5 10
22 Nov 12 0.58 1.34 25 0 to 3 43.5 10
28 Jun 13 0.54 to 1.24 1.24 25 0 to 3 43.5 10
as at 30 june 2012

16 Sep 11 0.33 to 0.75 1.04 25 0 to 3 43.5 10
31 Oct 11 0.45 to 1.05 1.39 25 0 to 3 43.5 10
24 Nov 11 0.54 1.25 25 0 to 3 43.5 10

(d) Share-based payments – employee Share option plan

Under the Company’s legacy Employee Share Option Plan, options to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company were issued to 
employees at the discretion of the directors and the exercise price and exercise period were determined to reward employees if the 
Company’s share price achieves significant long-term growth. Options are unlisted and were granted with exercise prices not less than the 
average market price of the Company’s shares for the five days prior to grant.

The Plan was approved by shareholders at the time of the float of the Company. The sum of the number of shares issued on the 
exercise of options in the previous five years and the number of unexercised options cannot exceed 5% of the total number of shares on 
issue at any time. The contractual life of all options is five years from grant date. All options are settled on exercise by physical delivery 
of shares.

No new employee share options have been granted since June 2009 and no further options will be issued.
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20. emploYee BeneFitS (Continued)

(d) Share-based payments – employee Share option plan (continued) 

A summary of outstanding options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company is as follows:

        value of 
        shares at 
  exercise opening    Closing exercise
Grant date expiry date price balance Granted exercised lapsed balance date

as at 30 june 2013

13 Jul 07 14 Jul 12 3.56 2,165,000 – – (2,165,000) – –
9 Oct 07 8 Oct 12 3.56 45,000 – – (45,000) – –
26 Nov 07 30 Aug 12 3.18 300,000 – – (300,000) – –
7 Apr 08 6 Apr 13 3.65 125,000 – – (125,000) – –
16 May 08 12 May 13 4.10 275,000 – – (275,000) – –
12 Jun 08 11 Jun 13 4.08 300,000 – – (300,000) – –
15 Aug 08 14 Aug 13 3.28 1,466,000 – – – 1,466,000 –
16 Jan 09 15 Jan 14 2.60 75,000 – – – 75,000 –
16 Jun 09 15 Jun 14 2.75 437,500 – – – 437,500 –
   5,188,500 – – (3,210,000) 1,978,500

as at 30 june 2012

21 Jul 06 19 Jul 11 3.27 1,225,000 – – (1,225,000) – –
30 Aug 06 19 Jul 11 3.27 50,000 – – (50,000) – –
10 Nov 06 9 Nov 11 3.10 65,000 – – (65,000) – –
15 Jan 07 14 Jan 12 2.86 150,000 – – (150,000) – –
12 Mar 07 11 Mar 12 2.68 555,000 – – (555,000) – –
13 Jul 07 14 Jul 12 3.56 2,315,000 – – (150,000) 2,165,000 –
9 Oct 07 8 Oct 12 3.56 45,000 – – – 45,000 –
26 Nov 07 10 Apr 12 2.77 500,000 – – (500,000) – –
26 Nov 07 30 Aug 12 3.18 1,000,000 – – (700,000) 300,000 –
7 Apr 08 6 Apr 13 3.65 125,000 – – – 125,000 –
16 May 08 12 May 13 4.10 275,000 – – – 275,000 –
12 Jun 08 11 Jun 13 4.08 300,000 – – – 300,000 –
15 Aug 08 14 Aug 13 3.28 1,566,000 – – (100,000) 1,466,000 –
16 Jan 09 15 Jan 14 2.60 75,000 – – – 75,000 –
16 Jun 09 15 Jun 14 2.75 437,500 – – – 437,500 –
   8,683,500 – – (3,495,000) 5,188,500

The options outstanding at 30 June 2013 have an exercise price in the range of $2.60 to $3.28, and a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 0.3 years (2012: 0.7 years).

The fair value of services rendered in return for share options granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options 
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a modified binomial option-pricing model. The 
contractual life of the option is used as an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial option-
pricing model.

Subsequent to year end it has been determined that vesting will be retested at the earlier of expiry or 30 June 2014, whichever is the 
earlier, and is conditional upon satisfaction of performance conditions.
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 2013 2012 
21. proviSionS $'000 $'000

Current

Restoration and abandonment 18,285 8,879
Deferred revenue 1,881 –
Other 3 42
 20,169 8,921
non-current
Restoration and abandonment 123,183 104,101
Deferred revenue – 897
 123,183 104,998
Total provisions 143,352 113,919

reconciliation of movements:

restoration and abandonment:
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 112,980 105,387

Write back in provisions due to disposals – (7,391)
Provisions made during the year* 23,090 9,826
Foreign exchange translation difference 3,243 1,385
Unwind of discount 2,155 3,773

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 141,468 112,980

deferred revenue and other:
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 939 1,064

Provisions reversed during the year (40) (125)
Provisions made during the year 985 –

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 1,884 939
*  Following a reassessment of the future rehabilitation liability, a number of assumptions have been updated resulting in an increase to the restoration and abandonment liability 

and corresponding asset. 

Provisions made for environmental rehabilitation are recognised where there is a present obligation as a result of exploration, 
development or production activities having been undertaken, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation. The estimated future obligations include the costs of removing facilities, abandoning wells and restoring the affected 
areas. Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the biggest uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be incurred. 
In particular, the consolidated entity has assumed that restoration will use technology and materials that are available currently. The 
basis for accounting is set out in note 1(q). 

22. taxation paYaBle 

Income tax – New Zealand 4,136 4,993
Accounting Profits Royalty (APR) – New Zealand 9,090 12,576
Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (PRRT) – Australia 4,861 –
Other 250 177
 18,337 17,746

No Australian income tax is payable for the 30 June 2013 financial year. Refer Note 23 for information with regards to the tax loss position 
of the consolidated entity.

23. deFerred tax aSSetS and liaBilitieS 
deferred tax asset

Tax benefit attributable to tax losses 60,820 47,457
Provisions and accruals 43,803 34,699
Other 1,178 1,227
 105,801 83,383

deferred tax liability
Exploration and evaluation assets (26,268) (22,173)
Oil and gas assets (30,241) (4,214)
Arising from PRRT and APR (21,318) (24,175)
 (77,827) (50,562)
Net deferred tax assets 27,974 32,821

unrecognised deferred tax assets
Tax value of Australian income tax losses (calculated at 30%) 69,797 64,341
Deferred tax asset recognised (40,387) (39,207)
Tax value of Australian income tax losses not recognised as an asset (calculated at 30%) 29,410 25,134
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23. deFerred tax aSSetS and liaBilitieS (Continued)

australian petroleum resource rent tax and new Zealand accounting profits royalty

The consolidated entity applies tax effect accounting to both PRRT and to APR for all of the consolidated entity’s onshore and offshore 
Australian and offshore New Zealand producing operations. Applying tax effect accounting principles to both PRRT and APR causes the 
tax effect of the difference between the PRRT/APR tax base and the accounting base of these assets to be recognised as a deferred tax asset 
or deferred tax liability on the balance sheet. The PRRT/APR tax base represents the remaining deductible project costs of the relevant 
projects. The accounting base represents the written down net balance sheet value of the project which is amortised over the life of 
reserves. Where the remaining deductible project costs for a project exceed the accounting base and the excess cannot be transferred to a 
PRRT payable project then no deferred tax asset is recorded. The application of tax effect accounting to both PRRT and APR may impact 
the reported income tax expense whether or not a current tax liability to pay PRRT or APR arises.

The expansion of the Australian PRRT regime to onshore petroleum projects from 1 July 2012 results in the recognition of a deferred 
tax asset in respect of the onshore Perth Basin operations. The deferred tax asset is calculated as the difference between the accounting 
written down value and the starting base for PRRT purposes.
deferred tax assets in relation to carried forward losses

Total Australian income tax losses incurred prior to forming a tax consolidated group amount to $29.4 million (calculated at 30%). Pre-
consolidation losses of $4.3 million (calculated at 30%) previously recorded as a deferred tax asset were derecognised during the period.

All Australian income tax losses incurred after 30 June 2003 and that remain unutilised at 30 June 2013 have been recorded as a 
deferred tax asset ($39.7 million calculated at 30%). There are no unutilised New Zealand tax losses.

Tax losses or Production Sharing Contract (PSCs) credits incurred in other jurisdictions have been treated as permanently not 
deductible due to uncertainty of future usage due to insufficient estimated recoverable taxable income in those jurisdictions.

All USA income tax losses as at 30 June 2013 have been recorded as a deferred tax asset ($20.4 million calculated at 35%).

 
 2013 2012 
24. Capital and reServeS $'000 $'000

(a) Share capital

522,168,711 (2012: 521,871,941) ordinary shares, fully paid 772,172 772,172

There were no movements in share capital during the year.
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 

shareholders’ meetings.

(b) equity compensation reserve

The equity compensation reserve represents the fair value of options expensed by the Company to 30 June 2013.
(c) translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations where the functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity.
(d) Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets until the investments are 
derecognised or impaired.
(e) dividends paid

Declared and paid during the year:
Dividends on ordinary shares:
Special franked dividend for 2013: nil (2012: 5 cents per share) – 26,094

(f) dividend franking account

30% franking credits available at 30 June 311 11,493
Franking debits that arise from payment of special dividend during the year – (11,182)
30% franking credits available to shareholders for subsequent financial years 311 311
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25. intereStS in oil and GaS permitS

At the end of the financial year the consolidated entity held the following oil and gas production, exploration and appraisal permits:

 Consolidated  
 beneficial interest

  2013 2012 
Permit Country % %

T/L1 BassGas Australia 46.25 46.25
T/18P Australia 44.75 44.75
VIC/L 24 Casino Australia 25.00 25.00
VIC/L 30 Henry Australia 25.00 25.00
VIC/P 44 Australia 25.00 25.00
VICRL11 (Martha) Australia 25.00 –
VICRL12 (Blackwatch) Australia 25.00 –
WA 31 L Cliff Head Australia 57.50 57.50
L1/L2 Dongara Australia 100.00 100.00
L1/L2 Hovea and Eremia Australia 50.00 50.00
L1/L2 Corybas – 1 Australia 50.00 50.00
L4/L5/PL 6 Woodada Australia 100.00 100.00
L7 Mt Horner Australia 100.00 100.00
L11 Beharra Springs Australia 33.00 33.00
L14 Jingemia Australia 44.14 44.14
EP 320 Australia 33.00 33.00
EP 413 Australia 44.25 44.25
EP 455 Australia 81.50 81.50
PMP 38158 Tui New Zealand 42.50 42.50
PEP 38259 New Zealand – 25.00
Bulu PSC Indonesia 42.50 42.50
East Muriah PSC Indonesia 50.00 50.00
Terumbu PSC Indonesia 100.00 100.00
North Madura PSC Indonesia 50.00 50.00
Titan PSC Indonesia 40.00 40.00
Northwest Natuna PSC Indonesia 100.00 100.00
Anambas PSC Indonesia 100.00 100.00
Yemen Block no. 7 Yemen 19.25 19.25
Yemen Block no. 74 Yemen 29.75 29.75
Sugarloaf Area of Mutual Interest (AMI) United States of America 10.00 10.00
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25. intereStS in oil and GaS permitS (Continued)

Included in the assets and liabilities of AWE are the following items which represent AWE’s interest in the assets and liabilities employed 
in the permits.
 2013 2012 
 $'000 $'000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11,205 27,022
Trade and other receivables 8,109 3,212
Inventory 3,686 3,913
 23,000 34,147

non-current assets

Exploration and evaluation assets 111,034 84,154
Oil and gas assets 926,782 869,996
 1,037,816 954,150
Total assets 1,060,816 988,297

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 30,996 32,175
Total liabilities 30,996 32,175

Refer to notes 26 and 27 for details of commitments and contingent liabilities.

26. Capital and otHer CommitmentS 

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Contracted but not provided for or payable:
Not later than one year 52,156 73,141

AWE participates in a number of development projects which were in progress at the end of the period. These projects require AWE, 
either directly or through joint venture arrangements, to enter into contractual commitments for future expenditures. Contractual 
commitments for expenditures at year end include $10 million in relation to long lead items for the BassGas MLE development drilling 
scheduled for 2014, $20 million in relation to drilling rig, services and drilling equipment for the Pateke development well in New 
Zealand, $4 million for upgrade work on the Tui FPSO, $3 million for the Ande Ande Lumut development project in Indonesia, and 
$14 million for development drilling at Sugarloaf in the USA.

(b) exploration and evaluation expenditure commitments

Total exploration and evaluation expenditure contracted for but not  
provided for in the financial statements, payable:

Not later than one year 37,200 39,676
Later than one year but not later than five years 66,100 51,994

 103,300 91,670

AWE participates in a number of licences, permits and production sharing contracts for which the Company has made commitments 
with relevant governments to complete minimum work programmes. In addition, the Company, directly or through joint venture 
arrangements, has also made contractual commitments at year end in relation to exploration activities to be undertaken in the 2013–14 
year. Commitments not later than one year include $26 million in the onshore Perth Basin and $7 million offshore Taranaki Basin. 
Commitments later than one year but not later than five years include $4 million onshore Perth Basin, $34 million offshore Indonesia, 
$14 million in the Bass Basin and $7 million in the Otway Basin.
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 2013 2012 
26. Capital and otHer CommitmentS (Continued) $'000 $'000

(c) time charter commitments

Floating Production Storage and Offtake vessel (“FPSO”) time charter contracted  
for but not provided for in the financial statements, payable:

Not later than one year 14,513 13,218
Later than one year but not later than five years 22,354 33,553

 36,867 46,771

The Operator of the Tui Area oil project (PMP 38158, offshore Taranaki Basin, New Zealand) has entered into a USD denominated charter 
contract for the provision of an FPSO for the Tui Field development. The Charter Contractor built and operates the FPSO as part of the 
charter arrangement. The contract is for a fixed initial term to 31 December 2015 with options exercisable by the joint venture for seven 
one-year extensions. The commitment would increase by A$107,179,043 if the full seven-year option is exercised.
(d) non-cancellable operating lease rental commitments

Future operating lease rentals, not provided for in the financial statements, payable:
Not later than one year 4,363 1,681
Later than one year but not later than five years 3,662 2,883

 8,025 4,564

Operating lease commitments include office premises and site service agreements.

27. ContinGenCieS

In accordance with normal industry practice, the consolidated entity has entered into joint venture operations with other parties for the 
purpose of exploring and developing its permit interests. If a party to a joint venture operation defaults and does not contribute its share 
of joint venture operation obligations, then the other joint venturers are liable to meet those obligations. In this event, the permit interest 
held by the defaulting party may be redistributed to the remaining joint venturers.

In accordance with normal industry practice and under the terms of various joint venture operating and product sales agreements, 
the consolidated entity may have provided performance guarantees to third parties on behalf of wholly-owned controlled entities to fulfil 
its permit obligations in various jurisdictions where it conducts its operations.

The Operator of the Tui Area oil project (PMP 38158, offshore Taranaki Basin, New Zealand) has entered into a charter contract 
for the provision of an FPSO for the Tui Field development. The Charter Contractor built and operates the FPSO as part of the charter 
arrangement. The contract is for a fixed initial term to 31 December 2015 with options exercisable by the joint venture for seven one-year 
extensions. The consolidated entity has provided a letter of credit for the benefit of the Charter Contractor amounting to US$8.7 million 
(2012: US$11.9 million).

The consolidated entity has made an accounting provision for all known environmental liabilities. There can be no assurance that 
material new accounting provisions will not be required as a result of new information or regulatory requirements with respect to the 
consolidated entity’s assets.

The Native Title Act (“NTA”) may impact on the consolidated entity’s ability to gain access to new prospective exploration areas or 
obtain production titles. Some of the consolidated entity’s onshore petroleum tenements now include land that is the subject of a Native 
Title claim under the NTA. Under the NTA, all claims for Native Title are subject to the rights derived from the grant to the consolidated 
entity of its existing petroleum tenements for the term of that grant and any routine renewals. The consolidated entity is not liable to pay 
any compensation to Native Title parties by exercising its rights pursuant to petroleum tenements.
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 2013 2012 
28. reConCiliation oF CaSH FlowS From operatinG aCtivitieS $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

profit/(loss) for the period 20,037 (66,496)

adjustments for:

Amortisation of oil and gas assets 103,838 79,628
Amortisation of intangible assets 83 305
Depreciation 535 622
(Gain)/loss on disposal of fixed assets (114) –
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets – (12,681)
Gain on disposal of part interest in BassGas project – (2,402)
Impairment of oil and gas assets – 138,151
Exploration drilling costs (2,285) 11,289
Loan establishment fees written off/amortised 981 803
Unwinding of discount – restoration provisions 2,155 3,773
Share-based payments 2,136 1,571
Net foreign currency losses 403 1,235
Non-cash gains recognised in other income – (241)
Non-cash taxation expense – (14,361)

Change in assets and liabilities during the financial year:

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (16,153) (8,229)
Decrease/(increase) in oil inventory 2,270 1,382
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets 3,997 –
Increase/(decrease) in provisions and employee benefits 1,750 (422)
Decrease in accounts payable (1,443) (10,059)
Net cash from operating activities 118,190 123,868
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a –  These controlled entities are a party to a Deed of Cross Guarantee between those group entities and the Company pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 and are not required 
to prepare and lodge financial statements and directors’ reports (refer note 33). The Company and those group entities are the “Closed Group”.

B –  AWE New Zealand Pty Limited and AWE Argentina Pty Limited are Australian companies with branches in New Zealand and Argentina respectively.

29. Controlled entitieS Equity holding

   2013 2012 
Name Note Country of incorporation % %

parent entity

AWE Limited
Controlled entities

AWE Administration Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
AWE Finance Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
AWE Overseas Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
AWE Offshore Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
AWE Argentina Pty Limited a, B Australia 100 100
AWE New Zealand Pty Limited a, B Australia 100 100
AWE UK Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
AWE Australia Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
Omega Oil Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
Wells Fargo Resources Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100
AWE Petroleum Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
Peedamullah Petroleum Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
AWE Services Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
AWE Resources (Western Australia) Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
AWE Oil (Western Australia) Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
Perthshire Petroleum Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
Tepstew Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
Western Petroleum Management Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
AWE (NSW) Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
AWE (Australia) Energy Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
AWE Energy (Australasia) Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
ARC Energy Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
ARC (Beharra Springs) Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
ARC Energy Holdings Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
ARC Energy Trading Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
ARC Investment Company Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
ARC (Wandoo) Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
ARC (Bass Gas) Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
ARC (Offshore PB) Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
Adelphi Energy Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
Adelphi Energy (Yemen) Pty Ltd a Australia 100 100
AWE Malaysia Pty Limited a Australia 100 100
Adelphi Energy Texas Inc.  USA 100 100
AWE Finance US Inc.  USA 100 100
Adelphi Energy Yemen (B74) Limited  British Virgin Islands 100 100
AWE Holdings NZ Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE Taranaki Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE (Satria) NZ Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE (East Muriah) NZ Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE (Terumbu) NZ Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE (North Madura) NZ Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE (Titan) NZ Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE Finance NZ Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE (AAL) NZ Limited  New Zealand 100 100
AWE Singapore Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 100 100
AWE Holdings Singapore Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 100 100
AWE Vietnam Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 100 100
AWE (Northwest Natuna) Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 100 100
AWE (Anambas) Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 100 100
AWE Offshore UK Limited  UK 100 100
Greenslopes Limited  Papua New Guinea 100 100
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The consolidated entity has exposure to foreign currency, interest 
rate, commodity price, credit and liquidity risks that arise in the 
normal course of its business. In accordance with Board approved 
policies derivative financial instruments may be used to hedge 
the exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates, interest rates and 
commodity prices.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the 
establishment and oversight of the financial risk management 
framework of the consolidated entity. The Board has delegated 
to the Audit and Governance Committee the responsibility for 
developing and monitoring financial risk management policies 
across the Company. The Audit and Governance Committee’s 
primary role is to advise and assist the Board of Directors in 
assessing the management of key financial risks of the Company. 
The financial risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
annually by the Audit and Governance Committee to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the entity’s business activities.

Management of financial risks is carried out by a centralised 
treasury function which operates under Board approved policies. 
The Board approved Treasury and Risk Management Guidelines 
provide clear guidelines to management in respect of the 
management of financial risks of the Company which are designed 
to ensure that it adequately reflects the strategic risk management 
objectives of the Board.

The objective of AWE’s financial risk management strategy 
is to minimise the impact of volatility in financial markets on the 
financial performance, cash flows and shareholder returns of AWE. 
This includes the need to ensure that sufficient liquidity is available 
to fund its strategic business plans. Identification and analysis of 
relevant financial risks and its impact on the achievement of the 
organisation’s objectives forms the basis for determining how 
such risks should be managed. The forecast financial position of 
the consolidated entity is continually monitored and derivative 
financial instruments may be used within approved guidelines to 
hedge exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates and 
commodity prices.
(a) market risk

(i) Commodity price risk

The consolidated entity is exposed to commodity price risk 
through its revenue from the sale of hydrocarbons – gas, crude 
oil, condensate and LPG. Australian gas sales are not subject to 
commodity price risk as the product is sold in Australian Dollars 

under long-term contracts with CPI escalators in place. However, 
crude oil, condensate and LPG are priced against world benchmark 
commodity prices and the consolidated entity is therefore subject 
to commodity price risk for these products.

Subject to approval of the Board, the consolidated entity may 
enter into certain derivative instruments to manage its commodity 
price risk. As at the end of the financial year, the consolidated 
entity has no commodity price hedging or derivatives in place.
(ii) Interest rate risk

The Company has available an unsecured multi-currency 
corporate loan facility of up to A$300 million equivalent. 
The facility utilised at 30 June 2013 was $77.8 million (2012: 
$15.7 million) (refer note 20). When drawn, the Australian Dollar 
portion of the facility bears interest at the bank bill swap rate plus 
a margin, the United States Dollar portion of the facility bears 
interest at LIBOR plus a margin and the New Zealand portion 
of the facility bears interest at BKBM plus a margin. Borrowings 
under the facility are floating rate borrowings and when the facility 
is drawn the consolidated entity would be subject to interest rate 
risk from movements in the Australian dollar bank bill swap rate, 
United States dollar LIBOR and New Zealand BKBM. Similarly, the 
consolidated entity is subject to interest rate risk from movements 
in the Australian, United States and New Zealand cash deposits.

In accordance with Board approved policies, the consolidated 
entity may enter into certain derivative instruments to manage 
its interest rate risk. As at the end of the financial year, the 
consolidated entity has no interest rate hedging or derivatives 
in place.
(iii) Foreign exchange risk

The consolidated entity operates internationally and is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 
primarily with respect to United States and New Zealand 
dollars. The consolidated entity is subject to foreign exchange 
risk primarily through the sale of products denominated is US 
dollars, borrowings denominated in US and NZ dollars and foreign 
currency capital and operating expenditure.

The Company manages its foreign exchange exposures on 
a net basis and may use forward foreign exchange contracts or 
cross currency swaps to manage its exposures. As at the end of the 
financial year, the consolidated entity has no foreign exchange 
hedging or derivatives in place.

30. FinanCial riSk manaGement
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30. FinanCial riSk manaGement (Continued)

(a) market risk (continued) 

(iii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
  Spot rate at the 
  end of the 
 Average rate reporting period

 2013 2012 2013 2012

AUD/USD 1.0272 1.0317 0.9275 1.0191
AUD/NZD 1.2494 1.2834 1.1871 1.2771

The financial instruments denominated in United States dollars and New Zealand dollars are as follows:    
 2013 2012 
 A$'000 A$'000

united States dollars:

Financial assets
Cash 22,608 12,856
Trade and other receivables 38,627 31,209

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (20,076) (14,486)
Bank loans (32,345) –

new Zealand dollars:

Financial assets
Cash 198 1,335

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables – (91)
Bank loans (45,489) (15,660)

The effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the balances of cash held in foreign  
currencies shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is as follows:
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the balances of cash held in foreign currencies (312) 4,665
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30. FinanCial riSk manaGement (Continued)

(a) market risk (continued) 

Summarised sensitivity analysis

The following table summarises the sensitivity of the consolidated entity’s financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk, 
foreign exchange risk and other price risk.

Commodity and other price risk Interest rate risk Foreign exchange risk

–10% 10% –1% 1% –10% 10%

Carrying 
amount Profit

Other 
equity Profit

Other 
equity Profit

Other 
equity Profit

Other 
equity Profit

Other 
equity Profit

Other 
equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

30 june 2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

41,131 – – – – (287) – 287 – 1,601 – (1,601) –

Trade and other 
receivables

60,769 – – – – – – – – 2,704 – (2,704) –

Financial liabilities

Trade and other 
payables

48,712 – – – – – – – – (1,405) – 1,405 –

Bank loans 77,834 – – – – 545 – (545) – – – –
total increase/
(decrease) – – – – 258 – (258) – 2,900 – (2,900) –

30 june 2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

42,759 – – – – (299) – 299 – 1,014 – (1,014) –

Trade and other 
receivables

45,612 – – – – – – – – 2,185 – (2,185) –

Financial liabilities

Trade and other 
payables

60,762 – – – – – – – – (1,014) – 1,014 –

Bank loans 15,660 – – – – (110) – 110 – – – –
total increase/
(decrease) – – – – (189) – 189 – 2,185 – (2,185) –
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30. FinanCial riSk manaGement (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of sustaining a financial loss as a result of the default by a counterparty to make full and timely payments on transactions 
which have been executed, after allowing for set-offs which are legally enforceable. The credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity 
which have been recognised on the statement of financial position is the carrying amount, net of any provision for doubtful debts.

Credit risk arises from investments in cash and cash equivalents with bank, derivative financial instruments and credit exposure 
to customers and/or suppliers. Credit risk also arises from bank facilities which offer committed lines of credit, overdraft facilities, 
transaction banking services and financial guarantees, which may not be honoured when relied upon.

The Board approved Treasury Risk Management Guidelines outline how credit risk exposure will be managed by Treasury.
Receivables and cash and cash equivalents represent the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk:

 2013 2012 
 $'000 $'000

Cash 41,131 42,759
Trade and other receivables 65,749 45,612

The consolidated entity does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.  
There is no concentration of credit risk to a single party.
The ageing of trade receivables at the end of each reporting period was as follows:

Less than 1 month 48,010 31,594
1 month to 3 months – 35
Greater than 3 months – 59

 48,010 31,688

There are no trade receivables past due or impaired at the end of the reporting period (2012: Nil).

(c) liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Board approved Treasury Risk Management Guidelines provide an appropriate framework for the management of the 
consolidated entity’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.

The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Short and long-term cash flow projections are prepared periodically and submitted to the 
Board at each board meeting of the Company. In addition corporate debt facilities are required to be refinanced well in advance of its 
maturity date.
   Less than    More than
  Total 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years 5 years
Contractual cash flows Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

30 june 2013

Consolidated
Trade and other payables 18 48,712 48,712 – – –
Bank loans 19 77,834 – 77,834 – –
30 june 2012

Consolidated
Trade and other payables 18 60,762 60,762 – – –
Bank loans 19 15,660 – – 15,660 –

(d) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities of the 
consolidated entity and the Company approximate their fair value. 
The fair values are determined as follows:
• the fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard 

terms and conditions and traded on an active liquid market is 
determined with reference to the quoted price; and

• the fair value of other financial assets and liabilities is determined 
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on 
discounted cash flow analyses.

AWE Limited has adopted the amendment to AASB 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures which requires disclosure of fair 
value measurements by level of the following fair value 
measurement hierarchy:
• quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities (level 1);
• inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or 
indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2), and

• inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is 
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. 
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 
consolidated entity is the current bid price. These instruments are 
included in level 1. There were no available-for-sale financial assets 
during the year.
(e) Capital management
The consolidated entity maintains an ongoing review of its capital 
management strategy to ensure it maintains an appropriate 
capital structure.

The overriding objective of the Company’s capital 
management strategy is to increase shareholder returns whilst 
maintaining the flexibility to pursue growth initiatives and 
maintain a prudent capital structure.

The ability of the Company to make future dividends or 
conduct any form of capital return to shareholders is regularly 
reviewed by the Board. This is considered against the Company’s 
future funding requirements and ability to access capital. The 
Board will endeavour to optimise the return to AWE shareholders 
via capital management initiatives where it can do so.
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31. related partY diSCloSureS

(a) key management personnel disclosures

(i) Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel compensation included in note 21 is as follows:
 2013 2012 
 $'000 $'000

Salaries and wages 4,219 4,371
Share-based payments 921 857
Other associated personnel costs 348 56
 5,488 5,284

(ii) Individual directors and executives’ compensation disclosures

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director or executive has entered into a material contract with the consolidated entity 
since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving directors or executives’ interests existing at 
year-end.
(iii) Share rights

The movement during the financial year in the number of share rights in the Company held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key 
management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

 Opening Granted as  Lapsed Net change Closing 
Movement in share rights balance remuneration Exercised unexercised other balance

as at 30 june 2013

directors

B.F.W. Clement1 1,836,275 331,474 – (690,184) – 1,477,565
executives

D. Washer 618,328 153,973 (33,254) (241,068) – 497,979
A. Saridas2 162,850 119,522 – – – 282,372
N.F. Kelly 475,656 116,813 (25,903) (184,574) – 381,992
D.R.N. Gaudoin3 557,179 140,886 (29,077) (207,196) – 461,792
as at 30 june 2012

directors

B.F.W. Clement1 920,245 916,030 – – – 1,836,275
executives

D. Washer 321,424 296,904 – – – 618,328
A. Saridas2 – 162,850 – – – 162,850
N.F. Kelly 246,099 229,557 – – – 475,656
D.R.N. Gaudoin3 276,262 280,917 – – – 557,179
I.D. Palmer4 246,099 – – – (246,099) –
B.W. Wray5 256,798 239,389 – – (496,187) –
1 –  B.F.W. Clement was appointed as Managing Director on 1 February 2011. These share rights were approved by shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting of the Company.
2 –  A. Saridas commenced employment as Chief Financial Officer on 31 October 2011.
3 –  D.R.N. Gaudoin was General Manager, Exploration and Geoscience for the AWE Group from 7 February 2011. He was appointed Vice President, Exploration and Exploitation for 

Indonesia on 12 October 2012 and will cease employment on 1 November 2013.
4 –  Disclosure of transactions and balances related to I.D. Palmer are no longer required.
5 –  B. W. Wray ceased employment on 31 January 2012.
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31. related partY diSCloSureS (Continued)

(a) key management personnel disclosures (continued) 

(iv) Options over equity instruments (legacy plan)

The movement during the financial year in the number of options in the Company held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key 
management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

Movement in options Opening  Lapsed Net change Closing 
over equity instruments balance Exercised unexercised other balance

as at 30 june 2013

directors

B.F.W. Clement1 – – – – –
executives

D. Washer 250,000 – (150,000) – 100,000
N.F. Kelly 250,000 – (150,000) – 100,000
D.R.N. Gaudoin2 200,000 –  – 200,000
as at 30 june 2012

directors

B.F.W. Clement1 – – – – –
executives

D. Washer 300,000 – (50,000) – 250,000
N.F. Kelly 380,000 – (130,000) – 250,000
D.R.N. Gaudoin2 200,000 – – – 200,000
I.D. Palmer3 300,000 – – (300,000) –
B.W. Wray4 400,000 – – (400,000) –

  

 

1 –  B.F.W. Clement was appointed as Managing Director on 1 February 2011.
2 –  D.R. N. Gaudoin was General Manager, Exploration and Geoscience for the AWE Group from 7 February 2011. He was appointed Vice President, Exploration and Exploitation 

for Indonesia on 12 October 2012 and will cease employment on 1 November 2013.
3 –  Disclosure of transactions and balances related to I.D. Palmer are no longer required.
4 –  B. W. Wray ceased employment on 31 January 2012.
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31. related partY diSCloSureS (Continued)

(a) key management personnel disclosures (continued) 

(v) Movements in shares

The movement during the financial year in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each 
key management person, including their related parties, is as follows:
    Received on
 Opening Granted as exercise  Net change Closing
Movements in shares balance remuneration of rights other balance

as at 30 june 2013

directors

B.J. Phillips 2,900,914 – – – 2,900,914
B.F.W. Clement1 30,000 – – – 30,000
D.I. McEvoy 30,000 – – – 30,000
A.J. Hogendijk 10,000 – – – 10,000
K.G. Williams 20,000 – – – 20,000
V. Braach-Maksvytis – – – – –
R.J. Betros2 – – – 20,000 20,000
N.N. Jukes2 – – – – –
executives

D. Washer 10,000  33,254  43,254
A. Saridas3 – – – – –
N.P. Tupper4 – – – – –
M. Drew5 – – – – –
N.F. Kelly 125,476  25,903  151,379
D.R.N. Gaudoin6 – – 29,077 – 29,077
as at 30 june 2012

directors

B.J. Phillips 2,900,914 – – – 2,900,914
B.F.W. Clement1 – – – 30,000 30,000
D.I. McEvoy 30,000 – – – 30,000
A.J. Hogendijk 10,000 – – – 10,000
K. Williams – – – 20,000 20,000
V. Braach-Maksvytis – – – – –
N.N. Jukes2 – – – – –
executives

D. Washer 10,000 – – – 10,000
A. Saridas3 – – – – –
N.F. Kelly 125,476 – – – 125,476
D.R.N. Gaudoin6 – – – – –
B.W. Wray7 25,000 – – (25,000) –
L.J. Brooks8 1,301,910 – – (1,301,910) –

Changes in shareholdings classified as “Net change other” in the table above do not necessarily reflect purchases or disposals of shares but 
may include movements relating to changes in key management personnel during the period.

No shares were granted to key management personnel during the financial year as remuneration.
The disclosures above may not be consistent with the disclosure in the Directors’ Report as the basis of calculation differs due to the 

differing requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the Accounting Standards.
(vi) Key management personnel transactions with the Company or its controlled entities

No loans have been made to key management personnel. The Company has entered into Indemnity Deeds to indemnify executives of the 
Company against certain liabilities incurred in the course of performing their duties.

1 –  B.F.W Clement was appointed a director of the Company on 1 February 2011.
2 –  N.N. Jukes resigned as a director and Raymond Betros was appointed a director on 22 November 2012.
3 –  A. Saridas commenced employment as Chief Financial Officer on 31 October 2011.
4 –  N.P. Tupper commenced employment as General Manager, Exploration and Geoscience on 20 May 2013.
5 –  M. Drew commenced employment as Group General Counsel/General Manager Commercial on 1 may 2013.
6 –  D.R.N. Gaudoin was appointed General Manager, Exploration and Geoscience for the AWE Group from 7 February 2011. He was appointed Vice President, Exploration and 

Exploitation for Indonesia on 12 October 2012 and will cease employment on 1 November 2013.
7 –  B.W. Wray ceased employment on 31 January 2012.
8 –  L.J. Brooks was General Manager, Exploration to 6 February 2011 and ceased to be a key management person from that date but continued to be employed by the AWE group for 

the full year.



98 awe limited annual report 2013
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for the year ended 30 june 2013

31. related partY diSCloSureS (Continued)

(b) non-key management personnel disclosures

The consolidated entity has a related party relationship with its controlled entities (note 29), joint ventures (note 25) and with its key 
management personnel. The Company and its controlled entities engage in a variety of related party transactions in the ordinary course of 
business. These transactions are generally conducted on normal terms and conditions.

32. parent entitY diSCloSureS

As at, and throughout the year ended 30 June 2013 the parent company of the consolidated entity was AWE Limited.
 The Company

  2013 2012 
 Note $'000 $'000

result of the parent entity

Profit/(Loss) for the period (3,082) (4,475)
Other comprehensive income – –
Total comprehensive income for the period (3,082) (4,475)

Financial position of the parent entity at year end

Current assets 350,187 357,288
Total assets 882,689 883,472

Current liabilities 1,124 1,311
Total liabilities 1,475 1,311
net assets 881,214 882,161

total equity of the parent entity

Share capital 24 772,172 772,172
Reserves 13,304 11,167
Retained earnings 95,738 98,822
Total equity 881,214 882,161

parent entity contingencies and commitments

The contingent liabilities of the parent entity as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 27. The directors are of the 
opinion that provisions are not required in respect of these matters, as it is not probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be 
required or the amount is not capable of reliable measurement.

The parent entity did not have any capital or expenditure commitments as at end of the reporting period.
parent entity guarantees in respect of debts of its subsidiaries

The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that the Company guarantees debts in respect of its 
subsidiaries. Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the deed, are disclosed in note 33.
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noteS to tHe ConSolidated FinanCial StatementS  
for the year ended 30 june 2013

  Closed group

 2013 2012 
33. deed oF CroSS Guarantee $'000 $'000

Summarised statement of financial position

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 31,789 30,812
Trade and other receivables 144,821 135,732
Inventory 3,500 5,517
total current assets 180,110 172,061

non-current assets

Investments 47,386 47,386
Exploration and evaluation assets 87,557 73,911
Oil and gas assets 589,323 561,576
Other property, plant and equipment 1,573 1,836
Intangible assets 52 133
Deferred tax assets 54,741 57,928
total non-current assets 780,632 742,770
total assets 960,742 914,831

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 26,410 34,301
Employee benefits 839 996
Provisions 18,286 8,675
Taxation payable 11,499 7,981
total current liabilities 57,034 51,953

non-current liabilities

Employee benefits 1,045 536
Provisions 104,326 85,796
total non-current liabilities 105,371 86,332
total liabilities 162,405 138,285

net assets 798,337 776,546

equity

Issued capital 772,172 772,172
Reserves 13,177 10,631
Retained earnings 12,988 (6,257)
total equity 798,337 776,546

Summarised consolidated income statement

Profit/(loss) before tax 39,365 (79,456)
Income tax (expense)/benefit (20,120) 11,851
Net profit/(loss) after tax for the year 19,245 (67,605)
Retained earnings at the beginning of the year (6,257) 87,442
Dividends provided for or paid – (26,094)
Retained earnings at the end of the year 12,988 (6,257)

Presentation of the prior year closed group has been restated for comparability purposes.
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On 22 August 2013, the Company announced that it had signed 
a sale and purchase agreement to sell a 50% interest in the 
Northwest Natuna PSC, which includes the Ande Ande Lumut oil 
project, to a subsidiary of Santos Limited for a total consideration 
of USD188 million (AUD209 million at the date of the 
announcement). The consideration comprises USD100 million in 
cash payable on completion of the sale and a USD88 million capital 
expenditure carry. As a condition of the sale, AWE will also transfer 
operatorship of the Northwest Natuna PSC to Santos effective on 
completion. The sale is subject to Indonesian regulatory approval 
of the transfer of a 50% interest in the PSC and operatorship from 
AWE to Santos. The Company’s interest in the PSC is disclosed 
within oil and gas assets as at 30 June 2013 (refer to Note 15). The 
Company acquired 100% interest in the Northwest Natuna PSC as 
part of its acquisition of two companies that held 100% interest in 
the Northwest Natuna PSC and Anambas PSC for USD39 million. 
AWE also assumed and refinanced approximately USD100 million 
in loans owed by the companies acquired.

The Company previously acquired its 100% interest in the 
Northwest Natuna PSC as part of the acquisition of two 
companies that held 100% interest in the Northwest Natuna 
PSC and Anambas PSC for USD39 million and also assumed and 
refinanced approximately USD100 million in loans owed by the 
companies acquired.

In the opinion of the directors, no other matter or 
circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2013 that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect:
(a) the consolidated entity’s operations in future financial 

years, or
(b) the results of those operations in future financial years, or
(c) the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future 

financial years.

34. eventS SuBSeQuent to BalanCe date
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direCtorS’ deClaration

In the opinion of the directors of AWE Limited:
(a) the financial statements and accompanying notes, and the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report, set out on pages 58 to 100 

and pages 38 to 48 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the 

financial year ended on that date; and
 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001; and
(b) the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(a); and
(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and
(d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the group entities identified in Note 33 will be able to meet any 

obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company 
and those group entities pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418.

The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Managing Director and 
Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Dated at Sydney this twenty seventh day of August 2013.

B.j. pHillipS B.F.w. Clement

Chairman Managing Director
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independent auditor’S report to tHe memBerS oF awe limited  

report on tHe FinanCial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of AWE 
Limited, which comprises the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2012, the consolidated income statement, 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 
and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity 
comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s 
end or from time to time during the financial year.
directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal controls as the directors determine are 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting 
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that 
the financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.
auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

independence

In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We have given to 
the directors of the Company a written Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration, a copy of which is included in the directors’ report.
opinion

In our opinion:
• the financial report of AWE Limited is in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including:
–  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial 

position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and

–  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

–  the financial report also complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1(a).

report on tHe remuneration report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the 
directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2012. The directors of 
the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation 
of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A 
of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of AWE Limited for 
the year ended 30 June 2012, complies with section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

ernst & Young

trent van veen

Partner

Sydney 27 August 2012
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StoCk exCHanGe and SHareHolder inFormation  
as at 16 september 2013

iSSued Capital

The Company had 522,116,985 fully paid ordinary shares on issue. In addition, the Company had on issue 512,500 Employee 
Share Options.

votinG riGHtS

Article 14 of the Company’s Constitution details the voting rights of members. This Article provides that, on a show of hands, every 
member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and, upon a poll, shall have one vote for each share held. There are no voting 
rights attached to the options.

SHare riGHtS

The Company had on issue 7,300,595 share rights under the Long Term Performance Benefit Plan.

diStriBution oF eQuitY SeCuritY HolderS

 NUMBER OF  NUMBER OF
 ORDINARY  EMPLOYEE
 SHAREHOLDERS OPTION HOLDERS

1 – 1,000 5,305 -
1,001 – 5,000 9,114 -
5,001 – 10,000 3,507 -
10,001 – 100,000  3,132 11
100,001 – over 142 1
 21,200 12

There were 1,941 shareholders with less than a marketable parcel of 385 shares.

on-market BuY-BaCk

There is no current on-market buy-back.

otHer inFormation

AWE Limited, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a publicly listed company limited by shares.

SuBStantial SHareHolderS

The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates are set out below:

SHAREHOLDER  NUMBER

IOOF Holdings Limited  36,028,721
DFA Group  31,415,596
AMP Limited  29,426,493
Westpac Banking Corporation (BTIM)  26,175,760

twentY larGeSt Quoted eQuitY SeCuritY HolderS

The twenty largest shareholders were:

  PERCENTAGE OF 
SHAREHOLDER NUMBER HELD ISSUED CAPITAL

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 82,333,570 15.77
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 79,188,179 15.17
National Nominees Limited 74,016,591 14.18
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 37,189,537 7.12
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 26,712,144 5.12
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd 21,685,462 4.15
AMP Life Limited  11,828,594 2.27
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  5,940,674 1.14
Key Resource Analysts Ltd  2,812,042 0.54
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd  2,495,059 0.48
CS Fourth Nominees Pty Ltd 2,375,653 0.46
Forsyth Barr Custodians Ltd  2,217,932 0.42
QIC Limited 1,997,457 0.38
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 1,907,791 0.37
Share Direct Nominees Pty Ltd 1,778,594 0.34
UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 1,704,270 0.33
Brispot Nominees Pty Ltd 1,515,398 0.29
Mirrabooka Investments Limited 1,300,000 0.25
Bond Street Custodians Ltd 1,134,207 0.22
Navigator Australia Ltd  987,079 0.19
Total 361,120,233 69.16
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GloSSarY

aBBreviationS

$  Australian Dollars
2p  proved and probable
3d  three-dimensional
ami  Area of Mutual Interest
apr means the New Zealand Accounting Profits 

Royalty
aSiC Australian Securities and Investments 

Commission
aSx Australian Securities Exchange
bbl  barrel
BCF billion cubic feet
Boe  barrels of oil equivalent
bopd barrels of oil per day
Cdp Carbon Disclosure Project
Cpi Consumer Price Index
cps cents per share
eBit earnings before interest and tax
eBitdax earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 

amortisation and exploration expenses
Feed Front End Engineering and Design
Fid  Final Investment Decision
FpSo  Floating Production Storage and Offloading 

Vessel
GSt Goods and Services Tax
HSe Health, Safety and Environment
km  kilometre
kpi  Key Performance Indicator
k tonnes thousand tonnes
lpG liquefied petroleum gas
lti lost time injury
lnG Liquefied Natural Gas
ltiFr lost time injury frequency rate
mle mid life enhancement
million bbls million barrels
mmBoe  million barrels of oil equivalent
mmScf/d million standard cubic feet per day
mScf/d thousand standard cubic feet per day
nGerS National Greenhouse &  

Energy Reporting System
npat Net Profit After Tax
oHS Occupational Health & Safety
pa per annum
peSa Petroleum Exploration Society of Australia
pj petajoule
pod Plan of Development
pSC  Production Sharing Contract
probable reserves  means reserves additional to proved reserves 

which can be estimated with a degree of 
certainty (greater than 50% probability) 
sufficient to indicate they are more likely to be 
recovered than not

proved reserves means reserves which can be estimated with 
reasonable certainty (greater than 90% 
probability) to be recoverable under current 
economic conditions

prrt means the petroleum resource rent tax 
imposed with respect to petroleum products 
pursuant to the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax 
Act 1987 (Cth) and the Petroleum Resource 
Rent Tax Assessment Act 1987 (Cth)

reserves means the volume of economically recoverable 
oil or gas contained in a geological formation 
form a given date forward

reservoir means a rock that is both porous and permeable
scf/d standard cubic feet per day
Spe  Society of Petroleum Engineers
spud date date when drilling begins
sq km  square kilometres
tCF trillion cubic feet
tj terajoule
tSr total shareholder returns
triFr total recordable incident frequency rate
uS$ US Dollars
wti West Texas Intermediate

ConverSion taBle

Volume

1 cubic metre = 1 kilolitre = 35.3 cubic feet = 6.29 barrels
1 megalitre = 1,000 cubic metres
Energy Value

1,000 standard cubic feet of sales gas yields about
1.1 gigajoules of heat
1 petajoule (PJ) = 1,000,000 gigajoules (GJ)
1 gigajoule = 947,817 British Thermal Units (BTU)
Barrel of Oil Equivalents (BOE)

Sales Gas: 6PJ = 1 BOE
lpG: 1 tonne = 11.6 BOE 
Condensate: 1 barrel = 1 BOE
oil: 1 barrel = 1 BOE
Decimal Number Prefixes 

kilo = thousand = 103 
mega = million = 106

giga = 1,000 million = 109

tera = million million = 1012

peta = 1,000 million million = 1015
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produCtion and exploration permitS 
as at 30 june 2013

Geographical Area Production

join venture interest

Australia

Offshore Perth Basin WA-31-L 57.50%

Onshore Perth Basin L1/L2 Dongara & Yardarino Fields 100%
L1/L2 Hovea & Eremia 50%
L4 100%
L5 100%
L7 100%
L11 33%
L14 44.14%

Bass Basin T/L1 46.25%
Otway Basin VIC/L24 25%

VIC/L30 25%
New Zealand

Taranaki Basin1 PMP 38158 42.5%
USA

Karnes County, Texas Sugarloaf AMI 2 10%

Geographical Area Exploration

join venture interest

Australia

Onshore Perth Basin EP320 33%
EP413 44.25%
EP455 81.50%

Bass Basin T/18P 44.75%
Otway Basin VIC/RL11 25%

VIC/RL12 25%
VIC/P44 25%

Indonesia

Java Sea Bulu PSC 42.50%
East Muriah PSC 50%
North Madura PSC 50%
Terumbu PSC 100%
Titan PSC 40%

Natuna Sea Northwest Natuna PSC 100%
Anambas PSC 100%

Yemen

Shabwa Basin Block 7 19.25%
1 –  Subject to a Net Cash Interest payable to the previous owners of a subsidiary of the company (AWE Taranaki Limited, previously New Zealand Overseas Petroleum Limited), 

if returns from the Tui Area oil project in PMP 38158 exceed certain benchmark levels.  
2 –  The Sugarloaf AMI is subject to landowner royalties. These royalties are approximately 25%.
3 –  The company is also entitled to a Net Profits Royalty at rates varying from 7.5% to 8.3% from the Tintaburra field in ATP 299P. This royalty will be received when gross revenues 

from the permit exceed the sum of total expenditures from the permit.



106 awe limited annual report 2013

Year to June (All figures in $'000's)    2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

SummarY proFit and loSS            

Revenue   301,774 299,727 306,071 355,158 590,262
Amortisation   (105,020) (80,538) (102,556) (96,219) 128,578
Results from operating activities   60,851 (58,854) (147,020) (13,379) 187,039
Net finance (cost)/benefit   (9,420) (4,282) (13,515) (10,513) 26,026
Profit/(loss) before tax   51,431 (63,136) (160,535) (23,892) 213,065
Tax (expense)/benefit   (31,394) (3,360) 42,980 (5,038) (124,487)
Profit/(loss) for the year   20,037 (66,496) (117,555) (28,930) 88,578

SummarY BalanCe SHeet             

Total current assets   107,127 92,790 180,624 215,853 417,331
Total non-current assets   1,072,433 969,218 934,774 1,101,233 932,522
Total assets   1,179,560 1,062,008 1,115,398 1,317,086 1,349,853

Total current liabilities   91,175 88,575 64,550 93,921 136,540
Total non-current liabilities   199,414 118,411 99,922 125,346 115,484
Total liabilities   290,589 206,986 164,472 219,267 252,024
Total shareholders equity   888,971 855,022 950,926 1,097,819 1,097,829

SummarY CaSHFlowS             

Net cash provided by operating activities   118,190 123,868 139,853 108,068 392,077
Net cash provided by investing activities   (175,780) (187,555) (157,746) (307,465) (241,312)
Net cash provided by financing activities   56,274 (15,387) 9,645 1,827 (154,961)
Cash at end of financial year   41,131 42,759 117,168 135,322 356,066

Note: Change in accounting for exploration expenditure has not been adjusted prior to 2010.

Five Year FinanCial SummarY
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